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Dangerous Parallel

CHAPTER 1

The dock was deserted. Everything was quiet, except for the
soft clanking of sailboat shrouds in the marina across the
harbor.

It was moonless and half past eleven when | climbed over
the stern oReel Timel clambered up on the flying bridge and
fumbled at the controls until | found the generator switch. With
the generator rumbling, | hit the lights. The quartz lamps above
the 1ying bridge blasted two white holes in the night.

Squinting against the blinding dazzle of all that white
fiberglass, | swung myself down onto the rear deck.

| stood there as the thirfive footer sloshed a bit against
her lines. The tide was out. Shatkeminded myseff | 6 ve got
to rig for shark. | pawed through the tackle drawers searching
for the heaviest wire leaders. My jaw stretched around a giant

yawndt he t wo hours 1 06d sl ept sinc
werendt enough.
Time for a Pepsi. Earle r | 6d chucked the

drinks onboard. | dug around in it, popped a can top and
guzzled the fizzy. My body seemed almost alive.

I |l aid | eaders out on the dec
to shut Zack and me downiei f he
Maddick isReel Tmé s absent owner. He pa

maintaining the craft unless it is to wheedle someone into
fixing a broken part on it without getting paid. He and Zack are
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Dangerous Parallel

on speaking terms, barely. And, speaking of the captain
who knows 1 equal, where the hell is Zack?
Reel Timas a Bertram Sport Fishing yacht. One of those
you charter for a chance at hooking a big billfish, or if you
crave danger, shark. | started working it for Zack Montrose
three years ago, albndeangy,balts di vo
and pepper hair, big ego. He and | hit it off right from the start,
even though hedés a couple years
didnét hurt that we shared a ge
The Pepsi tasted good. | swatted a big mosquitmpn
arm and climbed back onto the dock. After loading the fish
boxes, | hauled four bags of ice and our frozen baitfish to the
boat. | began tying leaders to the line on each of the fish rods.
Exciting stuff, this life as a deck hand.
Headlights swung thrah the parking lot darkness. Then
footsteps hit the wood of the dock. It was Zack.
AGoddamned mo sbgoumbtionsg atroen idgihvte,

said. ADid you tell the charter
climbed up to the flying bridge.
Al told him ¢éon be thweleveatoqua

Altds past thashowWopeZaeldsf Inioj
instrument switches and the green glow of video screens lit up
his face. AHe can kiss his depo
He started first one, then the second motor. Exhausttfiem
two diesels gurgled into the water at the stern. The fumes made
my eyes burn.

Headlights flashed again from the parking lot. Two figures
loomed out of the blackness. | offered an arm as they crossed
from the dock into the boat, but neither accepted.
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il am Vincent Pragg and this i
man sai d. I guessed he forgot h
when arranging the charter.

Shielding his squint from the bright lights, Vincent cupped
a hand over his sweaty forehead. His dark eyesd&mm me
to Zack and back. In his other hand he clutched a blue canvas
bag. Although it was a warm night, he wore an untucked-long
sl eeved shirt that didndét- conce
packs past the fill mark.

I said AHiI 0 -borednoAkmockoui bforede. a b
She nodded silently, her lips curving into a slight smile. She
wore baggy slacks rolled up at the ankles and a tan pullover
top. She stood at the stern with one hand on the coaming as
Vincent approached the cabin. Zack leaned divam the
bridge and shook Vincd&eetTing hand
folks, o0 he said. Al 6m Zack, you
it looks |li ke smooth water for

Both charterers shook their heads. | threw all the lines.
Vincentand Christine arranged themselves on the deck seats.

Zack putReel Timen gear. We pulled from the dock and
headed slowly through the harbor. | asked the two charterers if
theydod fished for shark before.

ANo, 0 Vincent said.

Pointing at the blue canvasgpa at Vi ncent 6s f e
he wanted me to put his sandwiches or whatever on ice in our
cooler.

ANo, 0 he said, smiling slight
right. Theydébre i mperishable. o T
pronunciation thatbudtdlnobutbtdd?d
the language.
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AWhen we get underway, spray
wet back here. I f you | i ke, I 61
bent to grab the bag, but he qu
no, 0 he said without a smile. 0

We rounded the jetty #iie harbor entrance. Zack gave the
motors more throttle. A mound of foam rose from behind the
stern, looking dazzling white against a black ocean. We headed
for Hawk Channel. As the boat danced a bit and spray flew up,
Christine frowned. She and Vincentohanged nervous
gl ances. The noise from the eng
wake made conversation on the open deck difficult. | entered
the cabin and motioned for Vincent to follow. He stepped
inside, clutching the blue bag.
AYes?0 he s aialrailwihhéstper argl. t h e

Il slid the cabin door cl osed.
fishing, I 61 1 give you some hin
fifteen miles, and o

AYes, yes. I already know, 0 h
forth as t he Iasaltexplioed preveusly # Thi
to me by Mr. Maddick when | pai

AYou paid Maddick?0 That didn
u pay for?0o

AThe bal ance. For the charter
Oh-oh, | thought. Zack will not be pleased with a customer
paying Arnie irstead of him. | squashed my empty Pepsi can,

pl opped onto the settee and tri
news. Zack owed Arnie a bunch of moéelyis cut from

charters and some other deals. But Zack always seemed to be

able to nickel and dime his way outpdying Arnie each time.

Now it looked like Arnie had found a way to bank some of
Zackodos back nickel s.

y O
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Usually, charterers want to know how we plan to fish,
what weight | ine weol|l use, who
gaffing (me), and so on. Butthesetdo d ndét want to
the fishing.

Weather radio was blaring from the bridge. | leaned back
and shut my eyes. | wondered ab
bl ue bag. Also, is there such a
Together with the rumble and roar of thetors and the churn
of the sea, the sounds blended into a potpourri of noise that
quickly lulled me to sleep.

| awoke with a start. | was alone in the cabin and we were
slowing. I slid the cabin door partly open and slipped onto the
deck. Vincent and Chstine were talking near the stern.

AWhat 6s up?06 | shouted to Zac

ATrying to sort out these bl
but not averting his eyes from the radar screen. | immediately
knew he was trying to locate a trawdehe wanted one
dragging netshat we could fish behind. As | turned to inform
the Praggs, a glint of steel made me stop.

Vincent was standing with a pistol in his right hand. It was
pointed at my midsection.

AFoll ow my instructions and n
His voice was now loucHe seemed to enjoy his sudden
command of everything. With his free hand he pulled a slip of
paper from his trousers pocket. He handed it to me. Scrawled
in pencil was the command TURN OFF RADIOS followed by
GO TO and two sets ofo dHiegigtest uii
toward Zack with the pistol. i B
your radios. o

| clambered up to the flybridge, trying to get my sleepy
brain to acknowledge that we were being hijacked. Zack was
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staring at the radar screen. Without speakingnided the note
to him.
AWhat the hell i's this?0 he s
| grasped his upper arm and swung him a quarter turn
around. He saw Vincent and the gunow trained on the two
of us. He frowned at me, then stared at the slip of paper.
ADamn, 0 he s aairdat Vinceat, whd shaokteed a

pistol with increasing intensit
Vincent. ANo problem. 0 He | ooke
up and turned off the radios. @
ANo radios Radi papall upf and Ha
will take you wherever you want

Good, | thought. We dondt wan

reached for the throttle levers, | sensed the thought racing
through the skipperds mind: Giv
boat will leap forward and dump Vincent right over the

transom into the water behind the stern.

With his hand on the two throttle levers, Zack pushed them
forward, but slowly. The engines barked. The boat moved to
top-water, then smoothly forward.

Al s up padstemeout df the side of his mouth in a
voice he knew Vincent coul dnot
hijacking us for some damned dr
south, entered the numbers from the paper into the keypad of
the electronics box, and activdtthe autopilot. Then he
pressed ASTARTO and took his ha

We were on our way to a featureless patch of ocean along
latitude twentyfour separating the United Stafesm the
Republic of Cubd the watery equivalent of rma n-lansl.
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CHAPTER 2

The noise from the engine and wake was loud. Vincent
woul dnét overhear, so without t
AWhereds your gun?0 Zack kept a
hiddenfrom the prying eyes of the Coast Guard.

APort engine hatch. Behind th

Aaloll tell him youdre worried
hatch, grab the gun and fill th
Zack reached for theowange sw
never were strong on humor, Bil
switch to five miles. fAHeds hol
you had a chance to raise the g
ANi ce thought, though, about
come, back there,youddndét jam on full thr

bum over the stern?0o
Before Zach could answer, there was movement below.

Vincent approached, his voice h
what 6s doing?o
Zack turned and yell ed. Al tos
As he turnd back to the dash, he glared at me, said in a low
voice, AWhodés running this boat
Oho h . | 6d stomped on a nerve.

ADid you forget? About the | a
this.o
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I figured she waklyhavwe gooeover t , a
the stern with Vincent. Quietly
can raise somebody by cell phon

ANot good, receptionds weak h
eyeballing us. ..o

AYeaMo but

AYou! 0 Vincent holl er ed, wayvi
AShut Kuepep to business! o

AYeah, okay, 06 | said, nodding

Zack said, AWhatdéd I tell you

I noticed the gl i &tefeections n Vi nc
from the quartz lights above. moack | sai d, fAThe
right in his eyes. You could switch them off @&nd

iHel | 6s bell s! o6 Zack put the t

blip near the top of the radar scréea move meant to fend off
Vincent 6s suspi-cockedhBilly. Adi Dondt go

nor mal . I 611 figure a way out. o

on the weatheardi o. AWe dondét want him

might accidentally kill me. Then where wouldub e ? 0
AMourning, of course. o

His cheek lifted slightly in a weak smile.
A loud gunshot intruded. We whirled around.
Vincent 6s gun wasSmokawasieeld hi gh

from the barrel. AYou! o he yell
free hand. nRnGet the mikes. Al
Bring cell phones, alsol! o
ASure, okay, o | vyelled.
Zack yanked mike cords from the radios. While talking
with minimal lipmov e ment Zack said, ALis

any dope he gets from a boat out here. He has to get it to shore.
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He needs us to get him to his ¢
and his cell to me. fAWedre okay
That was Zampktdécmime.tdinhbed at t e
down, handed the mikes and our cells to a-$aced Vincent.
He quickly tossed them all overboard.

For the remainder of the long ride to the rendezvous,
Vincent and Christine sat to starboard, opposite me across the
reardeck. Micent 6s pi stol hand rested
pointed more or less at me. His focus roved in a nervous
pattern: from me to Zack, forward, then back again to me. He
paid no attention to his wife. Sea spray beaded up on his
forehead, and he sometimemed it, but his grim scowl never
changed. | noted his fat lower lip quivered from time to time.
Christine didndot turn to me or
talking with Vincent. Her gaze was fixed forward, on where the
boat was heading.

After a short timel stood up and reached for one of the

fishing rods.

ASit down. You not hear me, I

I sat down, spread my hands o
rods inside, out of the spray.o
worth a | ot of money. .. o0

i No . Od fhe bagsaunder his eyes wobbled as he
shook his head. ASit, o0 he comma

Zack reduced throttles to idle, and the boat slowed and
settled. | figured we were nearing the rendezvous. | searched
the darkness ahead for a vessel, but saw nothing.

Zackturnel and spoke |l oudly to Vin
numbers. Thereds a vessel ahead
want to do?o0
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Vincent stood up with the side of the gun raised to his
forehead to shield his eyes from the quartz lights. He squinted
up at Zasd&. NhGoamdbob see. o

Zack increased throttles. Exhausts gurgled in the wake.
Vincent cocked his head to afford a better view forward. | saw
an opportunity to jump him, but he still had his finger on the
gunds trigger.

We moved forward with minimal wake.

Thegreen glow of a running light appeared off our
starboard bow. Vincent saw it.

The dim outline of a trawler loomed out of the night.

Zack turned toward it. Its slowunning diesel throbbed
across the narrowing gap. Bilge wapeured from a rust
rimmed hole in its hull and splashed to the sea below. Lack of a
wake proved the trawler was not moving.

We closed and Zack put the motors in reverse. Our
exhausts bubbled louder. We slowed severely within a yard or
so of the trawler. N one was visible onboard. Nets hung in
di sarray from the trawlerés fra
lights to show, but none were visible. | searched for movement
in the pilot house, but saw nothing.

Zack maneuvered our starboard side toward the tradvler.
deck hand with a red bandana tied over top of his head
appeared from behind a winch on the aft deck.

Vincent stood about a yard ahead of the stern, feet spread
to counter the rocking of the b
gun at me, AGet rope to him.o

| grabbed a dock line, stepped to the deck on the side of
the cabin and tossed it. The red bandana man caught it. |
cinched it to a cleat. He hauled it hand over hand, inching our
starboard side closer.
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| turned toward Vincent. He threw his gun into theebl
bag, and dropped it. He placed his thumbs to the sides of his
chin and shouted something in Spanish. Christine joined him at
the starboard side of our boat.
Zack disengaged the motoReel Timehumped against
the trawlerodos starboard side.
Chr i srght are &nd shoulder made a powerful arc,
her wrist disappearing into Vin
blowing dolphin, and spun toward her. He doubled up and
collapsed in a heap, both arms embracing his middle.
| dropped the rope and jumpedReelTime&d s dec k. As
steadied my feet, | saw a bearded craember in a gray
jumpsuit appear at the-4vatawl er 0
me. | froze and raised my arms in surrender.
Christine climbed with surprising agility dReel Timé s
hullrimandgraspd t he trawlerds gunnel
bandana leaned, grabbed her and helped her crawl over onto

the trawlerés deck. The guy wit
at me.

By now | ights were on in the
in Spanishsoundedungg . The dock | ine 16d

in the water. The bearded guy with the gun lifted its barrel and
turned away from us.

Zack quickly sized up the scene. As the guy with the AK
47 headed for the trawlerds cab
bandana retreatedack flipped the quartz lights off, threw the
motors in gear, and bent down to make himself less of a target.
We moved forward, skimming al on
As we passed its stern, | saw Christine, silhouetted against the
transom. She seem&albe staring at us calmly as we receded
into the night.
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Once clear of the trawler, Zack jammed the throttles and
Reel Timdurched to top water. The abrupt movement pitched
me back onto my haunches.
AiGet his gun! o Zack shouted.
| scrambled to gain miget and launched toward Vincent
at the stern. Then | remembered
the blue bag, dummy!
| dove cross deck, searching and feeling for the Ragl
Timechurned at maximum speed, spray flying. Lack of light
made it difficult tosee anything. Luckily | hit the bag, reached
inside and grasped the cold steel. With one knee still on the
deck | pointed the gun toward Vincent. At the same time |

realized the gundés safety might
We were a good distance fromthe awl er now. AG
light, o | shouted. ATurn on the
Zack flipped the switch. The quartz lights came on. With
my eyes adjusted, |l saw that Vi
moving.
| searched the gun. Al think
wherethhel | 6s t he safety?o

Zack pulled back the throttles and the boat settled to a
slow cruise. He turned, glanced at Vincent, and slid down the
ladder. He snatched the pistol from me and flipped the safety
off.

AHere, 0 he said, handdiomnd. t he
AKeep me covered. o

Hands ready to grapple, he approached Vincent. He
nudged Vincentoés shoulder with

He | eaned down to | ook cl osel
dodot
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| came up behind. AThat Chri s
punch. o

With one hand Zack waved me b
As he spoke, a thin line of bright red blood ran out along the
deck from under Vincentods for m.

Zack gave me a worried glance, and | shrugged. He
unf ol ded one of Vincentds ar ms.
arm, a black plastic handle in the middle of a bloody patch in
the center of Vincentés shirt w

like ad O

AKni fe, o | sai d.

Zack placed the tip of his in
ear. Vincent didndt react.

| sai &, i vles? oh e

Al dondét feel anything. Could

Zack turned to me and gl anced
you doing, holding the gun on h
|l | owered the barrel. fHere, oo

Zack took the pistol, and turned the safety on. He went to
the starboard side to check the
dead, 0 he said as he tossed the

Reflexively, | started coiling the dock line. | dropped it
and plopped onto a deck chair. My brain ached.

Zack climbed onto the flyinghltige . A Shi t! 0 he
mi kes! No phones! We candét call
voice trailed off.

The stream of blood lengthened. | stood, climbed onto the
flying bridge and fit my bottom
body. o
Thanks fo@or the news.

A
ANobodyds going to believe th
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il édm nlbotel s eve it . o
Zack rested his hands on the wheel. We sat silent for
sever al mi nut es. Then a smile f

slapped his knee with one hand and began laughing.

| gave him a serious look.What 6 s so damned f

AYou. You, standing there, ho

|l considered the picture and
0t ckhear ged guy?o0

Zack entered numbers into the electronics box, and
punched fAStarto on atwaystogouot opi | o
get home. Wedd better figure ou
this.o

| got off the seat and started down the ladder. Zack said,
AWhere you going?bo

AJust thought of something. o
grabbed Vincent 6s Ibtheclethinga g . Il ¢
inside feeling for what | 6d bum
pistol. Inside a folded jacket were two packages wrapped in
brown paper with big rubber bands around them. | tore open
the end of one package.

| clambered ondnanded onto the bride . ALook at t

AWhat is it?0 Zack turned the
boat. | handed him the package.

He held the package, thumbed the ends of the bills through
the opening | @ thhesdaserhundreddilddu ndr e d s

bills! Webre rich!o

ARi od an trouble. o0 Inside wer
of hundreds. | began counting the number of bills in a single
pack.

AfThere must be a hundred thou
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It took me a while to compl et
package must contain aldahundreegwenty thousand
dol |l ars. o

fiThispackage?o0

ATher eds dabnedtowe.ro one
AWheredd you get it?0
AVincentds blue bag. Thereds
one in there.o
AHel | , t hat-misl Ilii kre dolgluamrgled
ABut Zack, webdbve al so got Vin
Zack grinned. AWe get rich. A
AWhen we get back to the dock

have some worry. Like how to convince cops of the whole
stondt hi s hijacking, the rendezvo
APi ece of cake, wi Zackosai decid
He referred to my detention r
nine months for gr adldgottinhesff t aut
for good behavior.o
Zack | aughed. AThat 6s the par
A grin plumped hhissbody tveréh& s. i We
side...webdbre home free, and ric
ARnYeah? How do we explain what
charter?0
AROkay. We clean up the Dbl ood.
ABut what about the charter?0
AWe took them nightclubbing i
0

t o drunk to return with us. o
i @me on, Zack. | f Vincent 6s b
knife hole in it, cops are goin

good ti me. O
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Zack frowned, and returned th
candét go back with a dead body.
e y e s .no, ioNWe, got to come up with a story. Something

everybody will believe. o
Alncluding Sheriff Flannigan?
Zack squinted into the blackn

this!

10
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CHAPTER 3

Zack out | i n e dastlcatches sstfiteenymilesit A g
out. ThHs Cigarette boat cuts us off and forces us to stop. A

burly guy boards us, says heos
ARescuing Christine?o0
AFrom Vincent. See, itos a | o
says, O0Come on with me, youdre

withthatS O B. 6 But Vi ncent says, 0O0OHh
pulls a gun. But before Vincent can aim, the burlydyay

AWait. Slow down. Wheredbds the
is happening?

AAl ongside our boat. A friend
finish!o

AOkay. o

i T h ey duywrushes Vincent and stabs him. The burly
guy and Christine hop onto the Cigarette and zooh fuff
who knows where?0o0

AThat 6s it? Thatoés the story
are going to believe?o0

AWhat do you think?o0

Al think it Obslieve dsdhe hijackirgy. Finsa r d t
place, we just stop and welcome the burly guy on bBawd
Tim& Second, Christine isnodot exa
as a brick, and her face cries for a lift. Does the burly guy have
a vision problem?

Zack theapgphtChikstineds not e

11
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AAnd what if Sheriff Flanniga
we both say what really happened, the stories should be the
same. 0

AYeah. | see what you mean. W
head shook i n | thecyaziestrstorgsinceil St u c k
George Bayler hooked a boat on

AYou think Christine was Vinc

ANah. o He reset the radaroés r
out was a setup. o

AThe trawler. Headed for Cuba

AA st i nkidwthouthul sumlyerstHadto be
from the far side of thetwerlyour t h par al |l el . 0O

Zack was referring to the line of constant latitude that
separates Cuba from tbBer U.S. AW
whoevershedwant to go to Cuba?bd

AfBea me. But they wel comed he
Zack chuckled. AMaybe sheds one
mamas . O

Al bet Vincent was paid to se
got to the rendezvous, he was |

Zack pursed his lips and checkaar compass heading. |
figured | better tell him. #fAHe

AWhat ?0

AVincent. He paid Arnie the b

AArnie got my money?0o0

AYeah. Vincent said he paid A

Zack groaned. A few |l ong seco
bless Vincent . 0

AHuh?O

AnMaybe we | ost the charter mo
tip. o

12
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AYeah...but...O0

AWhat dopu?uww mean,

AThatdos a | ot of cash. Al i n

ASure. Maybne Itlhieo ng umearst eri ncent
the hijacking. o

AWay too amad hl Keotuh know guys
the Key West Ferry for half tha
Zack was silent.
Al &m betting itbés hot money. 0
Zack shrugged. ASo what ?o0
Aalf it wasndét Vincentds money
Zackos face got all pinched.
AROnce news br eaksodywldeonhebds d
the |l ookout for all that dough.
Zack pointed into the distance, where the outer buoy at
Seguro Key became visible. AWha
AThat per s o ntimedrugdertor tieeMafia. Ob i g
the Comradeds enforcer. ..o
ARSo?0
i Y o uspaenaing a wad of hundreds, it might be like
advertising youbve got the bund
AAh. 0 Zack shoved the idea as
hand.
We cruised on. At the head of the jetty, Zack shut down
the autopilot and slowed. As he turned to parallel theg, jet
sai d, Al I right. We split the
couple weeks. 0
AYou think the Mafia or the e
| ooking after two weeks?0

13
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AWel |l , mayb@&whoevdriaid dpesnodnh kno
what happened on our boat. Maybe Christiras supposed to
take it with her. o

I shook my head. Al dondt thi
that shiv in him, all she wanted to do was board that trawler.
She | ooked easy as we pulled aw

AOkay, smart ass. o0 Zack faced
we shouldd ? 0

AfLeave the money in the bag.

AANnd t ur -milieningauthee caps® No way, Billy.
Not hing doing. o

AROkay. But we better | eave so
bag. It 611 make the TV news tha
behind itmight keep suspicion off wus.

nGreat. | vote to | eave ten b

I chuckl ed. ASure you woul d.
bot her reporting Vincentdés pock

AOkay. How about a few thousa

AFi fty thousand.-thousaadtforyogav e s
hundredt housand for me. 0

Zack gave me a look like what was wrong with me, what
was | thinking. We approached the harbor. | got busy
deploying fenders and arranging dock lines.

It was still dark, not yet five a.m., when Zack backed the
boat in and | tied uplhe docks were deserted. Zack climbed
down from the fly bridge. A Ok a
strained | ook, l i ke he felt a
for the boatmends shack whil e
Vincent 6s keys rkingldt. rushed to t

After stowing the money in my truck, | put on work
gloves. There was but one strange car in the parking lot, an

14
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older blue Toyota sedan. It had to be the car Vincent and
Christine arrived in. Did Vincent plan to drive it when he
returned? MayheMaybe we were supposed to be dead by then.
Yikes!

One of the keys from Vincento
In the light from the interior lamp, | checked all around,
including the glove box. | found a car registration, a couple
napkins with orange fooesidue, a warranty for tires, nothing
t hat explained anything. Undern
of those small flyers printed cheaply on newsprint. | rolled it up
and stuffed it in my hip pocket.

| popped the trunk. Spare tire, a jack, pair of chy@ags. |
closed and locked everything, then returned to the boat and
returned the keys to the blue bag.

When | got to the boatmends s
phone. #fA...l know it sounds wei
Yeah, hdehbesd sd ebaede n ydedhaed hotirsvo, ma
Wed 0 He | ooked bl ankly at me whi

end. AYeah, I  k n 6 bastarBtréew owe h ad
cell phones and mi kes overboard
staring down, tapping with his boat shoe on the floor timbers
AOkay. Weo6ll be here waiting.o
turned to me, nodded his head t
Devlin. He said heds gonna rous

AThe Sheriff.o

AYeah. Got the feeling he did

bed. | calledthe Coa@uar d. And Arnie. Wedl

enough people here foreightanded poker . 0
AThey dr ov e-doar. Floridy mates. Akldowt five

years old, with a bunch of dent
ARA cheap car they could | eave

15
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Al searched i t-uppagrouwwadmykhpd t he
pocket. In the light | saw it was yellow newsprint with a
mast head fABoats & Ships, o0 dated
foundt he car was clean. o

Zack glanced at it. AfBoat new
anything. o

ACar doesnot r-milboh @ash. Likdtlee quart e

money wasnoét his.o | flipped pa
ad circled with blue ink attrac
ran:

73 x 19 STEEL SHRIMP TRAWLER,

892 Detroit Eng., 40,000 Ibs capacity.

Long range fuel &vater. Call for price.
It ended with a telephone number.

Zack read over my shoul der. i
give up being a hijacker, buy a shrimper and join the ranks of
noble, haravor ki ng fi sher men. 0

Red and blue flashing lights in the parkingifderrupted.

Sheriff Flannigan and Deputy Devlin climbed from the
Deputyds van and strode toward
the dock wher®eel Timavas moored.

AYou Captain Montrose?0 FIl ann
AYeah. This here is Billy Far
AYouboat ?0

Altds Arnie Maddi ckods. I run
AYour |l icense?o0

Zack pulled his wallet from his shorts, handed a plastic to
the Sheriff.

Flannigan glanced at the Coast Guard ticket, handed it
back. fiLetds see the body. o
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Zack stepped into the boattéfl the corner of the tarp

wedd thrown over Vincent. Ther e
than before.
FIl annigan glanced at i1t and t

ambul ance out here. o
Deputy Devlin stepped away from us keying his radio.
Flannigan turnedto Zack A You sai d t he man
bl ue bag?o
Zack nodded, went into the cabin and returned with the
bag. Flannigan pulled on a pair of latex gloves he had in his
pocket. Zack handed him the bag. He opened it.
Deputy Devlin approached, stowing his radio tchibdder.
AAmbul ance on its way. o
Flannigan nodded, removed items from the bag, one by
one. Deputy Devlin wrote the contents in his notebook:
3 keys on ring
5 mm hand gun, Ser. 1864758
felt-tip pen
1 manés shirt, white wi
stripes, size 36
1 ma n bgsay jhckey bize 40
Approx. 500 hundrediollar bills,
amt. to be verified
Flannigan handed the bag to Deputy Devlin. To us he said,
AYou two follow me. o
On the way to the Sheriffds v
from his eyes and suppressed a yawn. He opened the
passengerds door and snatched t
AWedbre here at the SegReelo Key d
Tme a sport fi selp.ldy An aaxfkflierdma tni
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voice. Flannigan replaced the m

need to get statements from bot
Deputy Devlin climbed into th

blue bag next to him, and started the motomikigan opened

the sliding door. Zack and | climbed in.

Arni eds white Ford wheeled in
halt. Arnie hopped out of the d
the headlights. After jogging to the van breathless, he stopped
attheopenear wi ndow and addressed Z

this all/l about ?o0
ALIi ke | told you on the phone
hijacked. One of the hijackers

Alf youdll excuse me, sir...o
AfOh, o Zack sai d, it hows her e i
Reel Tmét he boat . 0O

AWheredbs the dead guy?06 Arni e

Aln the boat, o Zack said.

AHoly shit. ..o Arnie turned a
Flannigan nodded to Deputy Devlin, who followed and caught
up with Arnie. ASir, Idbisuhand] nee
up ahead of Arni e. AThe boat i s

Arnie stopped. fAMy ass. 0 With
on his hips, he stood as if he
boat . o

Devlin said, AThis i s an of fi
access la r but right now. .. o0

Flannigan, after alighting from the van, approached the
two. He motioned for Zack to join. Zack got out and |

foll owed. AMi ster Maddi ck, Il 6 m
County. Weodre asking you to sta
Captainwi | | explain. o He turned to
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Zack said, AThe hijacker got

bodyés on the boat, I|ike I said

AYou didndédt say the...on the
ambled toward the dock. Deputy
Mr . Maddi ckp hédmegbbngntervene.

The Sheriff, Zack and I followed behind.
When Arnie reached the boat, he halted, glanced down at
the lumpy pile of tarp next to the transom, and sighted the pool
of blood. Deputy Devlin moved in front of Arnie to lblohim
from stepping into the boat.
Arnie said, ADamn. Of all the
his face. He looked puzzled.
Zack eyed Arnie and-ohtlthmihed ¢t o
heds dgponna
Arnie turned toward the finger pier, stepped onto it, turned
toward the water, arched over, and vomited violently. Deputy
Devlin stepped to the finger pi
from the rear. fABetter sit, Sir
The smell was awful. | stepped forward, lifted the lid of
our dock ba, and grabbed a roll of paper towels. | handed
them to Deputy Devlin. He tore off a bunch, wadded it and
gave the wad to Arnie. Arnie was now bent low, almost
kneeling. He coughed, and wiped his mouth and face.
AAll right now, 0 Bomaordenr gan s a
here. County investigators will be here shortly. Deputy, get the
keys to the boat from Mr. Maddiékor Captain Montrose.

Then explain to everyone that the boat isloff mi t s . It 6s
impounded until the investigation is complete. The
investigatorsw | | t ake care of the rest

A siren sounded up the road.
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Deputy Devlin |l ooped his arm
him to stand. AYou okay now?o

Arnie stood, a Ilittle wobbly.
at Zack.

Zack ignored Arniedés |l ook and

Flannigan. Devlin helped Arnie sit down on our dock box.
Flannigan led Zack and | toward the parking lot.
An ambulance turned into the parking lot, red and blue
lights flashing, its siren silenced. Fking behind was a white
van and a police cruiser. The three vehicles parked in a row
and men got out and began tal ki

headlights.

Al ol |l handle this, o0 said FIl an
now caught wup \webbdicrewsandgditifieru t ak
statements. o0 He handed Devlin t
group of men gathered near the three vehicles.

ALetb6ébs try this, one more tim

opening the door of the Sheriff
Arnie Maddick, facing the glare of headlights, shuffling toward

his car. He cradled the wad of paper towels in his hands in

front of his chest. | nudged Za
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CHAPTER 4

Although it was only 6:40 a.m., Julia Cotter pulled Henda

into my dirt driveway at a fast clip, her dark hair fluttering out

the | owered driveros window. Sh

door and announced, AnAl Il right,

bookmobile girl. Get youbestseller, adult, young adult, and

children's, compact discs, DVDs, magaziredookson-CD.o
Unshaven, 16d just poured my

dressed in my shorts and ratty robe. | swung the door open. She

stood there tall, with a wide lipstiel grin, in cutoff shorts,

flip-flops and a wayoo-big longsleeve shirt that hid all major

attractions.

ADondt you |l ook |l ovely, 0 she
camera in the car. o
fiTo what do | owe the honor 0]

at t hi setrdateduto Myahail and gestured toward the
coffeepot. She nodded and sank into the other chair. | got a cup
from the cupboard, filled it and set it before her at the table. |
sat down and she explained.

AThe Marathon | ibrarhadeshec!| ose
day off. It got me thinking about the bookmobile that used to
serve the Keys. But 6l0 coul dnot

AThe hijacking. o

N Wedlyles. The whole thing. It n
news. Are you okay? | mean. .. o0
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AnAfter all t myegegcy & governmens by e
my brain is fried. Other than t
ABut you witnessed a murder.
than a simple scare. o0 Oscar Cot

unaffected manner of her father. Hidden under th&tidifice,
though, is a crackerjack mind and unlimited curiosity. Contrary
to Oscard6s dedication to his cl

chose to serve the publicbés 1|it

l'i brari an. 't doesndOwarmmurt that

congeniality seems to have softened the edges that might

ot herwise intimidate people 1ik

al tercation took placed. What
Al dve got to shave, and. .. o0
RnGo ahead. But | 6ve got a tho
Asthe shaverbz zed my chin, | knew I

story. Julia was too honest to deal with what Zack and | were

now calling Athe bundle. 0 1 6d s

hundreddollar bills into a trash bag and thrown it into the cab

of the truck before the fuzzrrived. Now the bundle was

behind my golf bag in the bedroom closet. | could only hope
Julia wouldndét be as concerned
about the blizzard of action, the two hijackers, the trawler, but

most obviously, t helize\ingdntthadng. W
been stabbed until after wedd e
did Christine stab Vincent? And
the AK-47 shoot at us?

My answers werenodt very good
over those details what seemed likdoazen times with the
County, the State and the Feds,
actions. That threer- four-minute blur of surprise, panic and
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fear that ended with our escape into the darkness left me
feelingitwasnotredli t hadndét really happ
When | shut the razor off, Julia had finished her coffee and
now had a rough idea of the hijack story. She stood up,
gl ancing at her watoch. nl 6ve go
up, do my hair and get ready fo
AWho died?09
AYou di &mMaHutchking,dhe lady who ran the bait
stand on Long Point Key. o
| knew of Ma. She was up in years, lived on our Key in an
ancient midget trailer. She might have been a shrewd operator,
but | always thought she was slightly daffy, probably because
s h estuak the outside of her trailer with what seemed like

dozens of childrendés plastic do

Julia went to the door, pause
|l ast week. I thought you knew. 0

AThey burying her here? I n 0P

AYup. You going?o

ANot t migs rormpmiomi sed |1 6d meet
boat impounded, we need to figure out how to jigger the
charters, see what we can save.
bile. o

ARGood luck with that | ast one
hurrying to the Honda.

#i#
Zackosi straan leerl ot he could aff o
on three sides by mangroves. It
rai n. He says theydére red mangr

matter® Julia says there are more than eighty species of
mangroves.
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i Ho w oo neger greeted me like a letagt brother
before?0 | said, stepping over
inside the door. | placed the black plastic bag on his settee.

AHuh. 0 Zack opened the bag an
obvious, eh?o0

AYour egwebalhsngrbut bul ging

AYou gotta admit, those portr
beautiful .6 He dug into the pla
packets of money on the coffee
twenty. There are twendywhatagorgeos pi | e! 0o

| grabbed a pack and began counting how many hundreds.
It was easy. Each pack contained a hundred bills.

Zack wrote down my totals on
said after 106d f i nihumdredthousand t 0 s
bucks! A hundredhousand for you and a hundrétibusand
for me! o

AnAl I in used bills. o

AUsed spends as easy as hew. 0

Altés all too neat and tidy,
twenty five packs in Vincentos

Vincent 6s. 0
Zack paused with a pack in tiand. He looked at me.
AWhat 6s your point?0o

~

AWhoever it belongs to wildl b
AWho cares?0o0
Al f we s p-dofiadbillkarourd the \dllage, it
could be Ii ke advertising. That
Zack tilted hins Wealdl. sitNengrio
West , Mi a mi , or .. .o
I shook my head. Al thought i
this money was a dumb idea. 0
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AThere you go again. Did anyb
suspicious yesterddyl mean about the money

ATheydve dgadatmeploenty of
AOkay, forget about it for no
next couple of charterers, tell théReel Timas temporarily
out of service. Jeez, I sure ho
scenebd6 tape all over the boat. o
it
Later, near sunset, | propped feet onto the wicker footstool
and punched Zacké6és number into
He answered, AThese new cell
donot talk a bit better. Whatos
ARSpeaking of bundle, I 06ve tho

with a terrificidea. Bring your bundi and stop by Ace and
pickupasixpac k. 0
AYou buying?o
AYou owe me for the charter. 0
A

Howém | supposed to pay you
cent ?0

ADondét forget the beer. o

AWhat brand?o

ADonét be cute, Zack. 0

The headlightsof Zacks t ruck fl ashed thr
window over the kitchen sink. | watched as he trudged to my
open door with a bag in one hand, apack of Coors in the
other, and another spack of Coors under his arm. | grabbed
thesixpacks from him. ANIi ce, 0 | sa
AStcew you cl ai med you had d6a t
mi ght need extra fortification.
We sat at the kitchen table. | popped the tops of two beers,
and stowed the rest in the refr
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the Sheriff or Fed fuzz get bees in theinbets and decide

webre suspicious, we canodt have
AReal l y?0o
AWell, suppose they come with
AYoudre paranoid. But they mi
AHow do we explain all that b
Al see what you mean. 0
Al figure tlhhe bwegt itthiong 1 s
Al &m not keen on trying to di
AMe neither.o | stood and thu
ALet 6s grab the bags, tie them
AAnd | eave all this beer? Not
the rest of the sipack fran the fridge. We tied off both plastic

bags.
After checking to see that Cove Road was empty as usual,
| took my shorthandled shovel from the shed, and we crossed
the yard, trudging to the road.
AiDamn. Il tés black as fifty fa
hope you know where youbre head
We clomped north on the uneven gravel in the moonless
night. Lights showanynehresom Chet 0
neighbod a hundred yards on the other side of thelane
road.

AThi sol | be easy, o0 | said.

RnSpeak for yoursel f. I can ha
over .o

ABy the time we get -there, yo
adapted. 0

AWhy the hell didndét you brin
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AYou mean so peopl erigmtbghtl d be
and wonder what the hell two people are dalogn this
|l onely road?5o0

Zack groaned. ALl I right, but
youdbre gonna be out of work. o

Al &m out of work already. o

Al talked to Arnie abomt that
the i mpound would be over in ab
AThen we can notify the next
AMaybe tomorrow. o0 Zack draine

can.

After wedd gone about a quart
gravel onto one of two dirt paths madeautomotive wheels
carved into a grassy field clear of mangroves.

AWait a minute, 0 Zack said. i
the cemetery. o

ASure. Welcome to Pal modoHaven.
0

Barely audible, Zack said, #l

AWhat 6respeui whg for? The dead

Al dondt care much for cemete
are you going in here?o0

Al 6l'l show you when | find it

AJust a minute. o Zack flipped

popped it and took a gulp.

il L e to,tbst begcareful. Some of these little old
headstones are overgrown with w
along the path, looking for a mound. When it appeared, |
stopped.

AYou know Ma Hutchinsd Bait S
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AWhat 6re you t al kotheargwakkowofut ? 0

AYou probabdyheodidbed kanow

n We | | bl ess the old batds sou
there. o

AHere, 0 | said, pointing at t
now. 0

AOh. This is kind of freaky. o

AShe wondt mind. o

Al donoddorkéhtowl.i Ke messing witd!l

AThe dirtdéds fresh. It 61 | be e
bag down, took Zackdés and set i

half-six-pack to me. | gave him the shovel, broke out a beer,
popped it and tjustdhle stdf fosaditld | ow. i
graved i ggi ng. o

Alf you say so. 0 He probed th
shovel.

ANo. Down here. 0

AWhat 6s wrong with this?09

AThat 6s the head end. You wan

AYoudbre weird. You into some

ANo.Il Bdondt want to risk havi
when they install Ma Hutchinso

AOh, yeah. 0 Zack took a swig
foot end.

We dug a hole about three feet deep, deposited the two
bags and refilled the hole. | paced thstaince, about eight
shoe lengths north of the line of tombstones.

Zack grabbed the | ast of the
back and try some serious drink

28



Dangerous Parallel

AOkay. o | took a swallow from
should salute Ma. She may not realizeit,ddt e 6s st andi n
a small fortune. o

#it#
The next morning, my head was a little fuzzy. | phoned Zack.
It rang and foll owed with his r
message.

I made coffee and got dressed. | burned some whole
wheat, downed it with coffeand drove to the docks. First
thing | saw was yellow tape hanging frédeel TimeOh, oh, |
thought, Zack and Arnie will be sore about that. On the way
back, | stopped at the boat mend
paging through the newspaper.

AYou seen Zack?0o

ANope, 0 he said, Anot t-hi s mo
damned tape all over my boat?o0

AYeah. Chickenshit. They didn

He pulled the cigar from his
hassling you??o

Il shook my head no. A Ithe)tme an w

the other day, bt 0
ASheri ff Flannigan or deputi e

yesterday...or today?o0
Somet hingbés up with Arnie. AN
ANever mind. I was just curio

back between his lips, picked up the newspaper and resumed
reading.

As my motor kicked over in the lot | wondered what was
going on between Arnie and the Sheriff. | left and drove to
Zackos trailer.
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His truck was parked in the usual spot. As | walked up to

the trailer, Il said in a l|loud t
followed by beating on the door with the flat of my hand. It
made | oud booms. fARiIise and shin

No sound came from inside.

Zack never walks anywhere, so it was peculiar for him to
be gone with his truck at home. | jumped up to peer in the side
window. The venetian blind was open, but nothing inside
seemed amiss. | went back and tried the door. It was locked.

| trudged back to my pickup, thinking. | backed up, turned
around, and drove back toward home.

My cell rang. | pulled off the road, stopg and punched
the phone.

It was Zack. AThey got me her
Who? Somebodyédés got you?bo
The Sheriff. They said | cou
AGood. Tell me what happened.
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CHAPTER 5

AThey rousted me out of bed bef
saidover the phone. AThey came an
headquarters. o

AYoudre under arrest?o

ARThey say theyod6re just hol din
they do that?59

AUp t o-tveodoumrs.Atteythat they have to charge
you. O

ADamn. O

ATel | me wha@at happened

AThey came with two deputies
Turned my trailer upside down b

| 6d have to come with them for

AWhat about ?o0

AMostly about me and Arnie. C
go round and round. o

AWhato@ud sy ?0

AThat | asked Arnie to pay me
Because Vincent paid him.o

AThis was yesterday?o0

AYeah. But Arnie, Hedaso hot wun
argue. You know Arnie.o

AAbout how much you owe him?0o0
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ARYeah. $$aceddedaygeéd not gonna p
cent...well, turns out | had to admit | owed him more than what
was owed to us. o

I didndt reply.

Zack went on. ASo | gave him
heéd calm down. 0o

AYou gavéumidmetdwducks?o0

AOn account .e,l Ishkonudwl.ncdt hav

AOkay. You want me to get O6Sm

ASmil ey?0o

AYeah, you know that sourpuss
Inn,makinggoey oo eyes at the desk gir

AOh. Well , tell Smiley to sta
havendt br ok e esoet.tAndithe doughnuis beeer h o
are right tasty. 1061l take my <c

HH#H

The Sheriff had a murder case on his hands. He might have
found out from Arnie that Zack had the money to pay the two
hundred. That money most liketya me r i ght out of
0 buendd | o f -dollanbdls. And the Sheriff was possibly
suspicious that there might be more than the-fliusand in
hundreds that the Sheriffods off
woul d account for the search wa
anything over th@hone to Zack about any of thighe fuzz
would be listening or recording.

| took the yellow flyer out of the desk and read again the
pencircled ad for the shrimp boat. The area code for the phone
number was Pensacola. | punched it into my phone.

Whenamndés voice answered, | s a
the ad inBoats & Ships
AnSorry, youbre too | ate, 0 he
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A Oh. I't seemed | i ke -threest t he
footer, steel, with a Detroit D
i 'Y e a hVerortich Ris a sweet one. Just been repainted.
But it sold about a week ago. o0
The seller sounded friendly,
sold theMonicaBt o a | ocal shrimper, |
| Webogicawi t h a oO6V. 60
O WeronicaB. A lot of construction noise h e
You know it. Theyobre
So you sold the Vero
No. The fellow wasno
Pragg, thatodés odd, I
gg. o
Well, thatés him, then.o
Hard to believe it was the s
dark hair?0o
0. Must be a different Vinc
bal d. Not fat, | ooked trim
Whereds the boat now?o0
AnCandét say. A captain and cre
checkeever yt hing out. The boat sai
nwel | , thatdos interesting. Th
did you say your name was?0o0
Al didnot . ltés Briden. Capta
As | ended the call with a pl
easy to se that something very strange was going on. With
Zack being held by the Sheriff, one dead Vincent Pragg on
Reel Timeaand a different Vincent Pragg buying a shrimper
namedVeronica B, it was time for me to go to Pensacola.
Hit#

re, eh?90

earing
nica B.
t | ocal
now a

e 1 S 1 S 1 S | S 1]

k
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At Key West International, daught the commute to Miami.
After a couple hours layover, | jetted to Pensacola, where |
rented a Chevy.

The shrimpers, a jagged jumble of outriggers, lay along the
wharf. | drove the road that fronted the wharf, scouting for
construction. Sure enough,rbbars and cones set off a section
where a backhoe was scooping chunks of asphalt into a pile.
Yellow-clad workers watched while a couple of them dug next
to a big pipe in the exposed sand.

| parked the car nearby and walked back to the
construction areayhere | found a man on the dock hunched
over a net. | stopped and smile
Tom Briden. o

The man didnodét take his eyes
across the road.

AThat shanty there,o | said,
T h e ma nookdup,gustdddded and grunted
something | took to be fAyes. 0

The shanty was made of rust, with sheet metal here and
thereholding it together. The door was cracked, so | entered.
After the outdoor glare the interior seemed dark, but there was
a shadowy mabehind a workbencldairy arms jutted from
his rolledup sleeves.

APardon me, o0 | said to hairy
Captain Tom Briden. o

AYou found him. o0 He smiled.

il heard you had a shrimper f

ACoul dbve sold that boat thre

Anbs sold then?o

ARi ght . Hated to |l et it go. B

sonofabitch. Woul dnot wor k with
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taking off to somewhere as soon

Briden shook his head. AYou can
boatt i ed at the dock. 0

iYeah, I know. l dm in charter
honey of a boat ?o0

Anl't was a good shrimper. Supe

A range of twethousand miles. Just had the Detroit diesel
rebuilt. But theVeronica Bis gone, sold me than a week
ago. o
AYou sold it to one of the Ca
ANo. Sold it to acutgnicggugal | ed
didndot try to knock down my pri
represented chose their boats <c
AWhat cwanp atntyat ?0
Heavy thuds issued from the road construction. Briden
cupped a hand behind his ear. i
AWhat company was that?09
AUh, | etds see. ltdés. . .right
papers on the bench and pulled out a tornstadiet. He
squintedat t . fiEstrell a Foods, l nc. o
AThat sounds familiar. Il s the
Ailt was on the check, I t hink
headquarters are in Miami.o
Uhuh. o
But t hey otthe\dekonidaBdet db oTagx as . 0
AHuh. Where in Texas?o0
ASomedphmnc el dodlé6tj ustcaddnodt
remember. 0 Captain Briden gazed
shook his head. ATerrible, 0 he
Awell, thanks for the chat. I

fi
A
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ARGood | uck wit YerogicaBwasallear ch.
repainted. Red with white trim.oru  won o6t find a t
ni ce. o

| left and returned to the Chevy. Before opening the door, |
scanned the street that desttled at the wharf road. There was
a smal |l tavern with a sign, NET

| hiked to the narrow, rundown storefront. Insides kiigh
and dented wooden bar stood at right angles to the street. There
were no tables. Two men sat on stools at the rear of the bar.

The bartender was a rouffiaced guy with one eye that

didnét follow when he | ooked at

AYou Hank?o0 | asked.

A Na w. stoppdcehisraginmidei pe. fiHe ai ndt

Al 61l have a Coors. o

Lazy eye shook his head. fASor
Pabst. ..o

ANever mind. o6 | nodded toward
have what theyod6re drinking. o0 He

Thepairatte back tal ked rowdy. Il ¢
several. |l 6d toss out a couple
see if | could connect. Al 6m | o
Jim,0 | said, aiming my voice i

crew on the/eronica B? 0
The guy facing me shook his head. But the nearest of the

two turned to me. AYou tal king
I picked up my beer and moved
Petersod signed ontoth&¥eronicaB? | coul dnét r e
his | ast name. 0
He nodded.erfisloonh.n Thheat 6 s hi m. V
know? Theyodére gone, yb6know. O
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AThey |l eft?o0 | said. AWel |l , w
di sappeared at the |l ast minut e,
The guy gave a laugh, showing several missing teeth.
ABull shit, buddy, be owed you m
AWell, maybe a few bucks. . .0

Al seed that right away. They
hat boat out 6n here, 0 he said.

~+

ABilly. Sometimes they calll m

Missing teeth laughed again. The friend also laughed.
ABadbil |l y, of Yhoeu raiimioéctk etdh.at bi g.
mean fucker. o

il 6ve been around. Done some

Missing teeth turned on his stool until he faced me. He
leaned toward me. In a low voice intended to exclude lazy eye,
he said, fAYou km®dmeawbmt John Pe
Peersodt ol d me?0

AWhat ?o0

AHe said they were gonna pay
t hat boat because they were goi
|l oudly, ANot shrimp, money. 0

I drained my beer and ordered
mean drug money?o0

il me a nheywdkeethre enonkey and clean it. Dirty

money. o He frowned. @ADondt you
AnOh, yeah, I get it. Did he s
money?o
ANo. No. You dondét get it. Th
here. They were gonna be doing that when they gat to, t
wherever it was they was going.
AOver in Texas?o0
AYeah, thatodés it. Ole Point,

37



Dangerous Parallel

Lazy eye chunked the three Millers onto the cracked
formica on top of the bar. | paid him and tossed a couple of
singles as a tip.

AThanks f or t hessingteetwsaid. Badbi | |

AYeah, thanks, o0 the friend sa

ANo problem, You sure it was

AShit, | dondt know, 0 missing
Asomething | i ke that. o He pause
beer. AYou know what he tole me

ANo, what?0

AHaisgd they dondét even count t

AThe money, you mean?o

AYeah. They got so much they

He said they weigh it.o The nat
himinmids wi g. Very sl owly, he said
ABy the posadd.

He nodded. AThey bundle it up
tole me. They weigh hundreds of
AThat 6s a | ot of money, 0 | sa

AYou know itds true, 0 he said
We tal ked about fi sfdotbalg, and
prospects. Global warming didno

ASo | ong Badbilly, 0 missing t
AYeah, o the friend said.
The bartender looked at me with the good eye and waved
as | pushed through the door.
It was nearlyfive in the p.m. | drove the Chevy back to the
airport and checked it into the agency. Then | found a monitor
and checked the schedules to Miami. There was about-a two
hour wait. The deli place was empty. | ate one of those nine
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buck sandwiches and washedown with a terbuck Coors.
At least they had my brand.
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CHAPTER 6

| arrived home at tethirty. A piece of torn envelope stuffed in
the crack fell down as | swung the door open. On it Julia had

written, ACandét find you. Call
Inside | puncheth er number . fAHope | di

bed. 0
AWhere have you been?d She so
Al ol l explain. Get decent. 160
Julia wore one of those long tshirts that doubles as

paj amas and a robe. She Icket me

called me, 0 she said. AWhere ha
ARunning down a | ead. Trying
AWhat do you mean o6free Zack?
AMaybe he didndét tell you. He
AfHe said he was at the Sherif
AThe Sheri f fwarerravretd man sZaaakds

took him to Key West for questioning. They can hold him for

seventyt wo hours. After that they©6l
A Wo w. | didnét expect that. I
Al't could be. o
AHe didndt sound conkeéwhped on

you werenod6t answering your phon

AThat 6s Zack for you. Told me
rubber hoses. ® And they have ta
Julia smiled. AnThat 6s Zack al
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Al turned my phone off so | w
the fuzz closing in on Zack, | figured | had to find out why
Vincent Pragg circled an ad Boats & Ships 0
fiBoats & Ship8 The library subscribes to that throwaway.
Butd o

ACircling an sademihs thgmea
APossibly. But how did you kn
ABecause it was in his car. U
AWhat 20 Julia held up both ha
i n Vincentds car?0
AWel |l , af tReelTimee Id otcokoekd Vi ncent
andsealced it . O
She frowned. AThat sounds. ..y
nl't seemed | i ke a good idea.
what the hijacking was all abou
ABut, but. . . diddory otuh et eHeld st?hoe
ANO. I didndét find heBogts&i ng,
Ships |t didndét seem i mportant. I
Didnét see the marked ad until
the adds seller and met with hi
ABilly! You were supposed to
ABut t hey nkavith sentethinggThey might
even accuse him of killing Vinc
Disbelief filled Juliabds eyes
woul dnoét kil anyone. 0
Al't didndt happen. But Fl anni

his hands. And no access to the kéleChristine is loig gone.

So I went to Pensacola to see if | could nail down something.

Somet hing that would tell us wh
AwWhat did you find out?59
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ANot much. Unless we can figu
different Vincent Pragg bought a shrimp boat from Captain
Briden about a week ago. o

Julia frowned, shook her head
you to explain that. But if Zack is in danger of being charged,
arendt you in trouble too?0

AMaybe. What else did Zack sa

ANot much. He akadyduaboatsomant e d
Fe®dl guess he meant FBI or somet
the hem of her shirt with a fin
|l i ke any of this. o

NRnRel ax. lt6l 1 work out someho
some sl eep. o

She looked at the clockhe glanced at the hand at her
hem, and moved it to her | ap.
right. o

| got up, went to the door, opened it and stepped out.

Behind me were hurried steps. Julia swung around me and

threw her arms ar oumeaut. imgedtoe c k .

know whatodos going on. Youodre ve
| felt a little guilt for not telling Julia about the money. But

I couldndét put her at risk by m

go to the Sheriff Headquarters tomorrow. Talk to Zack |

smiled, then I|ied, Al o6l 1 keep vy

Hi#

| slept deeply till seven, and woke hungry. | scrambled
four eggs and topped them with industsélength salsa. With
two slices of toast and lots of hot coffee | was ready for the
world.

Before nine, | was on Stock Island. | drove past Sunset
Marina, parked and found a desk in the Ad building. | told the
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receptionist with the tight coiffure who | was and who | wanted
to see.
AMr. Montrose is in Detention
pencil outof her hair, rested it next to the keyboard and
consulted her computer monitor.

AMy i nformation i s incomplete
Royal Svuite, if there is one. o
AHeh, 0 she said, smothering a

She disappeared behindl@or. Two minutes later, a tall rangy
black guy in a gray suit came out with her.

AYoubre Billy Farris?0 he sai

AUhuh. o

ACould | see your | .D.?0

I gave him my driveros | icens
Al 6m Mar k. 0 He ext eingloa, &BI.Hi s han
wonder i f youdd mind taking a ¢c¢

Al 6ve come down here to see Z

ASure thing, o6 he said, graspi
Al dm sure all that wil!/l be arra

stepovertoth conf erence room and cha
waiting?o

AOkay. | guess. 0 | gave the w
guestioning | ook. She smiled an
care of your request, Sir.o

Eppington picked up a tan valise. We entered a
windowlessroom, brightly lid, with a table and several chairs.
A blackboard and a calendar hung on one wall with a picture of
a clipper ship on the adjacent wall.

Al should explain a bit, o Epp
across from each other. He pulled on hissdml chin bear
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new to this investigation, but | understand you were on the boat
wi t h Mr. Montrose when it was h
AUhuh. o | noticed his tie was
AHi jacking a U.S. boat on the
constitutesafedaeal cri me. So weodre anxi
can of the details. You foll ow?
| nodded.
Eppington shed his suit jacket. The shirt cuffs of his dress
shirt were unbuttoned. He dug into his valise, pulled out a
sheaf of papers andMraMostmose| | el e
has been very helpful. Hebs pro
description of the sequence of events. Would you mind doing
the same?o0
Rl 6ve already signed sever al
everything | know. 0
AYou bet . | 6ve gavellacyoyparress r i g
and incarceration records. But it would be very helpful to me if
youdd repeat your experience du
record it. Il know ités an i mpos
Eppington was going out of his way to be defdial while
also being sly. He knew | was familiar with the law, that

l egally |1 didndét owe him an int
see Zack and find out what was happening.
Al guess so...okay,o0 | said.
youcansetitd musi c. O
#i#

After webdd finished, Eppingto
front desk. The receptionist with the tight hair sat behind her
desk. Standing in front was Zack and a uniformed officer. The
receptionist saw us, rose quickly and clicked her higitshe
across the floor to meet us. 0G
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AMr. Montrose has been released
youodl !l transport him back to Se
AThatdos fine, o | said, and we
her.
Zackrecogn zed me as we approached
hangout s, Billy? Or are you vol
ANeither, o | sai d, smirking.
doughnut s?o0
He waved papers he gripped in

brought plenty of cash. lgaty wal ki ng papers al
buying. o
Eppington | ooked at Zack and

behalf of the Bureau, Zack. I h
too taxing.o0o He withdrew busine
and handed one t ostagiamuchvath us.
you and Billy.o

AStrap on your water wings, O
sever al miles offshore. o

I frowned at Zack. ADo you kn

AnAl ways, J Reel Tomas no rigevany s .
i mpound. O

Officer Borland nodded to Zack Al 6| | be | eavi
Mr. Montrose. Goodbye and good luck. Just be sure to stick
around where the Sheriff can co
the water. o

Zack nodded and the officer strode off.

ACome on Zack, o6 | said. ALet 6
out and down the sidewalk. As soon as we stepped onto the
parking lot, | stopped.

Zack said, AWhat 6s the matter

Al &6m sure they pumMped you. Bu
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fiYou donot think | was about
fiYou didnot | et on about t he
Hesni | ed and started forward. |

damned word. o
We hopped into my truck and drove silently to the
Overseas Highway. | stopped at the first bar we came to.

AWow, 06 Zack said after a | ong
like a hundred yearssincilad a col d one. 0
AFl anni gands hospitality didn

ANot a bad place i f homeless t hin
drunksand threedayo | d cof f ee. O

Al't wouldndét have happened i f

Zack froze with his beer inmidois . A What 6re yol
talking about ?0

AThe two hundred you paid Arn

ARSo?0
The waitress came by to see if we were okay. After she
went away, I |l owered my voice a

blabbed to Flannigan. Flannigan knows Vincent paid Arnie, not
you, forthe charterF | anni gan t ook charge o
t hous and.-huidred Bed Branklingv e
Zack whispered, fASo what?o0
AYou gave Arnie two Ben Frank
from your bundl e. 0

Awel | |, | owed him, so...O0

AYeah. But FI| radtwo togetherandgot t wo
four . He figured those two bill
you left the fiftyt housand i n Vincentoés ba

That there was a bundle of <cash
gave him probable cause for the search watra ©
Zack set his beer onto the ta

46



Dangerous Parallel

I continued, softly. AFortuna
place. I think Flannigan figured he could sweat something out
of you if he held you for quest
being held here in Kewe st . 0

ADamn. Sounds | i ke What @Is|l wha
now?o

AWe candt touch the money. We
i s . But wedd better find out wh
Mi a mi bef ore Flannigan deci des

iAEst r el?MamiFhatdhe hell are you talking
about ?o0
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CHAPTER 7

The rain came in sheets as Zach drove by Sunset Point. Key
Largo would be next.

AThe way itdés coming down, th
idea, 0 Zack said.

AYou never Kknow. ohdirtwenty squal |
mi nut es. 0

We were headed for central Mi
my trip to Pensacola. He wanted to investigate Estrella Foods
too, but he worried. AWhat we ¢

Al dondt know. But i f inkhe ope

we should be able to figure out
It was close to eleven p.m. a

wet, but the rain had stopped. After locating the Estrella

building, we drove around. Close to the local switch yard we

found a cantina that was apelhere were three people at the

bar in the tiny place, but all four of the tables were empty. Zack

sighted the bosomy barkeep and

AHow far is it?06 | said.

AYou mean to Estrell a?bd

AWhat el se?0

The bartender approached and askddat wed6d | i ke
asked for Coors, but she sai d t
smiled and said, AJust bring us

returned to the bar.
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nRnOkay. How far?0 | said.
AWow, 0 he said, Ahow about th
AROkay, Zack. Now, how far?09o
AMmm. Maybe four or five bloc
N We o1 | |l eave the truck and wa
Awhat i1 f it starts pouring do
AWedbl |l get wet. O

It was after midnight when we left the cantihand the
0t wins. 6 We traipsed about a qu
area bedre reaching the location.

A double set of railroad tracks crossed the concrete street
at a sharp angle. Past the railroad warning sign and signal lights
was the flatroofed building. The painted ESTRELLA FOODS
INC. on its stucco front wall was slightlysible in the dark.

No lights shown inside. No people were around at this time of
night and the street was empty of vehicle traffic.

Across the street was a sand and gravel yard with a
conveyer belt that angled up to a steel tower with floodlights
on top. Ack and | studied our target standing in the shadow of
t he vy ar edveredgvallaAfcér harnisounded in the
distance.

Zack turned to me. AThis neig

AAffluence, 0 | said.

A paved parking area for three cars fronted the tan
building. Some stucco was missing above a singleuptruck
door. Two windows with bars and awnings, and a narrow
entrance door with the street number above it completed the
front of the building.

Theside of the building visible to us was blank, decorated
with red and black graffiti. We crossed the road and the tracks
and rounded the corner to the rear of the building.
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The rear wall contained a plain steel door that lacked a
knob or a handle. Oppositvas a weedy stretch with a few
trees, power poles and a cell tower. Half a block away were
some shabby outbuildings and a sheet metal shed with a
smokestack.
Zack pointed to a metal trash bin that loomed in the
dar kness. f@ANot mu cyoulikesthedoundb a ¢ k
of piss on metal . o
AYou would think of that. o |
single, narrow window, about a yard wide, high on the wall.
AHow about boosting me up so |
Zack interlaced the fingers of his hands and lockedt
tightly together. He stooped, and | stepped into his cupped
hands. He lifted me, grunting.
nJeez, Billy, you gotta | ay o
| peered, trying to see through the window, but it was too
dirty. The metal frame was rusty and hingethattop. The
latch at the bottom appeared to be unfastened. | pulled and
lifted. The rusty hinges squeaked.

AHIi gher, 0 | instructed Zack.
AUgh. o
AOkay, 0 | said. Barely grippi

a leg up and through, and was able to place adioain interior
ledge. When | lowered the other leg, | found myself standing,
not on a ledge, but on a workbench. | eased myself off onto the
concrete floor.
It was very dark inside. The main interior room seemed to
be fitted as a warehouse with a highiogiland rows of
shelving. The shelving held boxes, sacks and other containers.
An unoccupied truck bay next to the shelving led to the
front roll-up door.
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At the front on the opposite side was an enclosure with a
lowered ceiling. Entry to it was throughclosed personnel
door. Around the door and through several cracks in the walls,
slivers of light from the front filtered into the warehouse
section.
| groped my way to the plain steel door in the rear wall,
lifted its bar, and let Zack inside. In theHighat shown
through two small windows in the ralip door, we read the
|l abels on the boxes and contain
tuna fish, whole wheat flour, i
Zack said, AWhat we have here
AHow do weaidklseanstzd) and found a box
that had been slit with a box cutter. | peered inside.
Zack came closer. AWhatodés ins
ABottles of s aighhhbttled of SEcg i n g . F
I'talian. o
ANot exactly suspicious. Unl e
person. o0
We made our way toward the front. A fork lift was parked
at the rear of the loading space. Oil spots on the floor marked
the space where a truck probably parked.
AWhereds their truck?0 Zack s
Al wonder. Maybe itds out for
Near the door to thenclosure were several big boxes. |
tried the door and entered the enclosure. dewel light
illuminated the interior through the two windows at the front. It
came from the tower lights at the sand & gravel yard across the
tracks.
Inside were two desksitli computers, one with a copier
fax machineln the corner was fieestandingopier.A small
safe, several chairs, a water cooler and two file cabinets, both
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locked, completed the office. The door to the street was at the

front of the enclosure.
Ishruggd. Al dondét get iit.o0O
Zack said. dAlf only you had vy
As Zack spoke, headlights flashed on the street outside.

We retreated to the warehouse section, closing the enclosure

door behind us. | moved quickly to the small window inlifge

rol-up door. Altbés coming here. T

continued looking long enough to identify a large truck with

OEstrella Foods, I nc.d6 on its s
Zack and | hid behind the large boxes outside the

enclosure. Lightflaredasrs s t he i nterior fr ol

headlights, then dimmed. Loud engine noise came closer and
abruptly quit. Headlights went dark. A vehicle door slammed.
Rattles, probably from unlocking the front door, sounded.
The door squeaked open and someone entéheddoor
closed. Fluorescent I ights in t
on, spraying tiny splinters of light from cracks and spaces
around the enclosureds door ont
warehouse. Intermittent shuffling noises suggested the
occupanivas moving about or working a keyboard.
Zack peered over the top of his box. He stretched his neck
and cocked his head trying to see through one of the cracks. He

shook his head, signaling he co
Clicking noises icsesueid. aTrh ener

Yes. 0 Pause. ARYes, yes, I under
| silently imitated talking on a phone. Zack nodded

agreement.

We waited, scarcely breathing. Occasionally a new noise
would emerge from the enclosure as the person moved or
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changd position. We did not know what to expect. Tens of
minutes passed, slowly.

Engine sounds alerted us. Light flared across the interior
from headlights again, then dimmed. Softer engine noise came
closer and abruptly quit. Headlights went dark. A thud
sourded, an auto door being closed.

A brief knock on the door followed. The person inside
shuffled, then the front door opened.

The manés voice said, Al ododm gl
Al am a busy man, Enrique. o T

higher, and tewms$eseiili oluep® this
APl ease sit down, Khan.o

Scraping sounds issued as the men moved chairs.
Altds the vendors, 0 Enrique s
AThe vendors, 0 Khan said, wit
Click, click went a cigarette lighter, followed by a whoosh

as cigarette smoke was exhalbtbre shuffling sounds of feet

being repositioned followed.

AThey whohdnedet housand mor e,
ANi-mendred thousand?o

AYes .-huiretehousand, u. s. , mor e.
ASnake bellies! o Khan excl aim

been paid!o
A Lnderstand. Bidt O
AThey were paid the agreed am
whacked on the concrete.
Al know, 0 Enrique said.
AThe Council wil!/l not tolerat
S. dollars, no more.o
Zack turned to me in the dim light and gave math
took to be a wideyed look. By now | could smell cigarette

u.
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smoke filtering out of the enclosure. Rhythmic tapping of
fingernails on a desk followed.

Enriqgue said, fAiThe vendors, t
pay more. o

Alt 1 s Dbl ack mthatbeforedwatrned have
everyone about these snake belll
a desk. fAiThey have become too c
bl ackmail, but i1t is exactly bl

AThere seems to be little cho
vendors,thepave what the customer wal

Al know. Il know. 0 Khan said i

The conversation ceased. There were shuffling sounds,
like a person pacing the floor.

Finally, Khan sai d, AThey thi
resources. Everyone thinks the Couiheis unlimited

resources. o A chair moved sl igh
Al know, 0 Enriqueoreplied. AT
AThe vendors will come to und
fate of Dblackmailers is to I|ive
Al shall be happy to inform t
A Ni-huedredt housand, 6 Khan said, s
again. fAYes, they are very sure
After a | ong pause, Enrique s
way. 0
ATransferred to the Cayman | s
AYes. They say t &t®therancld | mak e
only when the transfer is elect
AThesebelnlaikees do not | ack for
AWell ?0
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AThe problem is schedul e, 06 Kh
our schedule if the vendors fail to complete the transaction on
ti me. o

After a longpause, a chair scraped concrete. Khan sighed.

nWe wil | be forced to authorize
Council will have to agree.o
Al understand, 06 Enrique said.
APerhaps the customer wil/l co
AThat would help. o
ATell the vendaoounslwilletyswat ch t h
know when the transaction is ac
AYes, 0 Enrique said.
ATel | tbélles tseCaukcd will not endure more

blackmail. Further blackmail will be accompanied by
excruciating pain.o A chair scr

Al 6ltlhetmglol Enri que said. ANow
money deliveries here are not w

AThe Estrella payments?0o0

AYes. Sometimes it comes on M
Thursday, even Saturday, 0 Enrigq

unsatisfactory, | have bankidgyou knowd we are running a
business. 0

Al transfer it to you as | re

AAnd | -hbedshndemore, 0 Enriqu
necessary to keep the operation going. | have employees,
payroll to meet. o

AYou are | i ke a mosquito, Enr
ther e . It is annoying. o

Al am not | ike the vendors, K
that . o
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ALl I right, al/l right, 0o Khan
it. o

AAnd the delivery. .., 0 Enrigqu

AAnd the delivery. yes. 0 Chai
footst & CwaunciiThevi ll be very unhe

AYou will get back to me, Kha

Al will get back to you. o

The front door opened and closed. A car motor started,
headlights came on. Shuffling sounds issued from the
enclosure. The fluorescent lights went dark. The froot do
opened and closed again, followed by sounds of a deadbolt
sliding home.
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CHAPTER 8

I moved cautiously from behind the boxes. Zack did the same.
We | istened as Enrique started
came on bright, then faded as it mowasahy.

| sprinted to the rollp door and looked out the window.
The red glow of the truckos tai
street.

AWow! o | said.

We reentered the office enclo
now?o

AJust a minute. o A dghmdeskks sl i p

captured my attention. AThis wa
held it so |ight from a window
number on it.o |I stuck it in my

Zack was at the front door.
here? Thatguyused akely.l we | eave by this o

unl ocked. o
AHMM. The st edlbuttthaicamnonlglte t he r
|l atched with that bar inside. o
We went from the enclosure to the truck bay, and the big
roll-up door. Two electric push buttons next to the door
controlledit. When down, it latched with spriFigaded latches.
|l pushed the AUpoO button. The
moved up. With the door up about six feet, Zack stepped
outside.
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|l pushed the ADowno button, a
door powered down and tited.

There was no foot or vehicle traffic. We strode back to
where wedd parked the truck. Fi
breaths of cool night air, we were excidednd confusedl by
what weo6d witnessed.

AOkay, Geniuso Zack savwed, as
pull ed from the parking space.
Altéd be easier explaining ic

Our headlights picked out the reflective paint on the green
sign. Arrows pointed to SOUTH DADE EXPRESSWAY 1/2
MILE.

Zack was silent. Finally hesaid,Let 6 s gi ve it u

AWhat ?0

AThis whole business. Chasing
We dddn o6t

AWait a minute. You want wus t
ReelTim& That wedre witnesses to a

ANO. |l 6m tal ki ng algdetettivec hasi n
Let the fuzz do that. oo

ASure. And what if they decid

Zack didndét reply. We entered
increased speed.

|l said, AWe have money that d
probably is somebody out there who deapely wants to know
where thattweh undr ed t housand went . o

Zack briefly glared at me. AL
theseguy8t heydére talking millions.
scary. Who are alltheseothérs he &6 Counci |l , 6 t he

We donanyhadea whatds going on.
I didndédt say anything.
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AAsk yourself, o0 he said, ARar e
why Vincent was killed? What he was doing with all that
money? Who Christine was or i s?

off the steering wheel, palms up.
i W&now somebody posing as Vincent bought a shrimp

boat for Estrella Foods. .. O
AOkay,o but
A...and now we know Estrell a
weightl oss di et . 0
AWith that info and -pgaemk.baucks

On the northbound lanes of the highwa,eighteen
wheeler with an orange and white trailer flashed by.

Anltoéds all part of a pattern,
pattern yet, thatodés all .o

Zack glanced from the road to
for a pattern, wedre getting de

AThe key s eecnesl Iteod bGo utnhcei |s.o00

AGot to dMaftihee, moabybe. 0O

AKhan didnét have the right a

AnSi nce when are you an expert

Al mean, he sounded I ndian.o

Zack made whooping sounds, moving the palm of his hand

in and out in front of his mouth.
ANo, 0 |I said, A mndial ntdhiaatn .kd n d
Zack laughed at his joke, and slapped the steering wheel

with the palms of both hands.

AAl mosmi Ifloiuan bucks, o0 | said,
ranch. . . o0

AfMaybe aer?aoce hor

AOr maybe just plain horse, m
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We fell quiet. Lights from a convenience store/gas station
slipped behind us and disappear
reach home, both of us dog tired.

The lights of Key Largo lit our path. Blacka white
movie images of Humphrey Bogart and Edward G. Robinson
flickered through my mind. The plot of the movie eluded me,
something about a hurricahdBogeyd was he a boat guy?

|l reached in my pocket and pu
taken fromthedesk Al 6 m going to call th
whoansweld may be weodl | | earn somet hi

AGood luck with that, Junior,
answers, tell him you know two breakartists whé for the
rightpricd can be bought . 0

Hit#

The funeral masswasovér. wat ched i n front o

the casket was loaded into the gray hearse, and the family, a
man, a woman, and two boys, was escorted to a waiting
limousine directly behind. A couple of funeral parlor types in
dark suits scurried, and soon the smadtorcade drove off.

At graveside the two boys, flanked by the man and
woman, faced the side of the casket as the attendants arranged
it on the lift. A few other mourners stood at the rear and on the
sides, further behind. Shaded by a green awning, tbstai
the head of the casket read aloud. | was parked too far away to
hear.

In my rearview mirror | located a fancy white Cadillac. |
had watched it drive into the cemetery and park. Inside were
three men, two in front, and one in back. They neverheft t
car.

The announcement had caught me unprepared, and | had
barely made it to the church at the end of the service. | pulled
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the Miami Herald from behind the seat and reread the obituary.
Survivors were two sons, and an older brother. No mention of a
wife, but the brother is married. The woman at the grave must,
I concluded, be the brotherds w
The priest waved a silver wand at the casket, and read
some more from his book.
The three men in the Cadill ac
Ford Bronco with a man thing came late to our part of the
cemetery. He slowed and parked at the rear of the line of
parked cars.
The priest stepped back one step, and the attendants began
cranking the casket into the ground. The mourners stood as
stiff as the nearby tombstones.
The man in the Bronco didnot
the Cadillac didndét move either
The mourners drifted away from the burial site and
returned to their cars. Only the family remained. | got out of
my pickup and approached the man next to the grave.

APardon me, Mr . Pragg. .. my sy
family. o0 Eddie Pragg didnét 1| oo
heavyset with white hair. He 1| o
you?o

Al knew Vincent. I 6d Ii ke to

Als owing you nesthaghhe®exgédeds oun
it.

ANo. Thereds an insurance mat
you. O

AEh? Please. . . O

Al 6d | i ke to meéwewcam giosclsa

Eddi edbs wife approached, took
at me.
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Eddi e sai d,edAll atesadtyo | p dlail ke .

ANo. But believe me, itds i mp
mi nut es, 0

The two boys went to the | i mo
arm. AWebd better go. o

ANo, 06 he said to her. He | o0k
business card fromhs pocket . Al s card. I

AMy sympathies, o | said, nodd

Eddie and his wife turned and went to the limo. | went to
my pickup. As | climbed in, the fancy Cadillac pulled out and
drove away. The Bronco had not moved. | started my picku
and turned onto the cemetery road and drove out. When |
turned left outside the cemetery and headed south, | glimpsed
the Ford Bronco in my mirrors.

It figured. Even in death, Vincent commanded interest.

When | caught the ramp to the Airport Expresswhg,
Bronco followed, though maintaining a distance between us.

| drove the speed limit and turned onto the N@thuth
Expressway leading to downtown. The Bronco followed. |
guessed the three men in the Cadillac had set the Bronco on my
tail.

When | reacheé downtown, | headed for the nearest
parking garage. At the entrance | purchased a ticket, and drove
round and round on the concrete ramps, rising from lower
|l evel s to upper | evels. At the
parking slots were empty. | pulled,iparked, and got out.

The Bronco drove past, the driver staring straight ahead.

As | crossed to the elevator, | saw the Bronco pulling to a
stop in a parking slot.

When the elevator door opened, | entered and punched
A2nd Level . 0 Th elevdtortookme tows ed an
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| exited that elevator and sprinted across and down the
ramp to a different elevator. Inside that elevator, | punched the
A5th Level o0 button.

When | arrived at the 5th level and the door opened, no
one was in sight. | exited the e#wr, sighted my pickup and
the parked Bronco. | ran to my pickup, backed out of the slot
and drove down the ramp mar ked

At the outlet, | slipped my ticket in the slot and the barrier
lifted. 1 burned rubber turning right onto the street. As |
allowed the steering wheel to straighten, | saw the Bronco
driver. He was standing on the sidewalk. He stared at me
without expression as | waved and passed by.

After driving a few minutes, | pulled into a driie that
advertised AFired Blualrapenonid hl tC
spicy enough to etch its way to my ankles. After finishing the
burrito, Il reviewed Eddieds <car
AAccuracy Sheet Metal, Eddi e Pr

It was twathirty when | parked in front of an older
concreteblock building that had been stuccoed over. Inside
was a tiny office with a bleachddonde secretary. When |
asked for Eddie Pragg, she vanished through a door into a shop
area.

Shortly, the secretary and Eddie Pragg emerged from the
same door. Heworeworlgn ¢l ot hes r at her t ha

worn at the cemetery. AFor what
about ?o0
I gl anced at the secretary, r
you could show me your shop ope
Eddi e got the idea that | did
secretary present. AYes. Foll ow
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We entered the shop where several workers were
hammering, cutting and riveting metal ducting. To Eddie | said,

Al &m Lou Morgan, with the Hawle
I nsurance. l 6m trying tohfind o
and the boat hijacking. Can you
nAl I my | ife | O6ve work hard.
bought a small shop. We worked
f or Mihnicse 6fsamid wtd sofwaGGuba. o0 He p
looked up at the fluorescentlighfsl s | azy, he expe

everything right now. o0 He waved
way. O
Al understand. Youdre raising
AMe and my wife been raising
goes away. o0
Al have a question about Vinc
Eddie motioned for mto follow him as he went to a

slightly quieter area.

| said, ADid you ever see Vin
man, slim, with a completely ba
AnCarl os? Sur e, l dm used to se

Aldm trying to find this man,
name o

Eddi e shrugged. AFirst name,
They just call him Carlos. Heos
Cuba. o Eddie grabbed a dirty ra

AHeb6s powerful ?0

AUnder st and, I dondédt know. o H
hands A The people is saying heods
I believe Vince works some ti me

ACoul d he have been behind Vi

ACoul dndt say. I hope not. o
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AWell, thatos hel pful. Thanks
me back to the officd. s ai d, AAnd again, my

AYou dlctawved? A business card?o

I shook my head. AThe Agency
investigators bothered by calls. Sorry, no business card. But

thanks for the information. o
| drove a short distance, found a parking lad @ulled in.
I n my pocket was the slip of pa
Foods. | called the number on the slip of paper. It rang twice
and a female voice answered. i S
Loan Department, 0 she said. fAHo
AWheeeyau | ocated?090
AOn the corner of Broward Bou
Lauderdale. You candédt miss wus. o0

I guessed Khan was a sur name.
this number ?o0

AYes, but heds not availabl e
contact you?Oo

ANo, buanytwhaayn.kdgs | hung up.

Could the Khan at Estrella Foods be the same Khan
working in the | oan office of a

make sense. | drove the thirty miles to Fort Lauderdale.
Southeastern Independent Bank was the ground floor of a
five-story, squareebff concrete mushroom. The stem had
threestory-high pilasters with palm trees planted too close so
they all leaned outward, like bent old men. Fancy windows
suggested the upper floors paid the rent.
| parked in the lot and entered. The lobby wperd an
ATM blinked at me in the cornérbut the interior doors to the
bank itself were locked. Banking hours posted on a door
showed 1 6d arrived after bankin
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I f Khan was indeed employed b
find out later.
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CHAPTER 9

It was Friday, and we had run an eitjoiur day charter almost
due east from Seguro Key. The two men and a boy of fourteen
got sunburned, seasick, and fis
briefly filled Zack in on Vince
with Eddie Pragg.

When we returned to the dock, | hung the bigger fish,
some kings and mahi. The charter took pictures of themselves
and the fish, wittlReel Timeas backdrop.

While | was hosing salt spray from the boat and the fish
blood from the deck, Arnie Madttk drove into the lot. He was
soon in deep conversation with Zack. | knew what that was
about: money. After a time they
shack and went inside. | was not finished wringing out all our
towels when Zack left the shack, went to thekjray lot and

drove away.
After 16d finished al/l my cho
was inside.
Zack | owered his beer. ADi d t
AYeah, but not enough. 0
Looking at the ceiling, he no
rich. o

| just looked at him. The barmalmought me a frosted
mug of beer.
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Zack | eaned forward and qui et
Carl os?0o0
Il |l owered my voice. Al canot

guy who bought the shrimper in Pensacola. The descriptions
match. And 1t mi gdydthahcalgdantheeen C

tail at Vincentodos funeral. Eddi
in Miami és | ittle Cuba. o
Ailf so, you got the wrong spe

|l threw Zack a flyer. ®mCoul d
in disguise?0

AThat 6d mMmake clkent 6s kil l er. o H
l i ke maybe rubbing would make t
woul d he do that?o0

Il shrugged. fADondt they al way

Zack shook his head. #ANaw. |If
t heydd never safshingchartert Amdjifet her f
Carlos is such a big gun in Miami, why would he arrange to
sail to Cuba on a rusty bucket

| shrugged. The barmaid renewed the pretzels.

Zack gave the barmaid his 6éco

you. | 61 1l ackeck obadclhe free stea
| sighed.
We emerged into the sunlight outside, squinting. Zack
said, AMaybe Carl osb6és boys had
t hought you were a cop. o0
APossi bl e. But in real i fe |
hand. o
We trudged to my pickup. | got in and slammed the door.
Zack | eaned his hands against i

dondét we do some Omidnight mini
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ANot a good idea, Zack. Weodd

hundredd ol | ar bill s in the Keys. o0
Zackdroppd hi s hands from the doo
The fuzz knows we didnoét kil \%
much money was in that Dblue bag
ARYeah, prsomebidk powBut That wasn
Vincentds casino winnings or in
AOkay, 0 ZBoek shatd.same somebo
figure the Sheriff | ifted it.o
AMaybe. But i f you go around

and goldplated Kewpie dolls for your girlfriends, that
somebody could reckon youdre th
Zack turned, then glanced back. Wé dismissive wave
he strode to his truck.
| started the pickupds motor
road, my thoughts turned to Julia. | punched the Monroe
County Public Library number into my phone.
AHIi , 0 | said when shegnenswer e
supper tonight?o
You mean bottled beer and pr
Naw. Real food. We could go
Mar at hon. o

fo

O D - D

AYoubre buying. o

AYup. o

Al wasndédt asking.o0 She paused

AWhat ti me?0

AAround dark. titdld be more r
n Obh. I smel | somet hing fishy
nwWel | |, |l 6m on the road home a
AYour wish is my command, 0 sh
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ADo you have a reference book

banks, like addresses s i z e, of ficials. .. ?0
AA Florida bank?590
ASout heastern Independent Ban
Al ol |l see what I can find. Ho
Al oll call you back in thirty
ALIi ke | said, your wish
AOkay. Thanks. Bye. o

Later, when | picked her up, she had her hair in a new
coiffure. She wore a brightlgolored sunsuit. As we drove

south, she said, Als there some
I ndependent Bank | should know

AfBased on what you gave me, I
I do. o

AExcept why you asked me to f
pl ace. o

ATherebs a connection between
mur der . 0

AWhat 6s the connection?o

nltdés | i ke a chain of <circums

AThanks. That hefiddedwitethe t al | u
pi c Kk u-poddtionang setting.

Al | i ke your hair.o

She stared straight ahead. nE

The air conditioner came on, goisghhhh | s ai d, il
to Vincentoés funer al and buri al
his wife are raising Vincentbds

nOh. Now | know why you wer e
I ndependent Bank. 0

Julia is not easy. | decided

S
0y
o

She | ooked at me bl ankl y.
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ATrying tobd iaqabwhgVinoent tvas t
killed and® 0

ARZackdbs not a suspect. And th
l sndét it the policebds job to fi
mur dered?o0

ASur e. I dm running down some

|l ooking at. o
The seams in the pavemenade rhythmic thumps. The
green highway sign said SEVEN MILE BR. 9 MILES. Julia
said, Al do not wunderstand you.
Als it essenti al in a relatio
understands the man?0o
Not al ways. 0
Could this be one oftitaHe ot i m
Ok ay. But | s@&mokinghrouadimas dang
mur der case. 0
Off to the side, some tourists tossed bread into the air. A
big flock of seagulls flapped furiously catching the food. | said,
APossibly. Maybe not. Who knows
We drove into Maratbn and parked at the restaurant. |

ot 3t 3N

said, AYou wunderstand this is s
NnYes. But because | dondt kno
Do you trust me?o0
AnOf course | do. |l 6d trust vyo
AThen how come you wdooniéntg ?toe | |
AYou have to believe I 6m tryi
When everything is c¢clear, It hi
Al think | get it.o She smile
pavement. AYou Spencer Tracy, m

Bogey, me Bacall. Andsooh.s t hat what wedr e
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AThat depends on whether you
bl ack and white. o

Al 611 tolerate you ewthclamowev e
sauce holds out. But not a minu
Hit#

Zack and | left the elevator and followed @uide to the office
marked Special Agent Mark Eppington. In the anteroom was a
metal desk with a slightly less metallic secretary busy behind
it. Hanging above her was the only hint of wall decor in the
sober surroundingsa framed photograph of the J. Edga
Hoover building in Washington.

Upon our entry the secretéryadorned with several
pounds of ear bangles, neck bangles and wrist banghesing
around on her swivel chair and

My heart went out to Eppington.

He greeted us with a giasinile and ushered us into a
conference room where a man and a woman were seated at an
oval table. Unoccupied chairs filled the periphery. Folded and
leaning against the wall were more chairs.

The man at the table steod up
E-A. 0 sHile was veiled by a mustache the color of straw.
Dark-skinned enough to have just hopped off a tanning bed, he
seemed uncomfortable in coat and tie. His hair, short, changed
from straw color on top to dusty red at the ears. | guessed the
red was lost teun exposure.

Eppington introduced us and s
the Cari bbean. A significant pl
Cuban spy ring back a few years
major military installations as well as the local Culganigré
community. Heds handling the dr
i nvestigation. o
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We sat down. Did Eppingtonods
knew something we didnodot? | gl a
registered with him, but he was busy smiling at the woman
sitting acros the table. Eppington introduced her as Marlene
Barnes. fAMarlene is our sketch
OVisual I nformati on Specialist.

Marlene rose to shake hands, revealing a tiny body in a
stylish pantsuit. Al 6msag.dlerhappy
happy smile faded to a studious
about your experiences during the hijacking. It must have been
terribly distressing. o

Eppington studied his notebook, then grinned at Zack and
me. AWe really apipgtetiméad e you f

AYeah, coming wazagpzdhere Dou
said, Adreamed up by some famou
Eppington reacted. ADougdbs no

it 6s an e nfiendly éaailityehelps advd on the
Bureahdosbiilg. o

Zack waved his hand at al | t h
there?0o0
AThey measure it in acres, o0 D

may not have known that Security checks you for stones on the
way i n.o

AAnyway, o Eppington said, fiwe
iAYeath Doug said. Then, suddenl
to get your cooperation, to fin
AOkay, 0 Zack said, dAbut | hav

County Sheriff said theydéd take
that killed Vincent. fithose prints are clear, how come you
need us to help i dentify the ki
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Eppington smiled. AYoubdre rig
Unfortunately, they didnét corr
file.o

Altdés a | imited database, 0 Do
picc ure . . .0

AExactly, 0 Eppington said. AW
witnessods information and put t

the suspect. o0 He nodded toward
expertise and training as an artist to the compaitbzd
operd i on. I n a minute 106l take vy
how it works.o He turned to How
Montrose here is the man who gave us the GPS coordinates of
the Cuban vessel that met them near the twkmntiz parallel
during the hijacking. o

AThat was great, 0 Doug sai d,

mustache. AWe tracked the vesse
was the same one, right to Caba
table with his hand. AYes, sir.
the worldo
ACabanas. On Cubads north coa
ARi ght. So there@d®mayhen i nt er na

i nvol vement by a Caribbean drug
mustache again.

Eppington said, AThe suspect
stateside connections,sowea n 6 t ad& & heinemamnéd e
outside the U.S. The suspect ca

This seemed to me to be Eppin
limited jurisdiction within the United States.

Eppington continued, Aln any
identify the suspect. We transmit it to all field offices making
sure every agent is aware of th
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Howl andger said, AThat goes f
around the world can monitor the movements and activities of
a suspect, regardless of locati . 0

AMarl|l ene, please take Mr. Mon
show them how your system worKks
turning to us. fnABefore you | eav

Marlene led us to the identification lab, a room filled with
electronic bays anddeo terminals, where a couple of
technicians were working.

AWow, 0o Zack said, Aitdéds col d
ALoadscondiatiironi ng t o keep t he
Mar |l ene said. AThat 6s why | kee

|l ocker . 0

We stepped over grated troughshe tloor that held
tangled electrical cables. Marlene sat down at one machine and
typed into its keyboard. A col o
scrolled up on the screen.

AThis is Henry Montana, shotg
put this together from severalwgers s e s 6 descri pti o
picked up | ess than a week afte

AWhat | do, 0 she said, Ais st

struck a key and a round face with dots for eyes and lines for
ot her featur es alpagigguestods.andi As |
the witness talks about the sus

characteristics until it begins
demonstrated by typing on the Kk
eyes from blue to green. ADo yo

AYeahaiod.l AisWe go back and fort
face looks like Christin® or whoever it was that killed
Vincent . o

Marl ene smiled at me and Zack
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AWhat i f the person was wear.
AWe want to get a<wrsanhstlee as w
appeared to you. Later, we can use various programs to remove
or add hair, modify age, or peer beneath cosmetics to actually
show what the person may look like under changed conditions.

For exampl e, herebds Henry Mont a
pointer to Henryds mustache and
AHer eds what kmkehalveemkso | i ke cl ea

Al mpressive, 0 Zack said.
We worked with Marlene for over an hour. When Zack
and | agreed the picture resembled Christine, Marlene took us
to another ofite where Eppington studied a sheaf of papers.
AHow did the sketching go?0 h
Marlene handed him a paper printout.

AnTerrific, o he said, smiling

Marlene excused herself and left the office. Eppington
waited until soeanodal dce putthe fdo
Howl andger . He someti mes acts |
the team. The Drug Enforcement Agency tends to be
proprietary about its turf.o

Zack nodded. AWe often get th
part of our business. 0
The three ofus left the office and paused for a moment in

the hall. Al dm going to have to
these days, 0 Eppington said. A S
fish. o His face |it up with a t

AThere areesnoi mutahmanfti shing b
sai d. ASome days you candt keep
Ot her times, you candét find one
ASounds familiar, 0 Eppington sa

same problem with suspects. 0 He
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hands. Vithin minutes we were whisked through security and
on our way back to Seguro Key.
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CHAPTER 10

Zack sat on a folding stool next to the lure box. On top of the
lure box were parts of one of our heavy trolling reels. Zack
held the reel s gearcase in one
ACrap! o he said. Al candét fix i
We had an important chartetheduled in two days and
Zack couldnot fix the reel ds dr
driving to the fishing supply house in Coral Gables. They have
a genius guy in a back room there by the name of Cecil. He can
fix just about any reel made.
When ltalkedt€Ceci | , he said fAGi mme
| had time to fill, so | drove to Fort Lauderdale.
The Narsom home on one of the many maade islands
was a twestory pink stucco with white trim. Many white,
roundar ched awnings adoracleed t he m
windows and doors. The roof of the second story was a
Owi dowds wal k, & withroofehi t e bal u
dressing room for suntanners.
I drove to t he -desad packédandhe str
walked back. Barely visible behind the pink stuatansion
was its boat house and a docked white motoryacht | judged was
a 90foot Hatteras.
Huge French doors with tiny prismed windows and several
tons of polished brass adorned the main entrance. Less
intimidating and off to one side was a narrow flagstead. It
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was shaded by tall palms anéll-planted shrubs and looked
like it led to a side entrance.
Rounding a corner on the flags, | faced a single white door
with a fancy brass buzzer. In answer to my ring, there were
sounds of footsteps, then silence.
| was being examined via the surveillance camera. A
moment later the door opened. A short Asian with little hair
and an excess of teeth grinned
APardon me, |l was hoping to s
regarding . . . 0
ANo go. Nlooussnaah said.®@ehindhhém was a
large room, sparsely filled with expensive furniture. Beyond,
floor-to-ceiling glass allowed a vista of the boat canal and the
outdoor swimming pool.
Il pointed. ARegarding the Hat
At that moment, a ggeous blonde woman with pale blue
eyes emerged from somewhere. She approached behind the

houseman without a smile. A Wh at
| projected my besttakeopr i soner s smil e. A

your Hatt, there. | crew for owners, péirhe, as needed\nd

wel |, I dondt have a business ¢

She stood behind the houseman in a peatbred jump
suit. Her jutting breasts projected over the small shoulders of

the Asian. AYoudre soliciting, o
allowedler e. 0

ASur e, I understand. o0 | kept
give references, whatever.o

The houseman turned away and disappeared.

AYou should | eave, 0 the woman
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AOkay. But so you know, I can
undocking, and | escat seasick guests to the lee rail so they
do®dobu know, get it all over th

Crinkles formed at the edges of those pale blue eyes, but
she suppressed a smile. fAO0Our Ca

You should contact an empl oymen
i S ulrbartend and even work a galley, though my

cooking is not the greatest. o
She grinned. AAt | east youdre
me carefully. She |l ooked slight
your name and number. Perhaps s
nGreat! It would be a privile
Al 6m Candy N atursed amd iseStiee hal f
voice. AYin. Bring paper and pe

number . 0O

The houseman appeared with a pad and ball point. As he
handed it to me, Mrdlarsom smiled, turned and disappeared
somewhere. | wrote my name and phone number, and handed
the pad and ball point to the houseman. He bowed and closed
the door.

| left the home of Jules Narsom, president, Southeastern
Independent Bank and returned to pigkup. | drove back to
Coral Gables and collected the repaired trolling reel from
Cecil.

#i#

Tripper, the town dog, is reall
sleeping on one of the charter boats till he gets rousted out. My
idea is, he likes the warmth the watends to the decks.

AOkay, Tripper, o | said, Aout
slomo, thinking I 6&6m saying somet.l
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onto the dock. As slow as he mo
getting worse.
Two men are chartering today. Jebn Kingsley, an
advertising bigwig from Miami, and Jess Tarlington, a C.P.A.,
have both caught marlin dReel Timeduring the past two

years.
Zack clumpclumped down the dock, threw his legs into

the boat and cli mbed t acethe fly

Billy. Wedl|l be out a while tod
AGoing to the cliff?0

AThese guys al ways want to go
on all of the electronics.

| headed for the ice machine. Getting to the cliff takes two
hours, plus two houJsBstthbshark. |t 0
drop-off borders a part of the gulf stream highway for blue
marlin migrating from the Gulf of Mexico to the Atlantic
Ocean.

| picked three bags of ice. As | headed back, | spotted our
anglers in the parking lot.

Zack had kicked the two diels into action, so the familiar
odor wafted out of the bubbles at the stern. | stowed the ice and
went over the gear to make sure we had everything.

The two fishermen climbed in, | threw the lines, and Zack
guided the boat away.

Soon we were skimming sdwvard, heaping up a white
froth that tumbled behind us, spread wide and returned to its

smoothlywaved clarity. twasasesp ar kl y day, s o
mind sitting in the spray watching the bigeeenisktinged
water fly by.

The roar of the motors and thén@osh of the wake made
for a pillow of sound that lulled you into contemplation.

81



Dangerous Parallel

Thinking back to the money, l w
the contents of Vincentodés bag.
choice, not to mention tehat Zac

ideas about it.

Was | being paranoid? Now that Zack was likely off the
hook for murder, maybe we could spend some of the money
and no one would become suspicious. It was tempting to
consider time away, travel, other places and people. But our
situationwas perilous and the mystery loomed.

| saw only two other boats on our trip out, and they were a
long way off. Distant too were my efforts to find out what
Khan and the Council meant, why all the money was in the
blue bag, and on and on. It all seemedafaay now, even

uni mportant. Why didndét | just

recommended? Probably that would be less dangerous than

poking into the murky activitie
Il knew | couldndét | eave it al

magnet . ishing,d ®ld mysek.dhefunseen and
unknown out there, like the fish you imagine or anticipate.

| stood up and snatched a can of Pepsi out of the cooler.
The cold carbonation felt good on my throat. Clouds in the
west might build and bring rain after medBut we were
nearing the cliff and it remained sunny.

| rigged the four rods we would deploy. Each rod was
numbered, from one on the starboard outrigger to four on the
port. The lines on each were marked so we knew how much
linetoletoutoneach. Thses sured that wedd tr
standard spread of lures at trolling speed. Each line ended in a
lure of differing color, providing a varied choice for the fish.

Zack gave me the hand signal as he slowed the boat. |
began letting out line. Jess and Jolmeach took a rod. | told
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them to let out line until they saw the little marker come off the
reel.
When they were through and the rods were stowed in their
hol ders, |1 hollered up at Zack.
ALet another ten or &o yards
yelled. Zack almost never found the setup to his liking.
| checked the gaffs to see if all were sharp.
Johnson said to me, ADondét wo
a blue. Jess and | decided webol
Al t hough t hey 6snificamt\cadch before,l e a s e
catch and release is popular now. But | knew it was easier to
say than to do. Rel eased fish o
they receive fighting the hook, and crewmen need skill to
safely remove the luerteemordliteverth
catch | ater. o
I thought about my visit to t

said to Johnson, Al was wup in vy
ago. | know you do a lot of business with banks. What do you
know about Southeastern Indepen
AGre, 0 Johnson said, Atheyodre
your interest in Southeastern?o
ACuriosity. Heard a few comme
t hem?o

Johnson hesitated. AThey pay
AYou mean dbe tobe dHraks?o

~

il mo s with gtaffdTeegptesident is a guy named

Nar som. Havendét dealt muah with
you know, soci al doi ngs. Hebds g
AHeb6s I mpressive as a CEO, I
Johnson hesitated agaiyn. Al g
deal with staff at Southeastern
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ANarsom hasndét been in any tr
audits or regulator probl ems. o
Johnson seemed suddenly relie
although | wouldndét know about
It 686dwglluhey 6re rumors, really. He

international connections that, you know, might not be the
most worthy.o

AForeign partners, you mean?o

Johnson grinned. ALike | said
think we might hook a blue toda

AWedl | see. 0efbot-long mastig pige tomy ni n
the stern. It was painted with black markers every six inches
beyondthefouf oot | engt h. | told both
a fish up to the boat, I 61 1 be
fighting the fish should follow me ande the measuring rod to
get the fishdéds | ength. Then | 061
go. o0 | fingered my cutting plie
l ure out, l 61l cut him | oose. 0

We were on a westward troll, paralleling the cliff. On one
side the depth is about 850 feet. On the other it goes over 1500
feet.

Occasionally, tangled masses of sargassum weed, formed
by wind into weed rafts, floated by. Green flashes glinted from
undemmeathr ef |l ecti ons from hundreds
hiding beb w . But thereds | ess safety
because seabirds see them and attract other predators, including
fishermen.

It wasndt | ong before Zack sa
by! o

A few seconds passed and he s
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| clutched rodour, pulled it from its holder, and handed it
to Johnson in the fighting chair. Moving swiftly, | grasped rod
three, withdrew it and began retrieving line as fast as | was able
to turn the crank.

Jess went to rod one, and grasped it with both hands.

Zak s houted, AFi sh on two!o

ADamn, 0 | said. I f both fish
couldndét handl e t hem. I stuck r
grasped rod two. I yelled at Je

two from its hol dert lmingd, tthhreairsa 6
fish on it.o

Quickly, 1 took rod three from the holder and continued
wildly reeling in its line. Next | would try the same with rod
one.

Drags screamed as both anglers heaved back hard, setting
hooks. Each line took on a cr@nd ominoud arrow-
straight plunge into the water behiReel Time
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CHAPTER 11

I shouted to Zack, AWhat <can yo
ANot hing. o0 As Zack spoke, a b

the water, eighty feet behind us. The fish knifed vertically,

cleared the water inghower of spray, and with a giant splash

fell back into the ocean.

|l turned to Johnson. Als that

AThink so. 0

AZack, o | yell ed, ACan you se
t wo?o

AYeah, itdés a blue. o

AShit,o | said, straining to

neither was visible.

| studied each angler. Jess stood braced against the
transom, both hands gripping the rod above the reetpthe
butt in his belt socket. Johnson was straining a lot, but had the
advantage ofbeingeite d i nt o t he dragsai r . Bot
screeched as thevo fish took more line.

Both fishbroke through the surface at almost the same
instant. They were wide of each other and more than 50 yards
back. Spray obscured the view. | was not sure which fish was
largest.

ACut t wdack douted.! 0

|l whipped out the cutter and
about that, Jes marlintatsizeadn ¢Hte h an d
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straightened. His wrinkled brow glistened with sweat. He
seemed almost relieved.
Johnsonds fish took Imodre | ine
pointedat it. | shouted to Zack, nHalf
Zack threw the boatedusedgear s i
throttles He turned around to face ternwhile aiming the
boattowardJ o hnsondés | i ne. He steered
twin throttle leverdehind his back, one in each hand.
Seawater from wavtpsnow broke over the stern and
cascaded across the deck. The water and Yoam slippery

ARJess!o | said. AWatch your foo

My eyes reverted to Johnsonos
waterappr oached the stern. The tif
downward. His cheeks turned red
tip above water. ADamn, 0 he sai

AGoing south. o

Zack reduced our backwaadlvanceHe leaned over the
br i d gletiemptingaa see through the depths that held the
fish.

He shook hisheadle coul dndét see the fi

Zack understood that if the fish swam toward the boat, the
l ine could tangle around one of
gears in neutral and our reardprogressslowed.

Johnson continued to pump his rod. Each downstroke
brought in but a few feet of line.

Reel Timédecame stationaywithJ ohnsonésmg | i ne
the water about fifteen yards astefime entry locatiomoved
toward us, slggisily. 1l ooked up, caught Zacl
pointed toward the approachifige. Zack reacted and shifted
gears into forward. The boat moved forwaadiay from where
the line entered the water.
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With the boaft low throttle Zack began a practiced
tactic. He changed gears from forward to neutral, or reverse to
neutral. By varying the timat neutral, he kept the distance
from the | ineds entry to the st
t he f i s h o é&tthesametime)a dage .each motor
more or less power, steering us.

Johnsorwas nowpumping the rod. With both hands
gripping the rod, he hauled back until the tip of the rod was
several feet above the wat@uickly he switched his right
hand t o t he istefehandoweredtlzemod While H
the right cranked theeel.

| coached him, repeating, A Pu
cadence

Johnson tried to establish a rhythm with his upstroke and
downstroke, but the fish pulled so strongly, he became
exhausted H e kdtremaously, then be forced to stop and
rest.

Jess cheered him on, fACome on
getting him.o

At intervals of a few minutes, | glanced at the spool of his
reeb very little line was beingaken in After about fifteen
minutes, the rel remained almost half empty.

Abruptly, the line sliced fast to the port side. Within a few
seconds, a great bhggay body shot out of the water twenty
yards ahead of our boat, at an angle off the port bow.

Zack reacted, rotating the throttle leverses#l exhausts
coughed a burst of black smoke and we turned sharply to
starboard. As always, Zack knew he had to keep the fish in the
half-circle centered on the sternRéel Time

Atthe sametimd, spotted a sag in the
dammi t ! coRmamdediioF alst er! Or heol |
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The |ine sagged | ess. ANow pu
line tightened, the rod tip now baing downward.

AHow big is it?0 Johnson said

Al 6m guessi-mgnatedeast $aive.

Altés gottda bessa gmwindk.t er ,

Zack continued to face the stern, his eyes focused
intensely on the line to the marlin while his hands behind him
worked the engine levers. When the blue apse nudged the
boat forward. When the blue moved away he gently reversed
direction st eering the boat with thi
maneuvering allowed Johnson to maintain most of the line
remaining on his reel, while also pumpioiga tight line to the
fish below.

The huge fish no longaseemedtrong enough to take line
against the draddut | knew we would not control the fish if it
stayed rested. The marlin was t
and we were working as a team, each helping to tire the fish.

But it was essentigb keep the fight going.

Johnsondés shirt edguddwihseeatt s no
to all hismuscles. | studied him for signs@fag in his
endurance. When his eyelashes b
pumping. Just hold the fish ste
first time, Johnson stopped straining and gave meak we
smile.

nJess, get him a drink from t
Jess pulled out a can ofUp, popped the top and placed it
in Johnsonds | ef aserresaofwhllows] o hns on
and handed it back. ABetter, 0 h

Finally Johnson, pumping and reeling, gainkdasta
quarterspool of line.
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| picked up my armored fish gloves and pulled them on. |
searched the area below the point where the line entered the
water, trying to see the fish.

AComing up!o Zack yelled. | s
but coul dnodot.

A moment later, | saw a flash of sliver at the same time the
fish saw the underside of the b
at Johnson.

Line streamed off the reel against the drag, with Johnson
hanging onto the pole with all the strength he could muster.

AMesnter fish,o0 Jess said.

ANot tired yet, o | said.

Equally quickly, the drag on

From his high angle on the flybridge, Zack could see the
fish. AComing 6éround to this si
starboard.

| only saw the line beling toward starboard. At the side
of the boat, | looked down and saw the big fish swimming
lazily. It looked to bemaybethirty feetdown Abruptly, the
fish stopped swimmird just hung there in midwater.

Johnson took the opportunity to catch his breath.

Zack turned the boat slowly away from the fish.

The fish faded from view. | turned to observe Johnson. He
now pumped and reeled, grunting loudly. His sgedol
appeared almost full.

Zack announced, AComing up. o

| sighted thedark blueof thebigf i sbhc& 8singabout
ten feet from the stern. Its long dorsal fin broke through the
surface and laid over slightly.

ALower your rodiNow sawdr tt omd

90



Dangerous Parallel

| grasped the line near the end of his rod. | ran my gloved
hand down the line, pulling gently toward me. The wire
leader was now visible.

AHedbs tired, o | said. | gripp
the fish, more or less sideways, toward the corner of the stern. |
transferred the | eader to my |e

with my right and drew the fish alongside the side of the boat.
It looked lifeless, just a floating hulk.
AQuick, o0 | ordered, imeasur e
Jess laid the long pipe over the top of the marlin, trying to
reach the fishoés tail
AForget i1t, the pipeds too sh
I transferred the fishos bill
lure loose from the jawith my right Jess leaned over me and
carefully captured the lure | handed to him. He swung lure and
line into the boat. Johnson huffed an exhausted breatligthnd
bad in his chair
The fishés big round eye, as
change, yet it seemed to be wat
head back into the water, but nothing happened.
With my free hand | grasped the lower jaw. | moved it to
open and clasthe mouth, hoping to force water through the
fishoés gill s.
There was a sphtecond of tension. The fish expladato
mation. It lunged forward with shattering speed. The tail flew
by my head in what seemed like a microsecond. The upper half
of the tal struck my left side. It felt like a dozen iron skillets
hitting at once
Not exactly knowing how I got there, | found myself
sitting on the deck. Johnson and Jess were bent over me. My
left arm and shoulder felt warm.
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Slightly later, Zackbentoverme What happened?590
| felt a little woozy.

AiDamn, Billy, o Zack said, @aWh
was gonna . . . aw, hell .0 He 't
didndét hurt, but blood seeped t

Zack said, aBilly, 1|isdaen. Wh

ABottom shelf, under the cabi

Zack left and returned with the bottle of bleadlow my
armand shouldehurt.

Zack said, Als it busted?o
| wiggledthearmi Naw. Just scraped, o |
AYoudbre not gonna | ike this,

gestiring. The two anglers lifted the towel from my wounds
and peeled away the torn part of my tee shirt. Zack splashed
the bleach on the wounds. | screamed in pain.

Zack had drenched another towel in the ice water from the
cooler. He wrung it out over my shider and arm, rinsing off
the bleach. It seemed like torment. | closed my eyes and
shuddered.

Johnson said, fAJeez, Billy, I
Zack pulled me to my feet by
did you hang on to him, Billy?0o
AYou had teadbe there, o |
Jess said, AMan, that was a m
#i#
Julia was applying antiseptic cream to the cuts and abrasions
on my shoulder and arm. | twitchdd.H o | doshe saidl |
Al told you Zack threw bl each
germs left, theyareinwos e s hape than | am. 0
AYou are a mess. But wor se, y
hold still, |l 611l be able to fin
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1]

The | east you co0kodrteshof i s of
Dr. Coors. o

AJust you wait. o She continue
finished shedok a Coors from her refrigerator, opened it and
set it on the end table next to me. | stood and inserted my left
hand into what was left of my sleeve.

ADondét! Dondét do that! That s
Takeito®1 61 1 wash it out. o
| complied. $ie took the shirt and disappeared. When she
reappeared without it | said,
the edge of the couch, daring myself to lean back onto the
towel shedéd thrown over it.
Juliads eyes narrowed. AHave
of you. Later, Il 611 wrap those
ASo 161l lTook Iike a mummy.o
She screwed the cap back on t
thatds the way you see it.o
She thinks | donét appreciate
care |i ke this before . : . 0
Her eyes | eft the tube and sea
mean?o
AYou know. Before we met. 0
AYes. You miss those days?0
ACome on. Of course not. | wa
much | appreciate your <care. o

She glanced at her finger and began wiping it with a tissue
APerhaps you should keep that i
AThis i s o rlonr d&iissehd nngy- bl oody

ski mmed ar m. il tds what | do. o
She threw the tissue into the
fishing. Il 6m tal king about the
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AYou antetae@ndi ng Vincent Praggod:
She sat down on the end of th
with this . . . this investigat
ARunning down | oose ends. 0
AHas it occurred to you that
with t hi s?o0
AYou have. You got all that i
ABut dondt you see? | could b
understood what youdre after. o
AYeah, |l 6m sure you would. Yo

somet hi ng?o
She stood, approached, and kissed me ligitithe lips.

Al |l ove you. o0 Her eyes roved oV
|l ook terrible.o
Il grinned. Altodés all this goo
She sat down again. dAIll beca

that fish. 06 She pointed at my w
get for that.o
| was thrown back to the moment when Vincent met his
end. AFi sh, |l i ke some humans, h
AWhat will happen, 0 she said,
toward mine, dWVonthotéstwonb@ygs
AEddi e Pragg s e em«kdslhavekl®eena goo
living with him and his wife for some time. They are better off

for it. This los® like all lossed wi | | pass with tir
AMore |likely, 1t6l1l dim with
the ot her. ABut theyodl lrythreever |
knowl edge with them wherever th
hands together, fingers touchin
will this quest keep us at odds
Al dondt think wedre at odds.
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Julia glanced at the end tabl
beer. Shall warm it further? | could put it in the microwave . .
.0 She rose, gathered up everyt

and disappeared.

Later on she fed me, bathed me, wrapped my arm and half my
upper body in gauze and drove m
muchelse.
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CHAPTER 12

| felt a little silly in the outfit: starched white shirt with

epaulets, pleated breast pockets with flaps, matching shorts

with creased and cuffed legs. It came straight from-8&jb,

the nautical apparel store that Candy Narsachdpecified. It

showed a lot of my deep tan, which | liked, and my scabby
scrapes from the marlin, which

Captain Angelo had called, checking out my experience
and references, followed by Mrs. Narsom, who explained that a
uniform was essential favorking aboard the Hatteras.

Yin met me at the door of the pink stucco home in Fort
Lauderdale. When Candy appeared she was dressed in white
slacks and top. Her hair and makeup were perfect, as |
somehow expected.

Al hope this i sadalnlg miyg thta,nda sl.
came all starchedand presdedeady t o wear . O

AYou | ook gorgeous. What happ

Altds one of those stories, o
AYoubve heard of sea stories?o

She didnét reply but wal ked a
seemed all white, with gold and black accents. Dominating the
walls were large abstract paintings, like something out of a
New York penthouse.

After passing through a formal dining room and a pantry
area, we exited into a covered patio with the gleaminigewh
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motoryacht docked alongside. We stood in partial shade
next to lush green plantings as she explained that | would
be working under Captain Charles Angelo during the

evening cruise. Al dm sorry you
meet him, butlgotinsuchasth f or t hi s cel ebr ;
I told her |1 6d had a pleasant

Angel o over the phoné&howiA Oh, 06 sh
stupid of me. o0 She | aughed, her
catching part of the slanting s
arriving about . . .0 She glanced a°
l eft wrist. fAAbout an hour from
celebration?o

AYou mentioned something abou
catch it.o

RnYes, i1itds the one year anniyv
smil ed. AYoarbvieeft ema ,edi f | reca
ASeveral orgies ago, o0 | said.

Her face, blank at first, quickly turned merry. She
pointed to a stack of cardboard
the liquor.o | said I 6d I oad th
away.
After loading the boxesn board the Hatteras, | toured
it. It was a ninetyfooter, with four staterooms below deck.
A half-deck down from the bridge was the salon, tiled in
subtle tan stone. Electronics at the entry controlled
lighting, sound, disappearing TVs, window draped an
other functions.
The overhead was pale cream, with insets and lighting
by indirect, distributed lamps. The contrasting walls were
a rich walnut, with shaded sconce lights between windows
equipped with powered drapes.
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Furnishings included luxurious cdugs with excess
pillows, snack tables and chairside lamps. At one end was the
main marbletopped table. The bar | was to tend, also marble
topped, was adjacent, with several cushy stools.

Aft of the salon was a fulkequipped galley with the latest

appliarces.

AHel |l o there, 0 said a voice b
Billy. o

| turned to see a bearded, medibeight man in a uniform
similar to mine. He wolaree a capt
embroidery on its brim. Charles Angelo filled me in on his
background.Lik many hired boat men, he

U.S. Navy. His manner was easy and we got along well
immediately. | told him about my injury and that it had
occurred during my regular job as crew on a chartered sport

fishing boat.
AThat must hodve maen i a, e dlel w
took considerable risk in worki

ALIi ke Captain Montrose says,
| earning. o
He | aughed. #fAThere are platte
cuts and other stuff Mrs. Narsom wants loadedhéhouse
kitchen. Can yoé@ 0
ASure, o | said. |l debarked. T
cavernous white room lit from large double windows topped by
a third roundarched window under outside domed awnings.
There were dozens of hanging copper pots and a bl
island the size of Vermont.
Candy was busy instructing a young Asian woman in an
apron how to arrange bitsazed foods on a platter.
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ACaptain Angel o said you had

be | oaded on board?o

AOh, yes. Good, 0 shed sai d. Sh
stainlessst eel refrigerator and open
this one, this one, and that on
wrapped in plastic and deposite

refrigerator. | repeated the trip several more times with
assorted dd cuts, crackers and cheese, fancy vegetables,
and other bits. As | came and went, | saw groups of guests
arrive.

Later, when everything was loaded on board, |
assumed my station behind the bar in the salon.

Soon | heard laughter outside and two menand
woman entered the salon. The men headed to the bar and
ordered drinks for all three. The taller of the two men
lingered at the bar.

Al 6m Jul es Nar som, O-islhat sai d.
least six feet, weltanned. His dark hair was streaked with
gray.His erect and trim appearance, together with his
rimless glasses, lent him the look of a successful
executive.

APresident of Southeastern 1In
smile.

AYouorienfwerlmed. 6 He turned to
coupl e. AThe gsatwdwh witmlaiswifensh o j u s
Nat han Wal sh. Hebés the CEO. 0

Walsh was older, slightly stooped, wore bifocals and
had a thin mustache. His wife was gray haired, with
pleasant wrinkles around her eyes. | took two scotch and
waters and a Tom Collins to the taldh front of their
couch.
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Others boarded. Everyone ordered drinks. Some of the
newcomers introduced themselves, most using their first
names. So far 16d not heard Kha

With about twentyfive people boarded, the engines were
started. | conferredith Captain Angelo regarding his
undocking method, then began hauling in the mooring lines as
the big boat cleared the dock.

We crawled down New River flanked by metillion-
dollar bungalows, then made a slow starboard turn into the
Intracoastal. As wevaited for the 1% street bridge to raise,
Candy took my arm and introduced me to a group of three
people gathered at the starboard rail. | shook hands with Bob
and Brenda Forbes, and B. I. Khan.

Khan, lean and sha#fleatured, fixed me with his fierce

back eyes. fAYou get much sun. o
arm is injured. o

AThe result of working boats
an occupational hazard. o

oVery bad for the skin, o Cand
much more healthful .o

Al shoul d akForbewssaid, loBkmg ab Khan.
Candy said. ABrenda i s Mr. Kh
Khan nodded toward Forbes and
excuse me. 0 Hemiglar.e finedrma happy
you. o0 He turned and headed for
Brenda looked ane . nB. I . i's not very
| sai d, AWhat 6s the initial B
Al can spell it, 0 she said wi
nltés Pakistani, or so I 6m told
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After a few more minutes of small talk, | excused
myself and returned to the b#han had joined Jules
Narsom and the Walshes at aisthaped couch near the
bar.

I made drinks and traded comments with guests,
eavesdropping when | could. After a time, the Walshes left
the couch and Khan began questioning Narsom in soft but
intense tones.

AHave we not gotten Cuban cre
said, clicking his lighter twice before it flamed. He took a
strong draw on his cigarette and exhaled smoke upward.

Narsom, whose voice was less audible, said

something |i ke, nADoniagis worry. A
settled by September . . .0 His
if he sought someone across the salon. When his attention

returned to Khan, he said, fSep

Hart begin the audit . . . we must complete the Texas
project on time. o

Al @mncerned, 06 Khan said, taki
on his cigarette. AThe cash fl o
exhaled smoke upward, momentarily obscuring his face.

AThe bank is to maintain the

Narsomds gaze agai rppearbditof t ed fro
concentrate on a group gathered near the forward section
of the salon.

AFine, fine, 06 Khan said, gest
held his cigarette between its first and second fingers near
the big knuckl e. ABut cash dema

pressure on my department. o0
Narsom returned his gaze to K
mu c h . ltds up to the Council to
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managedt o change the plan, 1 f tha
job is to do the banking. o

Khands | eft handfromhisurigtéandd t he
tapped the lighted end again and again on the lip of the nearby
ashtray. fAThe Council. They see
expenses. They do not listen when | bring these things to their
attention. o

Narsom smiled and nodded at a woman wassed close

to their couch, then sighed. dl
others, but worry is useless. IBI must heal any wound. As long
as Texas is okay, there shoul d
Khan took a puff, blew it upw
atthemoment . But , , ,0
Narsom regarded Khan. He patt
relax, Khan. Relax and enjoy. o
HH#H

We were cruising north in the Gulf Stream. The late afternoon
sun splashed low through the salon. Candy entered from the
galley, went to the electrars, and powered the drapes closed
on the sunny side of the salon. She swished to the bar and
smiled at me.

ATel | me now, 0O she said, A Wh a
I chuckl ed. AA marlinbés tail
AA tale told by a marl i n. How
ANot thatakln@linTbé the fish.
i Oththetalof t he mar |l i n. You wer e
ACrewing a charter in the str
AWas it a blue marlin?o
RnYes. Abowdreidveounds. o
AnOh, my. What happened?590
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| told her. She seemed to understand everything except the
fnaAlmoment s. She said, ASo you we
A small dish with some wilted slices of lime caught my
eye. Al hoped to paé&hipughtave er t hr
were | osing the fish.o0o | threw
container .t fMmERwtd imucdi dred&i vi ng. C
Candy laughed softly. She placed the palm of her hand
under my injured ar m. Al't | ooks
|l 6m sure it was painful.o
AThe healing wild!/ |l ook pecul i
[ be pink instead of tanned.
AUhuh. 06 She withdrew her hand
out the food. Will you help?bo0
We went aft to the galley and began carrying serving
dishes into the salon, placing them on the maidgped table
t hat was covered withelpa | inen t
your selves, 0 Candy announced to
People gathered and began serving themselves, filling their
plates with little sandwiches, fancy olives and garnishes, small
meats with toothpicks, celery sticks with cream cheese, and
other delicacies. Thecene bubbled with animated talk.
I mixed drinks as needed. Candy sat with Jules and the
Walshes as they enjoyed their snacks and conversation. A
while later, Jules Narsom tapped a wine glass with a fork and
asked for attention. The guests hushed.
i | waunt$ottake this opportunity to express my
appreciation for all the goodwatkt he cooper ati on
given the bank during the past
bank in South Florida and | know you will all help maintain
that pace inthecomingyea Agai n, my t hanks.

Wi
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The guests applauded, then resumed relishing the food and
drink. Here and there, loud laughter was heard as jokes were
told.

Darkness overtook the Hatteras, and | wondered about our

position and direction. Shortly, Candy appearethagt bar . A B
you candét make me a Trinidad, o
AOobh. 0 | shook my head. ADrin

Theydébre tough. o
Altds a rum drink, 0 she said,
stool. Her movements reminded me of milk poured slowly,
glistening wiite and smooth. She looked at the softly lighted
overhead. #dALime, bitters and su
| stepped from behind the bar and gestured toward the
space. #Altoéos all yours. Everyth
ANo, no, no. 0 %8kB¢ ltesghed. ydl
really want a Trinidad. o
ARum doesndt mix well with te
her glass. AWould you |ike anot
Al shouldndét. o She glanced ov
deep i n conversation with a sma
Ifill ed her glass. She dreamily
doing a very nice job. |l 6ve rec
Per haps . . . 0
Al appreciate the chance, 0o |
ALots of nice people. They all
A Most | y youEhrw lugbands and wives of
empl oyees. 0

I | ooked around. Khan was not
why did you introduce me to him

nOh, I dondt know. 0O She tappe
t he gl ass. AMaybe because heods
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Alnrer circle?o0
AA mover and shaker. Al though
a very key person. o

|l wiped a small sqpirlelsifdreoam . toh
AnOh yes. But-ddhenm eofartehas édr,al y «
She laughed.

ASounds | ike the . .ank is doin

Al guess so. I dondt really Kk
enjoy the benefits. o

ARSeems | i ke you have quite a
i ngredients of this party toget

Al manage, 0 she said and sipp
Shegazedatéh cr owd, and her face tur
|l ive around here? Around Fort L

I smil ed. Al dondt think weor
moment . O

At first she frowned, then | a
of me. Where do you I|live?b90

Al hangtbet Keys. 0

AMy. You dr ove odameéandlithewaway up

to Fort . . .0
Ailtds a great job. 1 6m not <co
She placed her hand in the pocket of her slacks and

withdrew a pack of paper money folded in half. She placed it in

myhandandfold my fingers over it wi.t
hope this is adequate, 0 she sai
terrific. o

AThanks. o | noted the number
outer bill.

Jul es Narsom and sever al ot he

more, 0 me,sahentoo Candy, fAlLets
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bridge, 0 | served them, they to
steps to the bridge.
I glanced at my wat ch. It was

a window and looked for lights in the distance. Reflections
confused theiew. No one was waiting near the bar so |
stepped through the door to the rail. The overcast sky glowed
dimly, lit by towns on the Florida coast. We moved slowly
toward a cluster of bright lights off the starboard bow. |
withdrew the folded money, unfoldédand by touch counted
the bills.

Music sounded. | returned to its source in the salon, where
two couples attempted to dance to a recording. The limited
space and placement of furniture interfered, but the dancers
persisted.

Some of the manedlhdledmyseftoes r e
three stuffed olives and a small cake with pink frosting. | threw
down a quick shot of Jack Daniels. | told myself | was going to
have to improve my diet. | followed the whiskey with a Pepsi.

The Hatteras now headed toward thastoFrom the side
deck | discerned four tall stacks with blinking lights dead
ahead. We entered the Lauderdale channel and turned toward
the 17" street bridge. | returned to the salon, gathered and
stacked the plates, drink glasses and assorted distiessimk,
removed the tablecloth and wiped the big table clean.

After securing the boatds moo
dock, I collected the trash, and returned all the platters and
dishes to the kitchen. Most of the guests were now gone.
Candy Narsom dared the kitchen. | asked if there was

anything else shedd |Iike me to
i No, no, 0 she said with a s mi
wonder ful. I wi s h. ) . 0
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Jules followed her in, carrying his drink.
Candy eyed Jules, then sai
We b6 liln bttouch i f we need you

| said goodbye to her and to Jules, and went to my pickup.

I had much to think about as | drove to the Keys. What
would | tell Zack? What would he think of Khan and Narsom
discussing Cuban creditfie 1Bl and the Texas project?
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CHAPTER 13

|l said, Al didnoét think 16d 1iyv

Zack didndét say anything. He
gulped some beer.

|l continued. fAYou actually ad
today. 0

Zack put the mugaivn, screwed his face into a superior
|l ook. AYou woul dnodot be sitting
frosty one at two in the aftern
wel |l . o0

AOh. Soengimearing tYsu sure itoéds n
theory?59

AHow many tvetorersind goo that catclang

your |Iimit i dhngth I evlkel Istausg fslhk
AHow about astrophysics?90
ALI sten. I watch those fishin

fishermen are pros, right? Have you ever seen ti@m
catching fish?59d

AnOkay, ok adys.n 6Ma yalset riotphysi cs.
astrophysics. 0

Zack coul dndot avoddoudregheghi ng.
hafassed one. 0

We laughed and ordered two cold ones, in new mugs. The
barmaid with the biker tattoo brought the beers in mugs
covered with lots of frosWWithahalfs nar | , she sai d,
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rate you two are drinking, | 6 m
refrigerated mugs an hour befor
Zack coul dndot resist. MAYeah,

terrific tipper this guy is, 0 h
We had run a dagharter, getting into furious fishing
less than six miles out. | was happy for that because |
hadnoét returned from the Narsom
midnight.
ASo fil!] me i n on your <cruise
when wedd run out of jabs and |

fi | rnecetalike living like the upper crust lives. That
mansion, that Hatteras, that gorgeous wadnan

AYou better stop there, Junio
report this to Julia.o

AYou wondot believe: She, this
introduced me to B. Il . Khan!o

Zack leaned forward with a quizzical look, lowered
his voice. ANo, really? The guy

I nodded. -ejesl uy, maybebPalasthny.
He and Jules Narsom referred to
and the 6Texas project. 60

Zacktook abigswallowdi eer . A You heard a
thsoon board the Hatteras?o
AYup. o

AR6bTexas project, 6 thatobs
that shrimp boé&t he o6Veronica B. 60
A .the same boat that Captali

got

man named Vincent Pragg. o | dra
recreate in my mind all the inci
Pensacol a. AKhan and Narsom t al

being worth millions. Khan complained of the cash flow. |
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got the impression that Southeastern Independent Bank is
bankrolling part of the deal.rl, they have a deadline in
September . 0
Zack closed his eyes for a mo
s ame d e dibknamwd) Bntigdes talked abduthe extra
nnehundred thousand for the o6ven
AYeah, o | sabdbtdp BAfomnahdel ive
We both dranknore beer, thinking. The Reef was empty
except for us and two fishermen with boots, sitting at the bar.

Finally | said, fAWe really ough
there. o | made some rings of wa

ATexas, you mean?o

AYeahneewk to know whatodos drivi
money. . .and people. 0

AWhat was tidé hmameé oowh ?®Dhat

Aol d Point, Il think. o | searc
sure thatoés what that guy at th

ANever heard of it.2o

AThat gaudy ah afdewh by the ti me |
said. Alt might be something el
Letds |l ook it wup.o

At Zackds trailer, I sat at t

cabinet on the wall next to the tiny galley. Inside were two

pairs ofshoes, a shelf of disassembled fishing reels, piles of

magazines, some luggage and rolls of navigation charts. In a

few minutes sorting through these, he brought a large NOAA

chart to the table, unrolled it, and held the curling edges down

with bothhands A HmMmm, 6 he said, staring

Pointd doesndét pop out at me. 0O
We both studied the chart.
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Zack said, AThe only place I
coast with a name | ike that i s
AfWhere?0 | sai d.

AHol d the damn edglkowfyduwh.ed ma
pressed the edge of the chart. Zack slid his finger to a

smal | dot north and east of Cor
see?0
AThat 6s got to be it. It és cl

in the bar say. o0
Zack let the chart roll itself up. He sat dowrite

dinette and | ooked at me. AOkay
il 6d better see what flights

Christi. Whatds our charter sch
Zack went to the front of the trailer and returned with

his appointment book. HANext two

without | ooking. o0 He paged throug

figuring on pulling the water pump on the generatdr

needs a kit. Then therebés Tish.
ATi sh? The checker over at
AYeah. We have plans. o
A U-huh. Probably steak dinner,
Zackgrinned, stopped paging and raised his eyes from

the appointment book. ALooks |

clear, then the Wi lsons and the

AWhat about Adordiad 2 Avi e hy diu mPp
Zack looked from the book to me and frowned.

| shrugged.
He sat, got out his phone and punched. He crossed a
|l eg over the other and | ooked a

Have you booked anybody on Reel Time for the next . .
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.yeah, yeah, I know. Youodll get
when . . . @k & y.e0 pHhe nrpurodife A Be
AWhat 6d he say?o0
A Ni egkrluebber . Before he even an

about money. 0

AHe has a booking?bo
ANext week. Nothing till then
AThat gives us time. You get
Ti sh. | 6 tgdllondhaand flyntg Tekas. iYou can meet
me there and see what the bad g
Zack said, Al wanna be Wyatt
ANah, o | said. AMe Tonto. You

Zack griyoesli.l viedhi, away! 0

AThat 6s pretty tame. 0

Zack took a serioWetradkdowk . fALIi
them famous bad guys all the tinéor no pay! Jesse James,
Billy the Kid, Butch Cassidy

I smiled. AYo, masked man. Bu
autographs! o

Hit#

It was after three when | got home. | compared sclesdurhd
reserved flights to Corpus Christi. | phoned Zack and gave him
the schedule for his flight. The couch was cotnfymust have
fallen asleep. The phone rang.

It was Jul i a. AnWhat have you
AHuh?O
il me an , besi desr ?bbeer and pea
AWhy are you prying into my p
AHMmM. | guess | deserved that
NRnSo?0
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Al thought 16d pick up a few
from work. | wondered if | could do something about your
rotten diet.o

Al really dondt need any whea
sesame seeds. 0

Al was act ual-bmthetoh,maskedng of ¢
potatoes, and my chicken. Baked
ANo gravy?o
ALl I right. Gravy. o
Aalf | may ask, o0 | said, Awhen
AYou know my hour s. It 611 be
| glanced at my watch and calculated. | would never
make my flight. AHow about | sa
making gravy and meet you at the Italian Garden? I think
they do chicken . . . 0
ABilly Farris! Youdre turning
and gr avbye?l ile wdeo nibtt. o
ABelieve it. I n an hour. I 61 |
HH#
Outside the wawyoofed terminal at Corpus Christi
I nternational, I picked up the

This time of night, there was very little traffic. | drove onto
South Padr Island Drive, the elevated that slices across
the city. Miles of car lots, BaB-Ques, gas stops, shopping
malls and tire stores slid behind me. The overhead sodium
lamps tinged almost everything a garish yellow tone.
| stopped at a motel with red briplorticos and a large
goldbpai nt ed eagle on the roofline
freak. The place had two double beds in a room on the
upper level. | plopped in and went asleep almost instantly.
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Early the next day | drove north from the city, over bridges
andcauseways, past construction yards where welders high up
on giant oil platforms were visible amid showers of sparks.

Next to the Intracoastal Waterway, a flat, featureless strand
gave way to a jumble of shacks, bungalows and trailers
marking the edge of & Point.

Of the onestory storefronts lining the highway, only a few
seemed to house going businesses. Dirty windows held FOR
RENT signs. On one side | saw a
office, and a small grocery. On the other side | passed The
Wagon restaant, two pawn shops and a variety store.

The townds two traffic signal
supply visual variety. A block beyond the second signal, |
sighted the giveaway vista of outriggers poking against the
sky.

| took a right onto a peltoled side road. It twisted past
Tateds bar toward the harbor. T
seaward with docked shrimp boats. Some were-stered
alongside piers, a few moored thaeep, paralleling the
wharf. Interspersed were empty piers and rustyakhsheathed
or dilapidated wooden buildings.

On the opposite side of the road, behind sagging dhmkin
and drooping or open gates, were {fmamed shops and
outbuildings. Some displayed signs advertising net repair,
shrimp for sale, or diesel servictake trucks and pickups
were parked haphazardly in weedy yards. Here and there
workers hammered on unyielding fixtures, loaded waiting
trucks, or loitered in small groups.

| drove slowly, searching for names on boats, but many
were hidden by the confusi of shacks, piers and other boats. |
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decided finding th&eronica B, if she was here, was
going to take time.
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CHAPTER 14

The road turned to gravel where the shrimp docks petered out. |
parked there and began walking back along the paved section.
| had prepared for this kind of search by wearing baggy
jeans with a hole in one knee, worn boots, and an old chambray
shirt with a brown paint stain on a sleeve. | topped it off with a
ratty ball cap that advertised
| kept to theharbor side, zigagging around fenced
barriers, empty piers and weathmraten shacks and sheds.
Searching for the names of boats sometimes meant entering
property | was not authorized to enter. | probed as respectfully
as possible, but probe | did. Ramately, | was not challenged.
Occasionally | encountered riggers, headers, or other men
wor king on or around their boat
Most of them returned the greeting.
Somewhat beyond halfay along the docks, | found the
Veronica B. The red hull with white trim was moored, stern in,
at a decrepit dock, its lines tied to heavy timbers jutting six or
eight feet above the tide line. Next to the dock was an
abandoned shack. There was no activity at the location and no
one appearedtobeabdar To avoi d suspicion
| continued my walk and returned to the Mazda. | drove
through town to the north side. There were three motels, none
appealing. | picked Sea Rest, a group of whaeted cottages.
The office was a framed shed attad to the side of a metal
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trailer perched on cement blocks. As | entered, a jingle

sounded. It came from white Christmas bells strung on a

satin ribbon hanging from the top of the door. The woman

in a print dress who appeared from behind a drape had

flunked Wei ght Watcher s-dypooeshédan
said.

AHowdy, yourself,o0o | said, im
greeting. When | inquired of th
yoal l havenahtn.foer nahnty

|l said |1 6d take it. She gave

6. With adequate wnddown and sid¢o-side motion,
the key worked. The small room had a double bed, a metal
night stand with lamp, two wooden chairs, a small TV, a
toilet and shower, and two small windows. In the window
opposite the bed was an air cormtiger. | turned it on and
it whirred. As it gained speed, the fan blades began hitting
the plastic housing, making a clatter that could be heard in
San Antonio.

| stood back about three feet, lifted my right leg and
slammed the metal base with the solengfshoe. The

clatter ceased. Cool air invade
perform mechanical miracles?

I called Zack. nAGreetings fro
the sea, o | said.

nl expected to hear from you

youdre screwing off 2?0

I been busy. o0

liss true there are more cows
Numbers dondét count. Quality
i's what matters. o

o} Sien ) e 1}
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AWhat 6s keeping you so busy?
Al | ocated the boat. o
AWhere?o0

Aln the city we discussed. 0
ADamn yomudgrawfgelt tfior mal . 0
ANot for mal, careful . l' s ther
f

Devliin stopped by today whil
pump. He had a copy of the wanted poster with the picture we
made. O

AOur bl ack gurwalskurteh adti,d ndéitd sf
said.

ASo wigathnwado now?0o

Al 61l probably go fishing, 0o I

AYou go all the way to Texas
hel p, friend. o

AGi ve my best to Julia. o

Al 611 nybeet her

ATheredbs no worry, then.o

ALet me know if you find work

AWondét fbiendhianrgd a better boss. a

off.

Il drove back toward town, and
& Tackle. | bought line, a few hooks, some bait, and a cheap
rod and reel combo encased in plastic. | felt silly buying fishing
equipment.

| stopped ér two cold cans of Pepsi at the drwve and
drove to the harbor. | parked again where the pavement turned
to gravel and walked back to where Weronica Bwas
docked. | baited up and began fishing from the dock.

Two cans of Pepsi and one eigihth cioaker later, a rusty
Dodge pickup with two men inside drove up and parked with
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the drivero6s si déeagoenhr est me. T
smooth upper eyelids that looked slightly Asian, wore a
black cowboy hat pulled low on his forehead. When he
exited | saw hevas a heavy stxooter in dirty jeans and a
blue shirt with torn sleeves. He crossed the short
gangplank to the Veronica B. and entered the deck house.
He didndt seem to notice me.
The passenger got out of the Dodge. He was shirtless,
a short muscular Lato with a backwards baseball cap that
said CAMEL. He faced into the d
urinated. When finished, he wandered onto the Veronica
B. and began heaving lines on the stern deck. He soon
spotted me and came to the bulwark across from where |

wasf i shing. fAHowdéds a fish?o0
AFine. I f you I|like little cro
Al no eat anythind outta this
his head.
AYeah?o
Al seen what gets pumped in t

shri mpers. o He grinned.
I wanted to engag e wdshim. ANoOt
down with enough whiskey, 0 | sa
CAMEL didnodét reply, but conti
gazing into the water.

I sai d, ADoesndt John Peterso
This got CAMELOG6s attention. A
Yeah. |l dmr ambBddygacol a. o

Theegn bef f to Houston. Sépose
h a truck. o

Today?b9o

Tonight, 0 he said.

O 3~ DU
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Alf you see him, tell him | 061l

He said, Al be talking to him
name?o

AJust tell him 1 toés hdlsl ol d b
know who it is. o

il tell him Pensacol a, right?
and took aim over the side.

| said, fAiYeah. oo

CAMEL spat into the water, turned and went to the far
side of the shrimp boat.

| reeled in. Minnows were stealing my bait. | bditgp and
tossed the line back into the water. After a time, | caught
another small croaker. | tossed it back, packed up, and walked
to the Mazda. After stowing the fishing gear in the trunk, |
drove to town, parked, and went into the Hot Tamale.

A tall Mexican woman with flashing dark eyes and wavy
shouldeflength hair took my order for a hatbbzen tamales.

AYou want hot, 0 she said, #dAor

AHot , Il guess. 0

AYou had these before?o0

ANo, first time.o

AYou want medium, 0 sheéesaid,
rear. In a couple minutes she returned with the tamales
wrapped in paper in a cardboard boat.

AWatch out, o0 she said, as | p
hot . o

Al thougdhd you said

ATheydre medium, but -ofheyobre

factly. | shrug@d, sat down at one of the four picnic tables at
the front. The table had a paper covering, salt and pepper, a
box of plastic forks, and a scretap jar of pepper seeds.
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AYou can have a soda, 0 the wo
pointing at two machines alormge wall. | went to one of the
machines, entered coins, and picked a Pepsi from the trough. |
returned to the table, unwrapped a steaming tamale, peeled
back the husk and bit into it. It was delicious. The-dalten
were gone in a flash.

After sunset, drove to the harbor and found an
inconspicuous location across the road from the moored
Veronica Bl parked and turned off the lights. There were lots
of Texassized mosquitos, only an occasional car, and no signs
of activity around the boat. | slumpedammy seat and waited.

A little bef oraedabad-tontrookc | oc k,
slowed as it passed. It stopped, turned, and backed toward the
Veronica B.6s dock. I tried to
couldndt quite make mygelfthaut . Thi

truck from Houston that CAMEL had spoken of.
Coming behind the truck was the Dodge with the two men
| 6d seen earlier. The Dodge par
headlights illuminating the area. CAMEL got out of the pickup
and directed the big tck as it positioned itself with the rear
toward the dock. The guy with the cowboy hat stayed inside
the pickup. The truckos | ights
now read the legend on the side of the truck. It said Estrella
Foods, Inc.
| studied the twamen as they left the cab of the Estrella
truck and passed through the pi
wore a blue, shoitleeved shirt tucked into cowpoekkinny
jeans with a belt that had a big silver buckle. The second guy
wore baggy camouflage trouseand a yellow teshirt without
a message. Since this was the truck from Houston, one of these
two men had to be John Peterson.
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The headlights of the pickup went out. The four men
gathered at the rear of the big truck, out of my view. Shortly, a
deck ligh onVeronica B.came on.

| strained to see the action, although the draped nets
hanging from the frames on the boat interfered. All four men
seemed to be wrestling with what looked like a large box that
had apparently been removed from the rear of thelst
truck.

Soon the men shifted a second, similar box, onto the deck.
During a pause, the guy in the cowboy hat went into the deck
house. I nterior | ights came on.
with loud sputtering. Smoke issued from its stack. Aftfava
more minutes, cowboy hat joined the other men on deck where
it looked like they heaved on a large hatch or something
similar.

Confusing actions involving the rigging followed. A boom
swung around toward the stern.
increased. @e of the two boxes seemed to rise clear of the
deck. It stopped, then moved sideways, with men apparently
guiding it. It stopped again, then slowly disappeared from
view. | guessed it had descended into a hatch. After more
movements by the men, the sectadt went through similar
motions and also disappeared.

| detected voices during these actions, but could not
discern words.

Foll owing the handling of the
motor stopped. Two of the men debarked and paused near the
two trucks.One of them laughed. They appeared to be the
same men whooéd arrived in the E
and its motor started. Headlights came on, and it pulled away. |
ducked below the dash to avoid the beam of its headlights as it
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swung pastThe trick drove off in a direction opposite to that
of its arrival.

More lights came on in the deck house. Through one of the
portholes | could detect some movements by the two men
I nsi de. | coul dndot determine wh
t hey di d nsigh of gotvering ufslemopica B. waited
for about twenty minutes during which the two men in the boat
showed no signs of leaving. It was past eleven, so | started the

Mazdads motor, eased from my pa
road a short distance bef@witching on my headlights.
|l drove to Tateds bar. As | a

layout. The building was low and sheabfed, with parking in
front and on one side, on gravel. There was no outdoor
lighting, just dim light from a streetlamp sometdisce to the
north. There were a hadfozen vehicles present, although the
Estrella Foods truck was not there. All the vehicles in the front
were parked heaih to the building, with one vehicle parked
on the side, also parked head
| pulled into the Iband backed up on the far side of the car
parked on the side of Tateds. T
lights. From where | was, | could see the front parking area,
where there was room for several more parked cars.
I roll ed down tduedsafcountryer 6 s wi
music drifted in.
| waited, fighting off drowsiness by counting the number
of windows in the building, the number of letters in the neon
beer signs, anything.
Headlights from a red pickup flared from the entrance to
the lot. It parked. Tw men got out, talking words too muffled
by the distance to understand. One of them wore camouflaged
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pants. They | ooked | i ke the two
Houston in the Estrella Foods truck. They entered the bar.

| waited a few minutes, got out of the Maztal strolled
to the front and entered.

The inside was divided into two rooms. One contained the
bar, a rough wooden affair with bamboo decoration tacked to
its front and a cash register. A woman tended behind it. To the
left was a room with tables, a tihance floor, and a tiny
bandstand to matéhwithout a band. A jukebox against the far
wall jangled at high volume playing a western lament.

| saw the two men seated at a table in the left room. |
confirmed they were the two men from the Estrella truck.

| selected a table near them with an easy view of the
entrance and sat down. The music was so loud the two men
almost shouted over it to be heard. This made eavesdropping
easy.
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CHAPTER 15

A big letter O6P6 could be seen

farthest from me, so | guessed he was John Peterson. He and

the younger man in the camouflage trousers were talking about

some girls theydd encountered.
The waitress took their order and then mine, and soon

returned. She served them longneck Budwiesersthaydran a

tab. They didndét pay any attent
| paid for my Coors and laid a tip on the table. | drank

some of my beer and looked around. Mostly men, except for

two couples laughing loudly at the bar. Dingy interior, with

several loose acousticds overhead that looked like they

might fall off. The fluorescent lamps providing lighting had

covers partially covered with blue paint to provide

6at mosphereb.

For a ti me, the Estrella men
mi Sssi on. Then, nPeterbenssack, ha
week. 0

AHow come?0 camoufl age said.
AGarth says we dondét go back
week. 0O

Al aindt gonna miss making th
Peterson paused the | ift of h
that ?o0
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iYou Kk n olke that ngighbodhbod. Scares shit
outta me. o

AAw Handy, 06 Peterson said, ta
bottle. #Alt ai naobty st hyaotu bgaodt. tJou si
chuckled. AReminds me of a Cong
know what 6semge@dos ol ¢és |ilntywou.

thedaytimé you see O6em coming. o0
AScares shit outta me. o0 Camou
his mouth. AHow much | onger we
shit?o
ATill we get this here big de
Petersorogled the waitress and smiled at her. She ignored him.

AWhenodés this here pickup at t
ADunno. Garth says he dono6t Kk
AShit, o Camoufl age said; Al w
horse town. o He tipped his |1 ong

AYoubtaigwot t hatwhordgbivn, bt 6s a
Peterson said, laughing. Handy gave him a quick sober look,
then he burst into laughter.

Peterson set his bottle on the table, wiped his mouth with
the back of his hand. Al gotta

happy when we sail off in that
Al 6l 1l be whot@ads hi swonand t hr
pi ckups. | 61 | be happy enough t
Camouflage said, shaking his head.
ASailing cross the Gulf and b

v a c a tPeterson said, turning his bottle round and round on
top of the table.

ABonus time! o Camoufl age grin
with his hand for empihtad shomwo
ti me! o
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The entrance door opened and CAMEL entered. | froze for
a fast second. | tried to swallow, but the football in my throat
interfered.

| stood up fast, walked directly toward CAMEL, blocking
his view of the Estrella men. | stopped in front of him.

AHowdy, o | said with a smile. 0

gettingt he word to John. Il tds just
CAMEL gave me a questioning look. A fraction of a

second | ater, ©Bé gememéber FO,
ASorry,o | said, @Al got to ru

| rounded him and went out throughthedoway hedd |
left. Outside, | sprinted to the Mazda, started it and threw it
into gear. | tore out of the parking lot, spitting gravel.

I gl anced back and saw the en
still closed. For all I knew, those three guys spent theofest

the night in Tateds trying to f
handsome stranger from Pensacola was.
HH#

It was after two the next day before | made my way slowly
down the jetway behind an aged lady with a cane.

Miami International was not crowded. Witheplky of
time before the commute left, | strolled down the long
corridor, thinking. | passed a long row of windows and
noted the leaden atmosphere. Soon it would rain, |
predicted. As | rounded a corner by a Juice Bar, my
attention was arrested by an apmtuag bronze face with
a familiar smile full of white teeth.

AYoubre a hard man to find, o
He wore a plaid suit. His knitted tie was loosened at the
neck. His hands were in his trouser pockets, everything
relaxed.
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AYoubre nbbddoi hgstod,-ondroppi
bag to the floor.

Al tried to get hold of you i

handshake; | accepted. ABut no
ASo natwurally, you went direc
He grinned, | ooked at the flo
AwWnhas up?0o
AWe have some new information
t hought 1 6d share it with you.o

| picked up my carrpn and we moved to the side of the

aisle. ANot to cramp your style
again. ABut that soumnmds. di ke so

He grinned again. fAAs in Hans

| nodded.

AROkay. We do have information
He smiled with a trace of sheep
to rely on the good will of air

AUhuh, o | said.

Eppingpn nodded. #AOkay, you were
relatives, or frienddi n Cor pus Christi, rig

ANow wait a minut e, Mar k

AiLet me tell you. When | was

chess team. Opening thrusts may develop into aggression.
Moves thatare too aggressive often produce losses that leave
both sides weak. This is why most games end in draws. You
see where |1 d6m going?o

ARi ght now, Ishoahdsbde wWhemg. o
upmycarryon and pointed. AMy f 1l ight
mi nut es. 0

Mark matched my pace as | headed for the gate. | said,
ARegarding your point about the
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what happens when the chess board is knocked over and
all the chessmen end up on the

AWhat | 6m saying i sadraw.ou and
I f we keep this up, nobody wins

| stopped. Eppington stopped and turned toward me. |
said, AHave | done something th
sky?o

He resumed wal king. Al woul dn
said. AThe agency <«dmsdofanes st e
Percheron, but ware dedicated to justice. You could be
very hel pful in that endeavor. o
me. ANot that we dondt apprecia
given us. o0

ASure. But |1 6m notdoh @dganbdhner
workf or the government. 0O

AThat 6s fair.o He went silent
before you fly home, if we could just chat quietly for a few
minut es . : . O

AHeck yes, Mark.o | glanced a
enjoy chatting with you.

We arrived and found a cple of chairs out of earshot

of waiting passengers. Eppingto

have a persah an informed who thinks the person in the

sketch, Vincent Praggbds killer,
AChristine is Carlos Silvan. o
Al f this per sodsguisedasa ght , Si |

woman when he entered your
ASport fish. o
ASpordtl fniesvker get that right. o
his head. AHow does that wor k,
observations during the inciden
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AWell , it took s oniehanu saalye ot ol
cast my mind back to the hijack
Christine never said anything. o

Eppington nodded. #dAlf the sus
Cuban citizen who may have ties to drug activity in south
FIl orida. o

Al sndt d,r ugh a.c-hisnameétwh at 0 s
Howl andger és responsibility?o

ADoug Howl andger. Yes, hebs D
is interstate crime and threats to the government. But there is a
certain overlap. | hope you understand. And as you may know,
interagency coopeat i on i snd6t al ways as ¢

AUhuh. Turf wars and -anoh t hat
an adjacent chair.

AWe try to avoid that term.o

Il smiled. ABut maybeof-you have
i nformation | awsuit to find out

Awoul dnét say that. o Eppingto
ACarl os Silvan may be a bit pla
player. |1 tdéds possible he works
some other government. Our file is thin. When you boil it all
down, we 0r ¢ainthis is theeperson in theesketch

that you and Zack hel ped create
I wondered why Eppington was
RnSo we had a thought. We thou
personally identify whether or
Christine on boar&eel Time 0
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CHAPTER 16

Mark Eppington just told me he was thinking | could

personally identify Vincent Pra
ASure, o | said. AYou have a m
AThat 6s the problem. We donot
As | said, our file is thin.o
Al dgoentd6tit, 0o | said. Al though

the-eyein-the-sky tracked him on that trawler to Cuba.

How come you didndédt get a photo
Altés complicated. We have so

distant shots. None of what we have will suffice for

accurate, certa identification. For that we would need

well-lighted closeupd | i ke mug shots. o
ASo you havienb6t been abl e
Al candt get into detail, Bi l
Silvan is slippery. Hebés good a
shows up where hdbds dexpeatred. | A
say . . .0 Eppington shook his
ANot airtight, o | said. Al ge
ATi me i s of the essence, and

scheduled. If he shows up for the meeting, and if you were
there . . .O

AWhat ?0
AThat 6s wher e nfficanthetpoOf | d be of
course itos entirely voluntary.
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ASure, voluntary. But even if
who killed Vincent, hebéd recogn
AOf course. Youb6bd have to be
I | aughed. Al nconspichHowus. Yo
does inconspicuous wor k?o
AWedll arrange that youdre no
Eppingtonds expression became m
anirregular procedudeand t here is some dan

being an FBI informant. We would have prdtens in place,
of course, you know, other agents. But you would need to

of fer, so to speak. o
|l didnét | ike the sound of 060
identify this guy as Vincentos
AThat 6s evidence we seek. But

dey his arrest. o
iBut t hat would mean heds a m

AfBecause if he is an agent of
play beyond Vincentds murder is
what that consists of. o0

ARSo the Bureau is mwiilfl imgddg oa
murderer, just wander around?o

Eppington drew back. ALook Bi
with maintaining the countryos
know this man is who we suspect, and whether he represents a
threat, we have to regard him as sonewho, by his actions,
will reveal what he is involved in. If we arrest him too soon,
we may never learn of a larger threat, if there is one. Do you
see the dil emma?o
Al sort of wunderstand. But wh
is who you think, fromhunting Zack and me down and killing

us ? o0
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AFirst, he doesndt know we ca
Vincent Praggdés killer. Second,
i1l egal activity with no arrest
too clever to be catuvepterted He | i k

Third, we will be watching him. For these reasons, and
others, we think idtoruiZlaickeloy he
AUhuh. 06 What Mark said sounde
sounded like the promises made in TV commercials for
vegetable processors.
Eppingtm st udied me. #AAlIthough we

|l realize this is a tough call
My mind was already made up.
as you think. When do we begin?

Eppington | ooked relieved. AW
day yet. o0 He st oaomdv,ud.0lAdAAgedodrr
you. O

Al bet you will.o0o | took my b
stood. We shook hands. He clapped me on the shoulder.

AHave a good flight. And thanks
| watched as his tall frame receded down the corridor

in graceful strides. | returned tioe boarding area and soon

was aboard the airplane, trying to feel for the end of my

lap belt.
AFor your comfort and safety

and gentl emen . . .0 droned the
6Comfort and safety,d6 | thoug
shapingup slightly short on both accounts.
#i#

When | arrived at the airport, it was raining. | was soaked by
the time | got to my pickup. As | pulled from my spot, smokey
clouds skittered across the sky and sheets of rain raced for
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pavement drains. My wipers ledy kept a small area of the
windshield clear.

By the time | got home, it had stopped, although water still
gushed from roofs and downspouts. There was a wet note from
Zack stuck in my door. | grabbed it, let myself in, threw off the
wet clothes and donnedy robe.

I punched Zackdés number . When
AWhat 6s the panic?o

Al 6l 1 be there as quick as |
went off.

I was unpacking when Zack drove up and threw open the
door.

ADonét bother knocking, o | sa

Hi s face was pale. AThe money

AHow do you know??o

AHow t he thiekl | kdhowpaou

AYou dug it wup.o | threw dirt
the floor.

AWill you stop throwing your

| straightened and looked blanklyram.

Hi s expression was pained. fAH
know itéds gone?o0

I said, Al thought we agreed

He now saw my calm. AYou donod
turned and shut the door, swung back with one eyebrow raised.
ADi d you . . . 0

I noddedfi Ye a h. | was afraid youodd
So | dug it wup.o

AwWell, you horseds ass. You f

AThe moneyobdés safe, Zack. o
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Hi s hand slid over his mout h.
He didnét want to further his e
stupidexcuses to his action. | went to the refrigerator,
pulled out two cans of beer and handed one to him. | sat on
the couch and took a swallow, not looking at him. He

tossed back half a can, then ab
are you dressed like you justgotut of bed? o0

Al't was pouring rain when | g
soaked. o

ATexas didndét 1 mprove you any
my bar e | ekgmse e di Knso bebwer . 0

ARTexas has charms youodoll only

AYou mean you got | aid?o

Al 6m refeotri ngmalbes he h

AMe too, 0 Zack said, and we b

| told him about locating theeronica B, watching
the boxes from Houston being loaded from the Estrella
Foods truck onto the shrimper,
done at Tateds BaguyinPeRsmcola mber w
said about the mission?o

Zack paused. AYou mean shippi
A U-huh. Those boxes could be f
nAw, come on. Boxes that big?
wi de. ALoaded with money?o0
ACoul d be. Deal ers tagke in sm

like fives, tens, twenties. So the wholesaler ends up with

stacks and stacks of small bills. Now how will the

kingpins, the supplier of the drugs, get rid of mountains of

bills, millions of dollars in s
AThey weigh the money?0o0
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APossn bdryy dase, they candt t
forklift and ask the teller to deposit it to their money market

mar ket account. That might | ook
iYeah, wel |, I never really g
thereds a | aw about dtep.os.it.itng
Al think a c as-thoushedgalashbstoo f o v
be reported by the bank. [Itds a
di scourage money | aundering. o

Zack took another big gulp of
problem | wish | had, trying to deposnountains of money. So

you figure theyodre | oading al/l
takeidwher e?0
AThe guy | think is Peterson

the gulf.d He didndot say where.
to the bedroom, and put on $teclothes. When | rejoined
Zack, I sai d, APet-pantsguyalsand t he
said something about a pickup a
threw it on over my tee, and told Zack about being surprised by
Eppington at Miami International. | detadlevhat he said about
Carlos Silvan.

AAn i nformer has identified h
that you and | created at the Miramar FBI. He may be a mid
level drug dealer, an agent of some foreign country, even a
terrorisB Eppi ngt on sai daemehdur eau d
him. o

AYou think Carl os i-shipgingvol ved
in theVeronica B? 0

I took a drink of my beer. nJ
was the guy who arranged Estrel
boat. Heds myst erseeawhasatherpartet ty d

he may play. o
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AWe know Estrella Foods is a
with his can of beer. AWi th Kha
to some kind of big deal . o

AEnrique. 0

AYeah. I have difficulty keep
guys. 0 He ifbeeri shed off h

AYou never know, o0 | sai d. i Ma

take the money to Cuba. Maybe t
there with some bank that will accept bales of drug money.

Carl os is Cuban, so he might be
i TAWeroncaBhas enough range. 0 Zac
his can. ADidnét the seller say
mi |l es?o0
AYeah, thatds what Captain Br
AAnd a shrimp boat doesndt | o
of Mexi co. But . : . 0

But what ?0

It 6s sl ow, 0 Kiatckh esm,i dwhH aroan It e
deposited the can. AAt ten knot
U.S. surveillance to track it. And the Cuban coast patrol

would have an easy time intercepting them off the Cuban

coast . o

o 1 i 1

AfYeah. Maybe theydoll take it
Panama. o
AFom Texas?0 Zack returned. ]

make the turn at the Yucatan Chatnelh at 6 s got to b
better than eighteemundred miles. And it would be risky,
trying to get past port authori

AThe answer is, rtheyTmhey dc an d1
clear that cargo through | eqgiti
Zack frowned. Alt doesnodt fig
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AWhat ?o0

AUnl ess they plan to rendezvo
cleared vessel, say from Cuba. They could transfer the boxes of
money at sea. o

AThet hey wouldn6t need a frie

Alf they transferred the carg
thetwentyf our t h parallel, north of
hard to spot visually, |like fro
ASounds possi bdteadwittHatosridead . Ye't
were just guesses. We could be wildly wrong on every detail,
including whether those boxes were filled with money, with
contraband, or with legitimate cargo.
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CHAPTER 17
AWhat do you mean, you d?2oonoét kn
Julia | ooked at me and | aughe

better than to spit.o
RnCand6t eat watermelon without
took a bite and spit, demonstrating my best form. The seed

bounced off Juliads porch into

AHey, o0 Bdhend&taigdpit seeds into
They might sprout. o

Alf they grow enough, we <can
another bite and spit several seeds.

Julia | aughed again. fAYoudre

| grinned at her impish laugh. It had been a hectic
weekend wittbackto-back charters oReel Timel was
glad for this Monday off. When | saw watermelons piled
outside the grocery, I coul dnodt
was parked in the loZack wasat the end of the checkqut
flashing his smile and being clever for the benefit of Tish.

Tish liked that. She giggled. When she giggled, her
whole body participated. Zack liked that.

When | brought the melon to J
kitchen sink and added ice from her fridgearound. It
was tedious waiting till it got cold, but now there was only
a small piece left.
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Altés nice we both have a day
deck with her feet on the steps.

A U-huh. | 6mdbejoygi wgt ht you. 0 W
the glow ofthe afternoon, wanting time to halt so we could
catch up with each other.

The sultry air brought sweat
move. One instant | caught Jul i
of hair and it seemed we shared some idyllic secret. Bhgin
next instant it was gone in the breath of thesbaore breeze.

A rattle and crunch announced
van. It rounded the corner and shuddered to a stop behind my
parked pickup.

Al thought | might cateh you,
van. AYou werendt home, so
come with me. 0

ANow?0 | stood up and frowned

AYup. O

AWhat for?0

ADamned i f | Kknow. | 6m suppos
four. o He pushed his sleeve up
donét have muc . . |l etds go. o0

AWait a minute. Il s this an ar

ANope. But they said youdd co
Aut horized by Mark Eppington. o

I started toward the door. i O
wat ermel on off my hands. 0

Inside, Julia followed metothesink A The FBI . Whe

this about ?o0
Al agreed to help Eppington o
my hands in the ice water. As she handed me a towel, her eyes

searched mine. | wiped my hands and kissed her on the lips.
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Altés more than ayfafioryot &hebk
careful, okay?o

I nodded and joined Devlin in the van.

When we reached the Overseas Highway, Devlin
turned on the flashing lights and the siren. Despite the
traffic, we made good time to Marathon. At the airport,
Devlin took a side road ta fenced area at the far end of
the field, near an unmarked metal building. A man opened
a chainlink gate, and Devlin pulled to a stop near a yellow
and white helicopter.

ATheredbs your ride, o Devlin s
chopper. | went to the neatesde. A guy in helmet and
flight gear came up, opened a door and motioned for me to
enter. Once | was seated behind the pilot, the guy threw a
life jacket over my head, pointed to its front buckles, and
pulled a lap belt over my middle. He handed metake
what looked like earphones and pointed at his own ear
protectors and nodded. He closed the door, and tested that
it was securely latched.

The turbine whined loudly and the big blades began
turning. The guy in the helmet circled, bent beneath the
propdler wash, entered the other side of the cabin, and
took a seat next to the pilot. The turbine wound up with a
roar, we lifted off the ground to a height of a few feet. We
turned around, rose a little more, tipped forward and
skimmed loudly to the northetas

The chopper bumped along like a truck with loose
springs on a washboard road. Sliding off to my right was
the string of Keys and reefs, lumps of shell, coral and
drifted sand seemingly held together by the concrete
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ribbon of the Overseas Highway. Sooa were over open
water.

Land arrived again in the form of the green denseness of
the Everglades.

As Miami International came into view, we slowed. We
dropped to a few hundred feet and slowly glided to a landing
near a long shed with a metal roof ancbitgn windsock.
Parked near the helipad was a white Dodge van. A man
standing by the passengerodéds doo
chopper.

AAgent Halliday, 0 he said. AY
hands, he followed me into the van. He thumbed toward the
driveri n front . A Tohwies ciad | Wihs kne Wk is
Whiskey drove out and onto an exit road. Within minutes we
were at the posted limit on the Expressway.

HH#H
ARGood to see you, Billy, o Eppin
security and taken the elevator insible glassclad building.
I smiled. AThat chopper sure
Hi ghway. 0
AHave a seat and 10l I brief vy
so excuse me if | run through t

handwritten not es .moirinfosnant. got wo
He says Carlos Silvan is supposed to attend a meeting tonight
at Los Caballeros, a Cuban restaurant here in Miami. | called
you right away, but failed to r
AWe havendt | earned what the
wh o6 s a ttmighhbe a drug deal meeting or it might be
somet hing el se. 0
AWhat does Doug Howlandger sa
drug deal ?0
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ADougbébs out of town at the mo
checked in with me, so he may not know about the
meeting. O

ASo t hisani sFBslt roipcetrlayt i on? 0

ANo. We continue our cooperat
some of the operation and weodre
Nevertheless. o0 Eppington said w
Al &m running the show. 0

| found this last comment comforting.

AAfteryowe dietgui sed, I 61 1 han
Lorenzo. Hebds an expert when it
heds smart, and knows the ropes
i n his hands. Hedol | brief you o
the restaurant . Questions?o0

Al 61 1 at WMiorkkenofan hour from now

Eppington | ed me to the el eva
want you to know how much | app

doing. Without it, we might be tagging the wrong rdaan

very worrisome outcome. O
We exited the elevator and entered an unedudoor

a few steps past a water cooler. Eppington held the door

and in a |l oud voice said, i M. L
A short thin man in a white lab coat came from behind
a corner wall. AOh, i1itdés you, M

youdd be here tsomen. oilHes eleo oykoeudd \
brought my subject. o
Eppington introduced M. L. White, and we shook

hands. I thought about his use
AnMal e or femal e?0 M. L. sai d.
Eppington | aughed. AHe 61 | do
mal e. O
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|l turned toaMchdaicé@®Do | get
M. L. said, Al keep hoping th
Caucasian into an I ndonesian be

Eppington shook his head, swung his focus upward.
AGuybs a true flake. 0
To M. L. |l said, ACan you tur
ASorr.y, L0 Mai d, AYour ears wor
out .o He cupped his hands behin
AGot to run, 0 Eppington said.
|l eave. 0 He stepped through the
M. L. shuffled around me like he was examining the tires
on a used car. AHMM, 06 he said.
which looked like the interior of a salon, with mirrors on
opposing walls.
| sat in one of the two barber chairs while he searched
throughmat eri als i n several cabinet
start with a dark wig and horn
while he thought of other treatments.
6 Men at wo & What&radiness thaveusgnthe
nooks and crannies of law enforcement.
Awdondot go in for skin mods,
theatrical. We try to stick to simple strategies that are effective
and comfortable. o
ASkin mods?0o0

ARnCosmetics. Darkening cr eams,
Know. O

AYeah. I gener al Ityoos.téteer <cl ea

AVery 1 mportant for the | adie

AUnl ess youobre trying to chan
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AHold still, there, Billy, o0 h
darkr i mmed spectacles on my face.
right fit.o He amethergpahat asi de a

After a short time, M. L. asked me to look in the
mirror. | faced a dark haired, older man with heavy, dark
spectacles and a short, thin mustache.

M. L. sai d, Al think even you
confused, at | east momentarily.

Al stgltéehaegges, 0 | said.

ASure. We could change that w
because youdbre not a contact we
uncomfortable. We dondétd want to
that i s your major job today. o

follow him. A0C&kayhowWowou &t & sggio
dress. o0
HH#H
Agent Lorenzo was no taller than me, and overweight. His
belly flowed over the top of his trousers. He wore a sports
jacket and stegimmed glasses that rested low on his nose. He

was, | etds say, fhetedemoticed® | v you
yet his jet black hair, dark eyes and skin were a bonus for this
operation. Hedd blend without ¢
neighborhood.

He drove a gray, twyearold Chevy with a crease in

the right front fender that had turned brownhanust.

Invisible under the dash was a powerful radio set that

sputtered occasionally with short agémagent messages.

Once, Lorenzo spoke briefly to the radio, although |

couldndét detect a microphone on
We were headed north on"82venue when & said,

AHow6d you get yourself into th
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Al volunteered. o

He nodded. ADi dndét anybody ev

AEppi ngtonds very persuasi ve,

As Lorenzo laughed, his belly wobbled.

We stopped for a traffic sign
plans. Plan A is what weodre goi
going to do when Plan A goes wr

ASavvy. o

APl an A is, we get a table ne
food i mmedi ately, just a coupl e

| chuckl edy. &iOccasionall

ADrink sl ow. Make it | ast. Ev
something to eat. Eat slow. Drink a lot of water, keep the
waiter busy bringing water. Sav

ASavvy. o0

The signal turned green. We moved across a bumpy
intersection.

Al f you $ehesudpdadea mdarikf heds t he
you know, you ask me to pass the sugar. Meanwhile, arrange
your knife so it points to the guy you identify. You got that?

| assured him | understood.

NnOkay. l6l'l take it from ther
around a doublparked vegetable truck.

ANow Pl an B. I n case 66 gun s

AGun shots?0o0

AJust a figure of speech. It
Savvy?o0

AOkay . : . 0

Aln case of any violence, you

youcanasfastasyoucdhay cl ose attenti on
you out of there. Now for any other defects in Plan A, just
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|l i sten to me. Pay no attention
you what to do. You got that?0o
Al think so. o

We crossed the Miami river. Rusty freighters flying
exotic Caribbean flags squatted next to dockside

warehouses.
AWhatever you do, dondét stare
him even guess youdbre | ooking a
Al think I can handle that. o

AGood. O

Lorenzo turned left onto a street made narrow by
angleparked cars on our side. When he found an empty
slot, he parked the Chevy.

A block down and around the corner was Dos
Caballeros.
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CHAPTER 18

Lorenzo led me into Dos Caballeros. Inside the entrance
we pushed through swinging doors. The place was crowded,
and loud with the clatter of plates banging against plates and
voices talking and laughing. Waiters in white shirts with white
towels around their waists scurried about. As soon as we
pushed through, a man about sixty dressed in a dark suit and tie
confrot ed us. He carried a sheaf o
he said.
Lorenzo smiled and spoke with him in Spanish. The host
led us to a table fairly close to the entrance, but left no menus.
The table was set with a white cloth, napkins, and silver.
Overhead, &an chopped at the smoky air.
| glanced around, and saw no one familiar. Lorenzo
pointed me to a chair with a view of the entire room. He took a
chair to my right that faced the entrance.
A waiter arrived. AaQue va a
ADos cer ves adollovedlbpan enfamibar s ai d,
brand.
The waiter brought two bottles and two glasses. He laid
two menus on the table. We poured our beers and sipped.

Al 611l order for you, 0O Lorenzo
closer to his eyes with a finger while staring at thesnm
AWhat do you | i ke?o0

Al Ii ke 1t spicy. Il s the food
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inS®o0. 0 He rocked his hand, pa
Several couples arrived and were seated. | scanned
each furtively, wondering if my

face would allow me to identify Carlos. | alsvorried that
my disguise would not hide my identity.

Lorenzo continued reading the
something mediusmf or bot h of wus. You wo
understand these . . . 0

Most of the patrons appeared to be Latins, although
some looked Angldike. As steaing dishes of black
beans and rice were served at a table near us, the aroma of
onion, garlic and cilantro wafted to us.

Lorenzo looked up from the menu, sniffed, and

foll owed my gaze. fAMoors and Ch
AWhat ?0
Altés tradi sandwhitdrice.TBé ac k bean
beans are the Moors, the rice C
AAnd both get eaten. o | <chuck
there, you suppose?0

| sipped my beer. Two men came through the
swinging doors. The near one was not familiar. The one on
the far side wasompletely bald. A shiver ran through me
as he turned. | immediately recognized the face of
Christine this was Carlos.

Al t hough it had been a while
silently gazing aReel Tmé s wake during the h
and despite the unexpedtbald head, the face was one |
could not forget.

The host showed the two men to a table near the wall
to my right.
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Our waiter returned, and Lorenzo ordered. When the
wai ter | eft, |l said, APass the
Lorenzods eyes met mind e. I re
aligned the blade toward Carlos. The blade now pointed behind
Lorenzo, but he made no effort to look. He simply nodded.
With due care, | stole stealthy glances at Carlos. He
seemed in serious conversation with his companion, a thick
necked man with adavy mustache. The waiter came to their
table, and they ordered. It was at this moment that | noticed a
bulge in the left lapel of thethistk e c k ed manés sui t
diverted my eyes back to our table, and noticed there was a
similar Dbul getcaath Lor enzo6s spo
As the waiter brought our first course, steaming bowls of
soup, | saw two men standing next to the swinging doors. They
had apparently just entered Dos Caballeros.
Both menés faces swung side t
One of them gestured the other. They pushed through the
doors where they were met by the host with a sheaf of menus.
They engaged in a brief intense conversation with the host.
After a moment he nodded and led them toward the table
where Carlos and his companion were seatedhey passed
within a couple yards of our table, | realized that the shorter of
the two men was B.I. Khan.
To cover my surprise, | quickly spooned some of my soup
to my mout h. A ®thesodpobdurnkd me/kips.] ai me
Lorenzo frowned at me, glancetthe two men being led by
the host, and back toward me. He spooned some of his soup,
brought it to his lips, and blew carefully to cool it. When he
tasted the soup, he murmured a sound that meant delicious.

150



Dangerous Parallel

The two men greeted Carlos and his companidheat

| atterbds tabl e, and Khan and hi
join them.

Lorenzo backed his chair from the table and said,
Abscuse me. 0 He wiped his 1ips

finger, stood, turned and walked toward the rear of the
room withoul ooki ng toward the four m
watched as he entered a room through a door labeled
ACaball eros. o
Furtively, | glanced again at the four men. The waiter
was now serving them drinks. They were talking,
earnestly, mainly Carlos to Khan, who was seatitd his
back to me. Carlos looked unhappy, often tilting his head
tothe side. Thethick ec k ed one di dnodét say
Khanés companion, with dark cur
around his neck, looked Latin. Only Cadothe Cubad
did not look Latin.
| tried hard to assess whether either Khan or Carlos
recognized me, but it was impossible to tell. They had not
turned in my direction. But because these were men
potentially expert at deception, | chillingly realized |
should assume t heyaduldl i denti fi ed
communicate my fear to Lorenzo?
Lorenzo returned from the restroom and | saw that he
carefully observed the men at the table with Carlos as he
walked between tables. He sat down and pushed a piece of

toil et paper toward me. On it,
room, the doors, and squares éair table and the table
with the four men. Around the s

drawn four circles representing the four men. He placed
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his pencil on the toilet paper
drawn and stared at me.
| took the pencilandplacd an fAx6 inside th
indicating Carlos. Lorenzo glanced at my mark, slid the paper
to him and stuffed it into his
about eating slow, 0 he said. AE
The waiter brought our main dishes. Lorenzo took four big
bites, shook his head in enj oyme

signaled the waiter, who gave him the bill. He placed a wad of
cash next to the bill, and stood up. | followed, and we left the
table.

As we pushed out through the swinging doors, Lorenzo
mutterel, A No wonder | get gas. 0 Ou
keys to the Chevy. ARGet the car
waiting. o

| hurried around the corner, still excited by sighting both
Carlos and Khan. | trotted to the Chevy, not knowing what
Lorenzo planné to do. | got into the car, started it and backed
out of the slot.

Lorenzo was standing between the corner and Dos
Caballeros. It was a street with parajpalrked cars. When he

saw me, he hurried around to th
toacomplets t o p . AMove over, o0 he ord
Oparkdé and compli ed.

He drove forward a few dozen yards beyond the entrance
to the restaurant, and doulgarked, with the motor running.
As he set the handbrake he said
two-six. Got a positive. We have two parties of two. Standing
by. o
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The radio under the dash <crac
And two parties of two, 0 a mal e
sai d;f ofiuTre no

Lorenzo readjusted the outside rea@w mirror to
permit him to vew the entrance to Dos Caballeros. We
waited.

| considered what | should tell Lorenzo. He probably
di dnét know Khan and didndét kno
Khan, so | decided not to mention that Khan was part of

the group. Al donodtoftkaseow, but i
guys recognized me, o0 | said.
AYou mean Carlos, 0 he said, g
AYeah, but he might not | et o
lamely.

The sun had set but it was not yet dark. Cars came by
in our lane, drivers annoyed. One honked at us for
blocking the lane. An Anglo man with a Latin woman
walked toward us, and entered an old Camaro parked
ahead of us. When the Camaro pulled out of the parking
space, Lorenzo pulled into the space, but left the motor
running. He readjusted the outside mirror, placed his
fingers on his glasses and pushed them closer to his eyes.
After a time, the radio crack
up?o0
Lorenzo kept his eyes on the
Two-si X . O
Another fifteen minutes passed. | felt like a benched
football player, unconafrtable, anxious to know the score,
but wishing not to interfere with a winning play. The
Chevy motor droned on, abetted by thecainditioner that
whooshed a continuous blast of cold air.
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The interior grew chilly, and finally, very cold. Lorenzo
d i dnotice and never let his view stray from the mirror.
Lorenzo snapped to the radio,

guys 1 n suit coats. Heds the ba
ARoger, 0 a voice replied. fAWe
A short time | ater, a voice f
Ford vanSouthontwentf i ft h. You see it, E
Anot her voice replied, HfAPicki

Lorenzo spok esixuSecprel party. Repeatfii T w o
second party of two. Two guys, one blue jacket, one brown
suit.o

ARoger . o0 This voiimeorwasf f ol |l o
silence. Then the voiceSketurne
Heading south . . . no, turned down the alley. Mack, can you
get back there . : . 0

Lorenzo abruptly swiveled in his seat toward the rear. A
brown Mercedes flashed by us going nottbrenzo pulled
from the parking siaPiekingupayi ng
the Mercedes. 0 He pulled into t
the car parked in front, and accelerated.
The Mercedes ahead turned right at the next intersection,
and disappearetlorenzo pressed the gas pedal. The rear tires
chirped.
ANot supposed to do this, o0 he
The intersection had a stop sign, but Lorenzo only slowed,
saw no cross traffic, and swung right. | yanked the-dark
rimmed eyeglasses from my face to see notearly. The
Mercedes was nearly two blocks ahead.
The radi o chisripxe.d.Wefi Gckoapyy,. 0 wo
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Lorenzo accelerated to highwa
hauling ass, 0 Lorenzo said. fHe
happened?o0

The radio didndot reply.

The Mercedes, nodistant, turned left.

Lorenzo gave it more gas. | held on to my seat belt,
figuring we were going to crash. Luckily, there was little
cross traffic.

Lorenzo glanced at me. AThi s

AThink so,0 | said, meaning t
Mercedes turnetift.

The radi o snappeddowéa&l ve us vy
intercept. o

Lorenzo threw the car left, just in front of a car
approaching on the cross street. Our tires squealed and the
other car braked. The Mercedes was quite a ways ahead,
although lack of lightnade it hard to see.

ABull shit, o Lorenzo said, to
way without | ights and siren. o

The Mercedes, now a long way ahead, took a right
and disappeared.

Lorenzo slowed as we came to that intersection. We
turned ont o a cabtcwwidlectyhar t ery. i
wasnodt creamed. 0O

| got a quick glimpse of a street sign. It read N.W" 54
St. Straining to see in the dusky distance, | could not locate
the Mercedes. Lorenzo kept his foot on the gas, but it was
becoming obvious we were not catching Mercedes.

Ahead was an intersection with overhead traffic
signals. Signs read U&1. Traffic signals showed red.

Lorenzo braked.
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AThere!o | yelled. The Merced
stopped in the left turn lane.
Lorenzo dove left, cutting off a gkap truck already in the
left turn lane. Its driver squealed his brakes and laid on his
horn.
There were about eight cars between us and the Mercedes.
As the leftturn traffic slowed to a stop, the pickup driver
behind us stuck his head out his window andsed us at
length. Lorenzo smiled thinly.
The left turn arrow turned green. The Mercedes wheeled
left and passed the car ahead of it. By the time we arrived at the
intersection, the light was amber. Lorenzo pushed it, and we
squealed left, acceleratimgpidly.
| could not see the Mercedes. We were now at highway
speed, with another traffic signal some distance ahead. It
turned red, and Lorenzo slowed.
It was almost dark, but | was able to see the Mercedes
accelerating away on the other side of the g&etion.
Lorenzo sl apped the steering
shit, shit.o We stopped behind
ATwsoi X, 0 Lorenzo said in a tir
northboundonts f our four one at sixty
The radio ciwaskked, ACopy,

Lorenzo turned to me. AWhat t
| yanked the wig from my head and flopped it onto my lap.
AMoors two, Christians zero. o

Lorenzo farted.
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CHAPTER 19

It was nearly dark when we got to FBI headquarters, but the
placewas brightly lit.
| 6d shed the rest of my disgu

clothes, and joined Lorenzo in
rubbed my upper lip.

Eppington frowned. #AYou okay,

ASure. No problem, except for
mustache. o

Heturnedtoloenzo. Al know it was a
deci sion, Jose. Our plan didnot

Mercedes would immediately take that alleyway. The tail
was out of position. o

ARi ght. When | saw the Merced
us, | knew right away something had spooked hio
Lorenzo said. fAHe didndot aim to
Altés okay. We got the pl ate
AnSarah should be coming with th

Lorenzo grasped his lower lip and pinched it
thoughtfully. Al doubt the driv
addres. He6d probably have driven
FIl orida trying to | ose us. And

Eppington nodded. fiYeah
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Lorenzo | ooked at me and grin
Farris. You shouldndét have had
Adm okay, o0 | said. ASeveral M1

unhappy with you. o0
AFortunately, 0 Eppington said
the other tail. We have some ki
He nodded toward me. AThanks ag
identification d Silvan as the suspected killer was ke @
AExcuse me, Mar k, o said the w
the door way. AYou said | shoul d
AYes, Sarah. What have you go
She paused and gl anced at the
relaxed one hipniside her pink outfit and looked at a note in
her hand. AThe pl atedsU-RId&gi ster
E, address on South Broadway, O
Eppington frowned. AWhat 6s st
The vehicl e-1503a apilOlBB8p Ftor wWc .
Hmm. 0 Wrin&l Eppcaqgtonds ebon
AA stolen plate. Was it reporte
One side of Sarahodos Ilips | ift
ASure, 0 Eppington said, fAthat
Lupineds | awn with the hood up
Sarah dropped her hantsher side and left.
AHow do you score that one, F
ACanét fault the Moors offens
Eppington shook his head. @l é
that. 0 He stood up and began to
We | | ,merg werhave work to do. We still might be able
o identify the Ford van. o He t
iling cabinet and sdtoomhoyr rpouw d se
brand new day. o

A
A
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Hi#H
The next afternoon, | was &eel Timeat the dock while Zek
stood dockside, one foot proppe

charter party had gone away with their fish and some lgappy
hoped memories. | was spraying the deck with fresh water
from the hose and thinking about the contrast between
yest er day s Dos Cdballergs and the Wwatermelon
party with Julia that had been so rudely interrupted.

Zack | ooked thoughtful. ASo n
Carl os was Christine. And heds
He squinted out at the harbor.
what this is all about. o

| stopped spraying to pick up a stray lure on the deck.
AYup.o | placed the lure in the

ASo how come Khan and company
AGood |l uck and f aiswastder i vi ng.
other guy, not Khai was good. He dre through a lot of
stops without hitting anyone. 0
ASounds | i ke Khan was despera
ASomet hing spooked him. There
around the restaurant. Maybe they spottedonbo
Kknows?0
Zack | ifted his foot from the
bettingKhan identified yod from when you two shook
hand®d on t he Hatt . o
ALorenzo and Eppington say ot
saw them pay me any attention. o

Zack stuck his hands i n the p
was you, Junior, | 06d myr ow some
head. It ol | hel p alert you to a
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started to walk away, | turned the hose on him. He laughed,
jogged from under the shower, and hurried off.
| finished my chores and went home. In the mail was the
7" edition of the catalog fra C a ptain Ji mmyods Fi
Supply. | was paging through it when the phone buzzed.
I't was Candy Narsom. AJul es w
you did the anniversary pardy and he asked me to see if
youdd do a repeat. o
AAnot her anniversary?o
i Oh, n o ferert événs A \gery dige fcruise to the
Bahamas. Not a lot of people like before, just adfaw

AOh. Thatds got to be more th
AYes, i1itoé6ll be four days. o
AThat woudld lbaeve ougrmhmi t ment s
AYoubdbre married?o
ANo, busi n ats €rewdng amrfishingwwkarters
and . : . O
AWas the money adequate for t
Irecalledthe hundred ol | ar bil Il s. @AOh, s
tha® o

Al't would be more generous fo
excited.

i U-huh, | understand. But .. 0

AYou cano6t do it?0 She sounde

AWhen i1s i1it? Do you have a sc¢

nl, well : : : |l should have

AWhat do you mean?o

nWe were planning to | eave to
noon. Pl ease say youochled do i t.
earlier, but . : . O

ACandy, | et odnehatadd yoowr brawmb e
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She gave me the number and |
within a quartethour.

I punched Zackds number, and

Al know you just cantyt get th
mind, 0 he said.

Al might be able to find some
this puzzle. And my mind is spo

AOkay, spotl ess. I f Conners i
maybe Werner Stoddard will work

call Stoddard, then call you baok.
A few minutes later, Zack called and said Stoddard
had agreed to work the charter. | called the Narsom

number.

ACandy, this is Billy. |l 6ve c
be able to work the four days. o

AOh, wow! Wonderful. Jules sa
agre to five hundred. o

AFi ve hundred?0o9

AFive hundred a day. o

AnOh, yeah. Thatdés generous. W

APl ease come early, therebs |
make it by eight?0

I told her 106d make it. She w
enthusiasm. My enthusiasm galized, would depend on
who was accompanying the Narsoms on the cruise. And
then there was the thought of getting on the road at four in

the morning . : . 0
I punched Juliads number. N Go
A No. I threw what owhat | eft ou
happened?o0
ATo start with, I flew to Mia

161



Dangerous Parallel

AReal l y?0o
iYeah. Then there were the Mo
Dos Caballeros, aiddo

AMoors and Christians?o0

AFoll owed by a car chase righ

AYoubdre making this up. o

ANot hing but the truth. Suppo
We 61 | rustle up a nice supper a
stories. o

Al ncredi bl e means not believa

to O60rustlebd with?o
il can t hama hsionoeutmaohfi t he fr ee
AAnd . what el se?0
I went to the fridge and open

0
She wanted to be helpful. AHo
bring a couple potatoes. Maybe some lettuce. Do you have
some tomatoes, or zucchini, for
ANoO zuccthhienit.onaht,oes mi ght be
ABl ack rather than red?0o
AA couple of spots. o
AHow about some Zesty I talian
AThe bottle is . . .. um, al mo
ALi sten, Billy. l'tol 1l save me
the fish over here. Okag?
AWell , if you insist.o
Al dondt insist, but transfer
pl ace doesndét appeal . Al right
Al see what you mean. | 6m on

| went to the freezer and dug out a pack of dorado fillets.
Underneath the dorado and flounder wéeghark steaks, and

162



Dangerous Parallel

beneath them, the money. It was there, nice and frosty. | shook
myhead i t 6 s hel | being rich and pc
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CHAPTER 20

It was not a promising start to the cruise. Despite the tonnage
and power of the big yacht, pushing the heaping swells of the
Gulf Stream aside induced an irregular swinging motion that
sabotaged normal body movements. A trough of low pressure
to the southast had brought rain and wind quartering from the
port side. Traversing the Hatte
placement of feet and a firm grip on the rail, or, where
available, hands with fingers spread on the overhead.

Candy Narsom had made certain elineveryone on
board. Besides the Narsoms, Captain Angelo and an Asian
female helper named Chdyn, there were Bob and Brenda

Forbes, B. . Khan, and Terri
before. She was a bit taller than Khan, fagly, with a nice
figure.l f i gured she was Khands com

familiar with boat behavior, and when we prepared to leave the
Narsom dock, she helped secure the lines.

Belowdecks, suitcases in the passageways had become
obstacl es. | 6d endeavdgsasd t o se
they were loaded, but not all had been stowed securely. |
resolved this by moving them into the stowage lockers in each
stateroom. During this process, | noticed that Khan had brought
to his stateroom a heavy leather briefcase that he secured
betwesn bed and nightstand. This cruise, it seems, was to
include some business.
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In the galley, eggs were stored well enough, but a jar
of jelly had eluded us and become a sticky mass of shards.
| scraped it up and threw most
mi n@hopLi n sai d, waving me away.
You mind bar. o
We were about an hour out of Fort Lauderdale. The
passengers had retreated below, either seasick or to avoid
having to move without colliding with bulkheads. | was
alone in the salon, rearrang glassware and liquor. That
done, | went forward to check conditions.
Carefully bracing myself, | found Captain Angelo at
the helm. He was straddlegged, hands on the wheel, his
butt pressed against the captai
glass in font of him, wipers swept streams of water aside
on each stroke.
You seem to have your sea | e
The Stream gets really bumpy
to the north.oo
AThat 6s for sure. o He gl anced
we get t o Gr eoautt losfa ach,e wweoorlslt boef
Al hope so.0 | retreated to t
Angelo had laid out his charts. Great Isaac is about fifty
nautical miles east, across the Gulf Stream. | placed my
index finger on the Northwest Providence Channel.
AWhereewgbdl owce we enter the Ch
A We o6l | turn toward the Berry
Nassau. | t 6 s-seweltyomiléd agoohundr ed
eleven hours at fifteen knéshough we may not average
that . o
AThat s our destination?o

A
A
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ANo. Wedl | dock authdtiex Afterc k 1 n
spending the night, weoll push

| traced the passage through the Berrys, Bonds Cay and
Great Stirrup to Nassau. About fifty miles east of Nassau is the
narrow island of Eleuthera.

Earlier, inside the Narsom mansionleluNarsom had
quietly said to me, Al really a
such short noti@ | never know until the last minute when |
can get away. 0 This appeared to
for her tardy call for me to help man the cruise. Wassghely
covering for Julesd6 | ast minute

ASo tomorrow, itdos on to EIl eu
watching foarropped pyramids of water as they slanted before
exploding into our bow.

~

Al plan to swing around the n
protectim o f Har bour | sl and. o

AShould be interesting. o

He smil ed. Al ol | have me a |
Ever been to EIl euthera?bo

ANo. O

nGreat i sl and. Of course itobs
shoreto-shore resorts. Still, there are more than several
lifetimeswor t h of beauti f ul i sl ands

AYoubve been there often?bd

Al n tfwewme yyears at sea, you (e
try this autopilot again, o he s
ride. o

We stood silently for a while, evaluating the way the
el ectronic machine steered the
much difference, but itds easi e
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|l calcul ated wedd have at | ea
uncomfortable slogging. After t
prepared for many of the guestgyravitate toward the
salon, at least thirsty, and maybe hungry. With this kind of
sea, food was out of the quest:]
booze, pretzels and more booze to keep the peace.

Hit#
The sun had not yet risen above the palms along the shore of
Nassau harbor. | rose quietly f

quarters, dressed, and went to the galley.
ChoyLi n had a toothy smile for
cof fee? Cream, sugar?o0
Al 6l 1l take it black. o | took
salon and sat examining tharbor and the marina where
we were docked. It had been just a collection of bright
lights when we arrived last night. Angelo had gone ashore
to locate a Bahamian official so that we could legally enter
the islands. Then we had fueled with nearly founded
gallons of diesel. Finally we had tumbled into bed, tired
from all the pounding.
Our boat was docked bewr alongside the transient
wharf.
Khan soon arrived in the salon, followed by Jules
Narsom and Terri Chapman. Chby was busily
chopping and fryig in the galley when Bob and Brenda
Forbes appeared from below.
Al 6m al l bl ack and blue, 0 Bre
spent a whole day on a roller ¢
Bob Forbes addressed Narsom a
bad, real ly. o
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AWher eds Ca n gowigithe greup with hes ai d
coffee.

Jul es paused. fASheds recover.i
last night, she was sick all day yesterday. | tried to tell her
when we | eft home, O6Youdd bette

But she di dno6t preventseasickmess,yioh ey r e
Know. O

iltos all in the head, 0 Khan
AYou must be strong, thatdés all
Terri frowned. il dono6t t hi nk

affliction, mal de mer o
Narsom stood with himschcup of
calmer. | hope the rotten weath
Charles Angelo entered from the steps leading to the
bridge. He pulled his captainés
|l ooks good. Webve reestablished
clear by noon. I suggeste get wunder way ri ght
Everyone seemed pleased with that idea.
Choy-Lin had spread a pan of scrambled eggs with
chopped onions and mushrooms and mounds of buttered toast
on the dinette table. Out of the oven came a rack of hot and
crisp b&on. Everyone helped themselves, piling plastic plates
high with more than theydd eat.
Less than an hour later, | stood on deck, watching Angelo
on the bridge. AJust hang on to
| held the line chocked securely around ¢heat. He put the
starboard diesel in forward gear, easing the stern of the boat
slowly sideways away from the dock against the spring line.
AROkay, 0 he said, Athatodés good. 0
l' ifted the | inebs | omdeardimaoo m t he
the harbor and pivoted to the north.
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The diesels throbbed softly as we turned into the
Northeast Providence Channel. Terri Chapman helped me
secure all the lines and fenders on deck. When we
finished, she smiled at me.
Before entering the cab | lingered at the rail. All the
superl atives 1 6d heard about th
water seemed pale and inadequate. For a brief moment, my
mission dissolved in its seductive depths.

it
It was just noon when we rounded Bridge Point and turned int
the sun. Soon, | was at the cat

command to secure the Hattds an
we had a good bite in the bottom, | dropped the chain stopper
and he shut down the diesels.

Anlf 1 tdés all the sabmel wgiot h yo
ashore with the group today. You can do the same
tomorrow, while | stay aboard.
anchored out without a c¢crewman

AFine, 0 | said. fANo probl em. o

We clambered to the tender and undid its cover and
fastenings. Afteswinging the davit out, we deposited the
Whal er next to the Hattodés hull
motor is adequate to transport four people and gear.

Angelo began ferrying the first group of passengers
ashore. After the second group was ashore, | realized
Candy had not joined. She was evidently staying in the
master stateroom, seasick or recovering from the rough
ride. | stayed on board the yacht with CHag, who was
busy either in the galley, or taking care that the heads were
clean and the below e ¢ kedsdresbly made.
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A short time later, while Chekin was busy preparing
dishes for later in the day, | went below. The door to the master
stateroom was closed, but the other stateroom doors were open.
In the second stateroom on the starboard side | savKb s
jacket draped across the settee. | entered and quietly closed the
door behind me. On the floor next to the hanging locker was

Khandés briefcase, hardbound wit
berth, wondering what caused its heft.
| tried the latch. It did 6 t move. -ilA smal |, b

combination lock with three thumbwheels numbered from zero
to nine, locked the briefcase.

The thumbwheels were positioned at eifye-three. |
recalled a common practice with combination locks. Users
often set the numbers sutttat only one number needs to be
set in order to trigger unlocking.

| began turning the rigkittand thumbwheel one number at
a time, from its initial setting of three. During this, I tried to
open the briefcase after each setting.

Four, nothing happened.

Five, nothing happened.

Six, nothing happened.

On seven, the mechanism clicked, the latches released, and
the case opened.

On the left side of the case was a fitted leather holster
holding a heavy Smith & Wesson .357. | did not remove it
from the holster.

On the other side of the case were leather pockets
containing sheaves of paper. | paged through the papers,
searching for anything significant.
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I found the current monthoés p
calendar. The fourteenth of this month, a Monday, was
with a heavy pen line. Inside was the inscription, FARO.
A similar line encircled four days beginning on the
16" Its notation, fANarsomod seem:
to the Bahamas.
| paid most of my attention, though, to the circle
around the 23rdfdhis month. It held the word
AJARRALI TO. 0o
The sheaves also included several fpage contracts
between Independent Bankshares International (I1BI) of
Abu Dhabi with B.I. Khan, Jules Narsom, and Nathan
Walsh. | skipped through the fine print to note shens
involved. They ranged from seven million to twefitye
million U.S. dollars. Adding them in my head, | came to
$85 million.
As | returned the papers to their pockets, footsteps
sounded in the passageway. | quickly closed the briefcase,
returned it tahe floor, and turned toward the door. The
latch on the door clicked and the door slowly opened. It
stopped with a gap of about fou

face. Al thought | heard someth

AJust me, o0 | said. ughta t hought
newspaper when we were in Nassa
here. o

Candy pushed the door open further. Her only attire
was a pair of white panties.
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CHAPTER 21

She made no attemptto coverhernearlg k ed body. fi H
come, 0 she saifidometdwelead®ty ggwn&a,s h
rest of them?0

Al could ask you the same, 0 |
her beautiful curves.

She approached. Al guess | wa
being seasick on the way over. o
caughtherscent A But . : . | 6m feeling
smiling.

My body began to react. ALook

. 0

Her hand was at my crotch. Her breathing was growing
shorter, and so was mine.
I thought of the riskffadhd the
to do this,o | said.
She remained silent, her hands and body warm against me.
Her eyelids rose slowly, revealing the palest of blue eyes.
ABiI I 1y, I : : : I know we shoul
I grasped her bare shoul ders
saiidf, thhi ngs wer e di fferent .
She turned slightly to the si
sorry. I shoul dndét have done th
frowned. AYou dond6t know . : . O
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The warmth and softness of her shoulders was
exquisite. | separated mysetdim her.

Al édm so afraid . . .0 She fac
meeting mine. AOh, Billy! oo She
around me, then let them fall to her sides. A critical
moment passed.

Altds okay, o0 | said, hardly Kk

AOh, 0 sheéeusaiang khglhin- Al ém s
cat. o There was wetness on her
me ? 0

|l nodded. Alt never happened.
ALet 6s go up-Linehastsoneethirg coldfto Ch oy
drink. We need something . . 0

She noddednedid esadimetwei ng. 0 She
toward the stateroombés door way,
on to the master stateroom. | breathed a sigh and followed
her. Her door closed as | passed and climbed the stairs to
the salon.

Choy-Lin offered me a tall glass of lieade on ice,
which | took out to the sidedeck.

In a short time, Candy, now dressed in a peach
colored jump suit, joined me with her limeade.

We stood, taking in the sun, the sparkling water and
the green splash of palms along the shore. With her eyes

intet on the scene, she said, Al s
place in the whole wide worl d?o
AA slice of paradise, o | said
fi B idlolhy, | hate you, 0 she said,

going swimming. o0 She turned qui
into thesalon.
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A few minutes later she appeared at the stern in two
iridescent pieces of orang®lored spandex. She dove from the
from the aft swim platform into the water. As her head
reappeared from beneath the sparkling foam, she addressed me.
AHavenodt yauwskhéardd sSwdosm al one.
me a grin.

AComing, 0 | said, as | steppe
make a quick stealthy trip to K
combination thumbwheel on his briefcase to its original setting.

Choy-Lin appeared from the galley as | started down the

steps. ASay, Mr. Billy, can you
cannot pull out. o
She | ed me into the galley. i

| lifted the bag of trash to the deck.
ABag olod,Shoek aoyf?f er ed me a new,
| installed the new bag.

AYou put in trash |l ocker, rig

AYeah, o | said. Il tied a knot
went to the locker.

After 16d secured the bag in
stairs that | ed down to Khanos

Behind me I heard Candyo6s voi

going to join me for a swim?0o0
| turned to see water dripping from her hair and body onto

the salon threshol d-Linwithteea h . I h
trash. Yogyo ahead, I 61 1 be out as s
Al think 16l wait right here
you in a bathing suit.o
At the foot of the stairs, | turned toward the bow, toward
the crew cabin. Although | didn
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waswatching s hedéd see i f | went aft,
stateroom.

After | changed, | climbed the stairs in my blue swim
trunks,

Candy applauded. dAlt was wort

|l couldndot think of anything
jumped to the swim platform, drquickly dove into the
water.

When | surfaced, she was a yard away sweeping wet
hair from her face. | dove underwater, went deep and
swam around to the other side of the hull, where | surfaced
and waited.

Candy came around the hull doing a fast crawlewh
she saw me, she shouted,
toward me with her hand.
half to death. o

I laughed. She had an angry look that slowly faded to
a smile.

| swam away from her, al ongsi
followed. At midships, | slowed.

Candy passed me, her flutter kick splashing. |
followed.

Near the bow, she paused and | took the lead. We
continued this pattern, swimming and alternating between
| eading and foll owing, around t
arrived baclat the stern.

We hoisted ourselves onto the swim platform, where
we sat, breathing heavily, while exchanging grins. Once
we were rested, | pulled the fresh water hose from its
receptacle, sprayed the seawater from Candy and then
from myself. We returnedside and changed.

No f a
You b
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By the time | emerged in my starched uniform, the sun
was sinking toward the palms and pines of Eleuthera. Angelo
arrived with three of the guests in the Whaler. | helped
everyone back aboard, and Angelo turned the boat shoreward
to boad the remaining guests.

With the last guest aboard, Angelo and | attached lines and
hoisted the Whaler into its cradle. After that, | hurried to the
salon, where Forbes was waiting at the bar.

AAh, there you are, o0 he said,
of vodka from the shelf. AYou
people, the sand . : .0 Soon,

favorite libations. Most seemed genuinely pleased with their
island adventui®@ even Khan, who otherwise came across as
thoroughly preoagpied.

Choy-Lin had prepared a modest buffet on the marble
topped table, but the guests, who lunched late while on the
island, scarcely touched it.

Later, | served nightcaps at the bar. Talk subsided, and
soon the guests returned to their stateroomspedeChoyLin
clear the buffet, collected and cleaned the bar glasses and
stowed all the liquor and wine. | pushed the appropriate buttons
on the control panel, and the lights and sound in the salon
turned off.

| walked to the stern rail. The sky was nearly cloudless,
and the moon had risen. Scattered lights shown ashore,
punctuating the swaying silhouettes of pines and palms. Truly
tired, | headed for the crew cabin and the softness of my berth.

#i#
When | reabed the salon deck the next morning, | heard
weather radio issuing from the bridge. Angelo sat in the helm

176

C
0]



Dangerous Parallel

seat with his coffee, listening. Juggling my coffee mug, |
joined him,

AThe Bermuda high is building
should have good weather tydand very good weather
tomorrow for our return.o

The beauty of the natural harbor formed by Harbour
Island was easy to see from this level.

Al t  will be a straight run, o
hours. As you know, the actual time will depend on the
currents and the strength of the Stream. Can you spell me
at the hel m?0

ASure, as |l ong as |1 6m not ten
needed. 0O

Angel o switched the weather r

under way beforedavins ay about four. That ¢
guess forarrivingbad er dal e before dar k. o

AOkay. Il 611 turn in early ton
| 6d be lucky to get five hours

four ready to weigh anchor. o

We climbed down from the bridge and headed into the
salonforChosL i n 6 s b dabtfThetonlybguesta k
present were the Forbes, Khan, and Jules Narsom.

The Forbes chatted with enthusiasm at the buffet.
Khan and Narsom, by contrast, huddéeda portside
couch in deep, but inaudible, conversation. Two mugs of
steaming coffee sat untouched beside them.

When Angelo and | entered, both Khan and Narsom
glanced at us, reached for their coffee and stopped talking.
Something was up.

Terri Chapmaroined me at the buffet and we
exchanged small talk. | selected a hhailed egg and a
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slice of wholewheat toast. | was about to grab a small can of
apple juice when Narsom came to the table. He smiled, weakly.

AnSay, Billy. Can ystwed®mpuatoe a mi
|l eave the tabl e. Al have a coup
ASure, 0o | returned my plate t

to Terri. | followed Narsom to the forward end of the salon,

near the entrance to the bridge, where Narsom turned to me.
AWebve a bit of a problem, Bi

luggage has been tampered with. Now | know you were here

yesterday afternoon while we and the guests toured the island.

Can you enlighten me on what we
ALet 6 s s e e nanordd soenatimel after Aodre a

Angelo finished ferrying you and the others to the island

aboub what was it? About two?0

He | ooked off. #AProbably. 1 w
Go on. o

AThat | eft me, -Lyaboardumilybue, and
and the guesteturned. What was the problem with Mr.
Khands |l uggage?o

Al dondt know exactly, 0 Narso

heds upset. 0

| was sure Narsom knew precisely what Khan was upset
about.

Narsom sai d, -iihamdlegngafhior Choy
l uggage?o0
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CHAPTER 22

Jul es Narsom had | ust-Linehankled me,
any of his luggage?o

Al think we did, when we | oad
home. And during the outbound leg, it was quite rough, as
you remember. Luggage and other things were bouncing
around. If | recall, | collected some lugg@geome of it
was Mr .0 alkds@wed isin stateroom lockers so it
woul d be safe. o

ABut you wedlenmMmdamwaawe odifdnodt
close or tamper with Khanés 1| ug
Al frankl y .dasod. itwas @idyal | |, Mr
hectic. We were trying to get everything stowed safely
before someone was injured or things got broken. Is the

damage to Mr. Khandés luggage se
Al camwe hsaawenodt di scussed it.
ChoylLin.Doyourecallsdéeng her around Mr . k
things?59
ARnShe made the beds, freshened

You should talk to her abouditt wasndét paying mu
attentior® well, except when she asked me to help in the
gall ey with the trash. o

Narsom nodded. @&Okhygt PBoudwe
said will satisfy Mr. Khan. o
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AYour wife might know more, O
on the stateroom deck when Chiay was working down
there. o

Al 6l 1l talikh.t An@hady scuss this
an afterthought ndlee sd dad, @YNnW
any of my guests thinking their belongings are being tampered
with onboard my yacht . o

I nodded. il understand. 0
Narsom returned to the couch with Khan. | returned to the
table and my breakfast. As | pa

studying me. After conferring briefly with Khan, Narsom
disappeared down the stairs to the staterooms. Khan remained
with his coffee. Terri Chapman joined him.
After 1 6d eaten my toast and
for a couple of sausages and mordemfChoyLin
approached from the galley.
AYou | i ke coffee?0 she said.
ABl ack and blacker,o | said,
Candy came into the salon with Jules. They joined Khan
and Terri.ChosL i n hurried to them and
thanks, ChoyLin, justsomec of f ee, 6 | over hear ¢
Choy-Lin took a couple of mugs and the pot to their snack
table. As she poured coffee, | noticed that Candy was staring at
me, unsmiling, with a questioni
acknowledge. Jules said something to Chioy Choy-Lin
shook her head, then returned to the galley. Jules said
something to Candy, then joined Chiow in the galley.
#i#
Later that morning, Angelo and | deployed the Whaler to the
side of the Hatt. | told everybody in the salon | would be
ferrying thase who wanted to go ashore.
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The Forbes quickly said theyo
Terri Chapman. Jules Narsom and
remain on board.

ALetds rent a golf cart and r
town, 0 Terri said. Bob Forbes s
gotto have some more cracked conch with that terrific
sauce! o

I told those going | 6d have t
the Whaler was limited to four people. | hoped Terri would
join the Forbes for the first trip, leaving me alone with
Candy on the second. Buierri immediately gushed she
woul d Akeep Candy companyo on t

After gassing the outboard motor, | began ferrying.

The wind was moderate, and the water held only small
waves, so ferrying went smoothly. On Harbour Island, the
group rented golf cart and spent hours enjoying the
charms of Dunmore Town. Bob got his conch and sauce,
and the women picked up trinkets.

On the first ferry trip back to the yacht, Terri joined
the Forbes, leaving Candy and me together for the final
ferry trip.

AQite a trip,0 she said as we
Town dock.

AYou mean to Dunmore Town?o

ANO. I mean the whole thing. o

AUhuh. o | slowed the motor a

AJust so you know, Billy, o0 sh
anything. o

Al told you. I't didndét happen

Herey es went from me to the oce
somebody got into his briefcase
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Al thought his luggage was | o
Her eyes returned to me as sh
told Jul es. o

Als it a big deal ?0

il dondt know. 0 She t hwoew her
fingers through her hair. Al do

For sever al mi nutes we didnot

into the clear water flowing by. Finally she looked at me.
AThere may not be another ti me

t hi n keverynicaé |...Mr.Khanis...well, just be
careful, okay?o
Hit#

The return to Florida took nearly thirteen hours. After securing
the boat at the Narsom dock and helping with the unloading, |
drove to Seguro Key. I fell into bed and slept sourmnui |
was awakened by pounding on my door.
AOh, 1tds you.0 | squinted ag
morning sun. It was Zack.
AGot a shark trip tonight. Th

youb6d | i ke to join me.o
I gave Zack an evi |ptaindmb . @ Cu
I need some coffee before | can

into the kitchen.

ARnOkay, okay. Scrape the sl eep
stepped inside and closed the d
me what you found out. o

| took the can of coffeom the cupboard and faced Zack
from the kitchen doorway. nOne
up. 0 | spooned three measures o

Zack grinned. Al thought you
somet hing new. 0
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AThanks. o | t ol dscdmbimation,6d br ok
which allowed me to open the briefcase. | told him about
the S&W pistol, and that 16d fo
I mportant i nformation. I told h

Candy, which caused me to shut the briefcase fast and
| eave Khamoés statero

ASo Mrs. Nar s ehma ncdaeudg?hdt you r e

ANot exactl y. |l gave her an e
story about searching for a new

Zack frowned. fAShe didndét see
briefcase?0

Al closed and replaced it bef

=]

Sywurscrewmu p was getting caught i
stateroom?0o0

We sat down at the kitchen table.

APartl y. |l didndédt have ti me t
the combination lock to its original setting. So when Khan
later went to open his briefcase, he saw that the
thumbwheel number was set to seven and not three, as

hedd set it.o
Zack thought it over. @ASo you
knows you broke into his briefc
i He kgsomelbaproke into his briefcase. He
knows itdés either me, Candy Nar
helpeg . 0
ABut you said Mrs. Narsom cau
stater oom. So she knows youobre
AShe probably thinks itdéds me,
telling. o
AWhy do you say that?0
AfBecause she thinks 1 6m very
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Zack burst into laughter. Ididnt | augh. After a
moment s, he | ooked at me soberl
say the Narsom | ady has the hot

Al didnoét say that.o | got up
turned it on. fAShe said she thi

He shotme alookfdi sdai n. AHmMM, Il gue:c
have hidden talents. On a serio
Khands Christmas shopping I|ist.

| told him about the contracts, the calendar with the
marked dates and the appearance of code names FARO and
JARRALI T O.NarSowianhdKian are due about $85
million from IBI, Independent Bankshares International, of
Abu Dhabi . 60

AWhy are these guys getting t
Al dondt know. But somet hing
thetwentyt hi r d of tnha rsk endo ntJhARR A LOIST C

the calendar. 0

You think itbds tied somehow i
AMaybe. o0 | took two mugs from
they plan something at the &éran
wonder i f 1td6s all Oocteonei@e®©aked t o

Point. Remember what | told you what that boat rat in the bar
saidabout o6bonus time. 060

Zack rubbed his chin, thinkin
anything except a bunch of chatter. This is nothing but a
uselesd 0

AWait. The dadgs'Thedatewithas ci r c
FARO inside was the day Lorenzo and | were at Dos
Caball eros! o

NRnSo?0
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AfiThat 6s when Khan met with Ca

calendar . I 61 | bet FARO is the

AROkay, 0 Zack said. ABut | don

lsastdown at the table. Alf some
for the twentythird, the name Jarralito might refer to its
locatiord | i ke a town or maybe a Or an
that s where the épickupbd i s su
if theydre going to . . . 0

The coffee brewer beeped. | pulled the pot and poured
two cups.

Zack was on his feet, staring at the calendar on the
kitchen wall. AThatds tohree day
you suppose itdéos a town? I n Tex
steaming coffee.

AWhaa,ni or. This coffeeds stro
dental work. You got some cream

HH#H
When | arrived at Juliads, she
AThanks, but no. o

She stirred her cup and told me to pull up a chair.

| said, Al camedoyveurbbadeapsée

Julia laughed. Al know. 0 She
face. | chuckled, and she laughed.

She smiled. Al d6m your faithfu
you need?090

Herebs the probl em. Have you

6Jar r aarratl-iet-® @ 0J
Shenoddecand pronounced 1t with t

as Ah. 0 She said, Al think it m
AOh, 0o | said.
AYou | ook disappointed. 0
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i W& Zack and & thought it might be a town. A little

town in Texas, maybe . . . 0
Al't coul d be. Towmsinghe outbwest u ndr
with Spanish names. | can | ook
computer and tapped some Kkeys.
town that comes wup is EI Jarr al
AAnd . . . ?0
Alf the town is veryesanlyl |, t
list 1it. Wedd have to see what

ARA gazetteer ?0
She smiled. Al thought youbd
geographical dictionary. We have themdfad

AYou mean at the | ibrary?o

il donodt have one here, hunk.

ALet 6s go. 0O

AThe yléisbrcdrosed. Did you forge

ANuts. Have you got a key?o0

ASure, but . : . 0

ALet s go. 0 | headed for the
followed, taking her ring of keys from the countertop. As she
closed the door, she saildl,e.Adi |

As we drove toward Mar-ga hon,
Spani sh word?2o
Al think so. But | candét reca
Inside the library, Julia seemed a little nervous, but began
to relax as she searched the gazetteers. She pulled several
volumes from the shelf and searched their indices. Finally she
found a reference to Jarralito, and handed me the book. She
selected a Spanidbnglish dictionary from a different shelf.
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| figured out from the gazetteer that there was a town

called Jarralitoin 1 t 6s i n New Mexico, 0 | ¢
a map of New Mexico to place it
AFaro means | ighthouse or bea
AOh, great,o | said. AA beaco

Julia returned the books to their shelves and led me to
the atlases. From thefrevent through atlases and maps.

Finally |1 said, Al found it. |t
Santa Fe. o
AOkay, cowboy. o0 Julia said, |
shoul der. AHow | ong before youb
Mexi co, O6the Land of Enchant men
It seemed pointlesto reply. | looked at her and
smiled.
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CHAPTER 23

While Zack and | waited at Miami International for our flight, |

wrote a short email:
Mark,
|l 6m already on your computer
but here goes:
I canodot explain what | 6m doi
mistake could mess everything up.
| believeCarlos Silvan is a Cuban agent, code
name FARO. He and others are into a serious
pl ot with Asomething bigodo sc
about the23rd of the montht might involve

Oak Point, Texad. 60 m t el |l i ng you this
can take whatever actions the burdaals
necessary.

The fAdr awo wpeemuunlikely e abou't

chessboard may already be up$deasetrack

the chessmen on the fl@oRegards, Billy

This seemed like the only way | could bring Eppington

into the pictire without him trying to stop Zack and me from
investigating Jarralito. If Jarralito turned into the real deal, |
was hoping hedd send the cavalr
about Jarralito turned out wrong, he could always blame the
tipoff on me.
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We arived at Albuquergue International in late
afternoon. Zack rented a Toyota while | waited for our
bags at the carrousel. | snatched the bags and met him
outside. | climbed in the passenger side and noticed the
dashboard sticker.
AHey, o | <shaisd,sifdtehiads rcarags. 0
ADamn, 0 he said. Al thought t
served for a snack. 0
I chuckl ed. AAs i f that bag o
i snét bad enough. o

AYou doné6ét understand. Youdre
package whole. No waste, improved ecolp . 0
AThanks, chief. |  fhaivggre rk me w

We climbed steadily, past fldpped buttes and exit
signs for Pueblos. To the left was the green fringe marking
the Rio Grande, more a trickle than a stream. On the
stereo, some group beat ougtrenergy rock that
encouraged Zack to let the speed creep past the limit.

At Santa Fe, we took a secefidor room at La Fonda
and unloaded our stuff. We crossed the plaza to a Mexican
place where | feasted on enchiladas laced with napalm.
Zack stuck to smething merely hét chile rellenos.

By the time we returned, it was dark. The stars
seemed close enough to touch. Inside La Fonda, we went

to the cantina. I asked the bar
l i me?o0
He seemed confused. nSel | y Ou
Al |1 i kledllli npeasy. f or it. o
AUh, we donodot sel/l . . . 0

| placed a dollar bill on top of the bar.
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AHere, 0 he said, pushing a |
the doll ar and handed it to me.
|l ook that said 6who is this guy

Zack and Istopped at the small liquor store next to the
restaurant and bought a bottle of Tequila. At the top of the
stairs we pulled a couple bottles eUp from the soda
machine and went to our room.

With his knife, Zack cut some slices of lime. With ice, the
Tequila,/lUp and the salt shaker 16d
food joint, we enjoyed our cool drinks sitting on the edges of
the two beds.

Al dondt know what | O06m doing
the craziest idea yet. o
ADefinitely, o0 | said.
i We ¢ a njomping oa coiled rattlesnakes. Drink
up. 0
I nodded. AOur dedication to

astounding. o
Zack said, AThat guy Khan, he
about the way he said his enemies would live a long life
without hands. 0 Heyos,Bllydbed at me
youdbve become one of his enemie
ANot to worry. Clark Kent wil
booth in his blue tights and rescue us. Have some more
Tequil a. o
This is good, o0 he said, hold
I thought egdoliai duirpenasmne.
Why candét you ewypwmet ugetenitti nrei.
We laughed, and drank some more.
Finally, Zack said, AWhat hap

B ) e 1}
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AWe need to find Jarralito. I
miles from here. And maybe look foraa n c h . 0

AThat 6s crazy, Billy. We dono
ranch wedd be |l ooking for.o

Il held up a finger. AThere ca
there. Jarralito is a tiny town
and hope. o

Zack said, nGI agdlanhyou have a d
Commander . 0O

| gestured for a halt. Al 6m c
up . Hebs the kingpin. Maybe Car
they seem to think, these guys

Al f Khan is around and spots
your life insuranceispdi up . 0

Al 6l 1l keep a |l ow profile. o

AOkay, | see your plan, o Zack

cringes. Zack takes the bullets, Billy phones for the
ambul ance. 0
ARGl ad you understand. o
Eventually, the Tequila took over. We both slept well.
Hit#
Next morning, | washaving. Zack held up the Tequila bottle.
There was a little Tequila left.

AWhat shoul d I do with this, o
ALeave it for the housemaid. o
AMaybe she doesndét drink Tequ
Alf shebds wise, 0 | sai d.

We took a quick breakfast downstairs and headed to
the parking lot behind La Fonda. There was little traffic
downtown, and soon we were on the highway, climbing to

191



Dangerous Parallel

Gl ori eta Pass. I studied the ma
to guide us to Jarralito.
We turned off on a twdane blacktop labeled NMO02,
leaving the mountains behind. Low brush dotted the barren
vistas. We encountered no vehicle traffic. In less than twenty
mi nutes a met al sign on the roa
a cloud of dust pulling to the stop on the shoulder.
The only house isight was on the opposite side of the
blacktop. Its front door was missing as was glass in its
windows. Its roof had collapsed into the interior several years
earlier.
Slightly ahead of us on the right was a wide stretch of
sandy soil with a wood store lding behind two old gas
pumps. The store had a pitched metal roof and faded white
paint. A big sign above the door said COLD BEER. | noticed
that the glass globes on top of the gas pumps were tan from
accumulated dirt.
AThis i s Jarralito?0 Zack sai
Aluegss this is it. Letbs park.
Zack pulled the Toyota to a stop beyond the gas pumps.
When we stepped out, | noted that the high air was eerily quiet.
The only sound was a hiss coming from a tangle of air hose
nestled at the foot of one of the gas pumps.
We entered the store to the creak of the spring on the door.
We glanced around in the darkness. No human was visible.
In the neatblackness close by a wall was a reddish
colored cooler. A hum suggested it was powered. | lifted the
cover, which revealed sosland beers haubmerged in cold
water. | pulled two cans out, aUp and a Pepsi, handed the 7
Up to Zack.
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With my eyes now accustomed to the dark, | saw a
man seated behind a rack farther to the rear. He looked to
be older than 80, with a white beakte sat behind a
counter. He gave me a wrinkled smile.
ATwo cans of pop, o0 | said.
ATwo doll ars, o0 he said, and I
We returned to the Toyota, drove around the pumps
and turned left past the crumbled house onto the gravel
road that intersected the blacktop.
The landscape was slightly hilly, with low junipers,
short grasses and a few cacti. The only sign of human
habitaion were poles with wires that lined the road.

Zack said, AThere sure i s no
here. o

Finally a few buildings appea
of f here, o | sai d.

Zack peered through his binoc
house is adobe, small, Wit wood building behind, like a
gar age. | dondédt see any cars th
house with a tin roof. Behind it is a small barn. An old
Dodge pickup is parked in front
AAnything el se?0
ANot that | can see. 0
Zack turned thear around, and we drove back toward
the store building. We crossed the blacktop road and
continued on the gravel road.
We rounded a hill with reddish rock outcrops at its
base. We continued on beyond them to a crossroad where
a small wood sign with an aw pointed south. In neatly
|l ettered black paint was the |e
Al ol l be damned, o0 | said.

193



Dangerous Parallel

Zack laughed. He turned onto the crossroad, but in a
direction opposite to the signbo
AWhere are you going?0 | said
AJust wait. o
He drove ashort distance, pulled to a stop, and let the
motor idle.

A We ol | not attract attention
around and aimed his binocul ars
AThe Narsom ranch is a house wi
looks like a twecar garage. The other one is more like a barn.

Two cars parked outside, one blue anddoneh , hel | | Il ¢
tell . o

|l said, ACan you see a fence?

RnCanb6t see a fence, but 1 f it
make it out this far away. Here have a | ook . 0

The house was a single level dwelling of wide clapboard
construction with a pitched, shingled roof. The garage was
similar. The barn was older, with a pitched, corrugated metal
roof and big doors. A pole carried electric wires to the house.
On house roof was a complicated antenna.

| said, AThereds no way | <can
without being seen. Can you turn around and get back to
Jarralito?o

Zack jockeyed the car in forward and reverse until we
faced the other way. We returned to itersection and drove
the gravel back to the store.

AThat ol d guy wil/l know our ¢
onto NM-702.
We drove back to Santa Fe and La Fonda.
HitH
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At about a halhour before midnight, Zack parked the Toyota
of f t he gr envoalwider ¢pa, ducheddaround, and
parked so the car faced the Jarralito store and gas station,
which had apparently closed for the night. After locking the
vehicle, we hiked across the base of the hill near the crossroad
leading to the Narsom ranch.

Fortunately, the moon had set. The sky was velvet
black. The thin air between us and the galaxies showed a
multitude of stars that didnot
the altitude.

Seeing detail in the distance was difficult, but the
starlight made it easp see objects close in front of us.
We stopped and Zack steadied his binoculars on one of the
rock outcrops. AWhoa, thatos a
binoculars to me.

Inside the ranch house, many lights showed, and more
than two figures could be sesroving past windows. No
|l ights shown outdoors. One of t
earlier was still parked in its original location. The other
car was now parked next to the garage.

I handed the binoculars to Za
like one ofthe barndosr i s open?o

inYeah, I think so . . . 0
ACan you see whatoés inside?0o0
ANot from this angle. Wedll h

at an angle. We settled behind a rock outcrop closer to the
ranch.

AAh, 0 Zack sai ddyeidh , hc aint s et h e
back ofatruck A bi g truck. 0O

AfLet s move cl oser. o
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We moved forward carefully, avoiding juniper branches
and reminding ourselves of the sound of our footfalls.
A breeze from the west arrived, rustling the junipers. It
startled us.
We stopped, and | took the binoculdraow saw the men
inside the housmore clearly. Two of them sat in one room
il luminated by |l ight that fl ash
see the screen but they seemed to be watching TV.
As | watched, a third man appeared in the same room,
crossed irfront of the window, and disappeared. He may have
appeared at a different window.
ALet 6s get closer, o0 | whisper
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CHAPTER 24

We moved forward. | looked again through the binoculars,
straining to see through the window. A man, his back to us,

was sated at a desk. Another man appeared in the room and
went toward the seated man. When the seated man turned in his
seat, | immediately recognized Khan. The standing man

seemed familiar, but | couldnot
AKhands here, o | said.
| scanned the frstwndow. The | i ght wasn

enough to identify the facial features of the men watching
TV, so | turned my attention to the barn. One of its two
doors was open. The side of the truck inside was barely

visibl e, but [ was abhe to conf
Foods. o | was about to tell Zac
ifiCar ! Get down! 0

| turned, lowered the binoculars and crouched behind
the nearest bush. Headlight beams flared as the car
rounded the base of the hill. Zack was also ducking.
He c¢cri ed, AOww! 0 | saw hebdd b
the juniper hedd knelt behind.
The car drove to the crossroad, slowed, and turned
onto the Narsom road toward us. As it rushed between us
and the ranch, | saw two occupants in the front seats. It
was a grg sportutility vehicle. A big cloud of dust flying
up behind the car made further viewing impossible. As the
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denseness of the cloud lessened, a blurry red light showed. The
car was braking. The headlights of the car lit the side of the
house momentarily.turned my binoculars back to the window
where the two men watched TV. They quickly stood up and
hurried out of view.
ADamn! 06 Zack said, Athat cact
AShh! o | said.
The dust cloud dissipated. The car was now stopped
between the house and therhanotor running. The men from
the house moved around the car and were occasionally brightly
lit passing through its headlights. Voices, but not words, were
heard.
The car abruptly began moving. The beam of its headlights
arced swiftly across the mesa, mamtarily shining on the
landscape in front of us. We ducked down.
The car backed up to the barn. Brake lights came on again,
turning the closed door of the barn a bright pink.
The barn door slowly rolled open. Men began working
nearby. After a few minutesvith headlights still blazing, the
car backed into the open doorway. The motor sound ceased, the
headlights went out. My eyes adapted and | again saw men
moving around. The barn door had closed. Only the rear and
part of the side of the Estrella truckwained visible through
its open door. A few minutes later, the men crossed to the
house and went inside.
Zack and | exchanged glances in the dim light. He
i ndicated hedd taken some cactu
a chuckle.
After a few minutes, Zak s ai d, HANothingos
What now?0o
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AThe | ights are still on in t
sneak over there. o
AYoubre out of your mind. o
Moving quickly between bushes, we stealthily worked
our way toward the house. When we got to the gravel road,
we craiched behind a fairly tall juniper that gave us decent
cover and an excellent view. We now saw the people
inside the house without the binoculars. | realized |
couldnét identify the two men w
TV.
Four other men gathered in an adjdagelom. Three
of them sat in chairs, leaving Khan standing. He seemed to
be explaining, occasionally gesturing with hands and arms.
At this time it occurred to me that one of the sitting men
was the man whodod accompanied K
Caballeros restaungd the same man driving the
Mercedes whodd eluded Lorenzo a
| said, ALetbés get to that ba
Zack gave me a look of irritation, then gazed skyward
while shaking his head.
We moved by increments in a crouch, keeping below
the general levelfdhe bushes. We kept to the near side of
the gravel road. We passed beyond the house and moved
toward the garage. We crossed the gravel road, being
careful to minimize the sound of our feet on the gravel.
Using the garage building as cover, we pauseaétiirey
heavily.
| peered around the corner of the garage towards the
house. | could see right through a rear window into the
room where the four men were seated. | heard occasional
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voices and music jingles coming from the TV. Abuptly, the
four men stood ahpassed out of view.
I heard a door open. Mends vo
ATheydre outside, o | whispere
the side of the garage, hearts pounding, barely breathing.
Sounds made us think men were passing on the other side
of the garage.

AQuick, o I said, Amove around
me around to the side of the garage. As the men passed, | heard
Khands voice. He sai d, A . . . a

Zack and | cautiously peered around the corner, looking
toward he barn. A man with a flashlight lighted the way for
four other men as they entered the barn.
The first thing | heard was a heavy clunk from something
like a door. Next, squeals, like nails being pulled from wood.
Screeching sounds and thunipbowed. Ocasionally, men
grunt ed. I coul dndét deci de wher
we coul dndét see inside.
Accompanying the noises, flares and reflections of light
moved, stopped, and disappeared. This looked like someone

directing a flashlightoés beam.
ATakit over there , 0 som
AnOkay, now . . . easy, 0 anoth
I heard Khan say, ANo, no, us

must observel! o
More shuffling sounds as well as thuds, scrapes and
metallic clunks issued from inside. The activentinued for

what seemed | i ke a | onrsg xttiymed. A

and Khan said, nRnGet Enrique.o
One of the men trotted out of the doorway, across and into

the house. He soon reappeared w
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Khan at Dos CadbaEdhreirpse, ¢ Slo 4 dii
myself, noting the curly hair and thick neck with the gold
chain. A minute passed, and Kha
. .0
The sound of a motor being started followed.
Two men pushed the barn door to the side and the
sportutility vehicle emerged with two men inside. They
|l ooked similar to the occupants
ATake cover!o |I said to Zack.
alongside the garage.
The car turned onto the gravel road and roared past us
as we lay flat to the gund. The car continued on the
gravel to the crossroad, turned and disappeared over the
rim of the hill, leaving a giant pall of dust behind.
Several of the men left the barn and returned to the

house. Enrigue closed the barn
.0 Khan said to Enrique as t/I
time to be there . : . avoid

the flashlight to Enrique, and | caught a few more words:

Al dm going . . . Al buquerque

Khan and Enrique ented the house. Zack and | were
now on our feet.

Shortly the door at the front of the house squeaked
and slammed. Zack and | went to the other side of the
garage and peeked toward the front. The silhouette of
Khan carrying his heavy briefcase crossed byisklthe
the sedan parked there. He started the motor. We ducked
down and pulled back before the
headlights flashed across the road near us.

Khan turned the car sharply. It bounded over small
berms at the edge of the road, turned aroundi pastored
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on the gravel road toward the crossroad. Clouds of dust
blocked our vision until the car reached the crossroad, where it
turned left and disappeared over the hill, gravel flying.
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CHAPTER 25

As soon as we were out of earshot of the Narsaomh, Zack

sai d, fiWow. Did you get all of
AThis is big, o I sai d, gl anc

see if we might have tripped alarm wires or somehow

alerted the occupants of the house. Everything seemed

okay, but the knot werouldy gut pe

have seen what was going on in
Zack | ed up the rim of the hi

directing this thing. o
We hurried, dodging scrub and cacti toward our car.

When beyond the gravel crossroads, we began jogging.

Only the,6thuwudf Dhudur footfall
We arrived at the car breathing heavily. There was no

traffic on the blacktop highway. | glanced at the Jarralito

store, dark and dismal
Zack started the motor. From the south, headlights

appeared on the highwa&.speeding sedan approached

and zoomed past. Zack turned onto the highway and our

headlights caught the small whirls of roadside dust stirred

by the passing car. As we angled around, our headlights

also caught a pickup truck parked on the gravel roati®n t

opposite side of the highway.

Al dondt remember that truck

gained speed on the HKO02ghway | 06d
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Zack glanced into the rearview mirror and shrugged.
ANobody behind us. o
Al dondt t hi Mlspyingeontheralbaek si ght e
there. o

AYou better hope so.0 Zack st
on spending the rest of my days
I wish youdd forget that.o
Llsten,(‘) he said, giving me
ge this whole business. 0
I t s o &nrigus is goinkt@drive the Estrella truck
to Texas tomorrow. o

AHell s bells, Junior. Thatos
That will take them . . . 0

Zack didndét finish because th
il 1l uminated from badafglantidgattieCar b
rearview mirror.

o = IOt N

AYou sure ités not a pickup?o

AHard to teldl Still a ways b

Aalf 1itdés a pickup truck, i1t =c
gravel road. o

AUbh, 0 Zack said. fAHow woul d

parked truck know us or whate wer e doi ng?o0
I tried to think of an answer
Eppingtor® he probably knows we flew into Albuquerque. But
Epp woduwl dnot
ACrap, 0 Zack said, slapping t
sure hope his outfit isndt | eak
The Toy ot gréwdrightar.tl aveidedturning my
head to | ook behind us. AWhat d
Ailtés hanging back, matching
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We climbed a gentle upward slope where the-lave
road cut through rock. The flare of our headlights traced
chiseled surfacesn both sides.
Al can see it now. ltds a pic
We neared the crest of the hill. | saw traces of bore
holes in the rock walls. They were evidence of where
dynamite had been used to blast rock during construction
of the highway.
The shadow foour car, which fell to the road, abruptly
shifted righ® toward the rock wall.
ACrazy jerk is going to pass,
know any) O
The pickupb6s headlight beams
alongside. It passed. | glimpsed two dagired men in its
cab.
The pickup abruptly veered sharply in front of us.

Zack yell ed, ALook out! o He w
right to avoid hitting the pickup. We bounded off the
pavement, gravel pounding the ¢

Zack tried to brake and steer on the shouldarphr
speed was too great. Momentum took control. The right
front of our car hit the rock wall. My right hand flew to the
door latch, flipping it.

Horrendous sounds of ripping metal followed.
Showers of sparks lit everything like daylight. Shards of
metaland glass flew. Airbags exploded. My chest
collapsed as the airbags ballooned. My door shot outward
and disappeared. The right front tire exploded. Hard
knocks jerked my body forward and side to side.

The grinding screeches finally ended as the wreck
slowed.
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Now there was silenéeexcept for the motor, which
continued running.
Smoke and dust filled the parttpllapsed passenger
compartment. The transmission made rhythmic growls. A
hissing sound persisté@dporobably a broken radiator.
| struggled to findny seat belt under the airbag.
Something interfered with my vision. When | wiped it from my
eyes | realized it was blood.
A lick of bright orange flame rose from the hood. |
unfastened my seatbelt and smelled gas. | saw Zack fighting
his air bag.
ACOntoanc k. 06 | yanked on his shc
here. o
Dazed, he unlatched his belt. He then tried to unlatch his
distorted door.
I pull ed his ardmthiiNowa Plammie
shoved the airbag away with amazing strength.
| squeezed out of the naw space between the rock wall
and the damaged doorframe. Zack seemed to follow.
The closecoupledbrrrrrp of an automatic weapon
sounded. Bullets crashed and ricocheted around us. One
whined over my head and popped into the rock wall.
I crouchedaslowds coul d bel ow the car
lunged flat onto the gravel. We huddled together in the ditch
next to the rock wall.
A second round dbrrrrrp sounded, followed instantly by
a whacking and ringing as bull e
and ricoche&ed onto the rock. Several penetrated the windshield
and struck where wed6od sat a few
Smells of burning rubber and raw gasoline grew stronger.
Heat radiated from the front.
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I said, AThis thingds gonna

b

ARStay down, 0 Zatikl lsahereiAdhey

We waited for more shooting. Clipped voices echoed,
followed by the slamming of car doors. Tires chirped and a
motor roared.

As the motor sound began to fade, Zack said,
ATheydbre gone! 0o

ACémon, dwelgetat @, crawling,
finally bolting on foot.

The Toyotabs gas tank expl od
Everything turned to daylight.

The concussion flattened me. | sensed Zack fell
behind me.

Pieces of metal from the car clanked off the rock wall
and fell to the ground.

Orange lidnt flickered across the rock wall. Big
flames obscured the carbdés char
hunched over on elbows and knees between me and the

P

e

r

car . |l crawled to him, grabbed
right?o
AHuh?o He rolled to his side.
was . . . 0
Blood covered his cheeks, shirt and hands. He looked
at me, said, fAYou all right?0o
AShit, I donét know. 0 Breath
Al dm alive, Il think. No t hanks

bastards. o

The engine was no longer running. The omyrsd
now was the snap of the flames. A huge plume of black
smoke wafted from burning rubber.
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|l stood, slightly wobbly. ATh
beyond the wreck. | glanced back at Zack. He was still down.
Somet hing didndét | ookay?g@ht. AY

Zack stared at his left hand. It was completely red.

ASomet hindhrmirek®d Hnse hand went

| squatted to get a closer look. The light from the flames
revealed a small tear in the upper left leg of his trousers. The
area wasvet with blood. | grabbed the raw edges of the cloth
and ripped it open. Several inches of raw flesh showed.

AYou might have collected one
unbuttoning myodssehel ritf. yfAoPur ecsasn o.n

AYeah, yeah, ofiheksawd, Swopcih
bl eeding. o

I got my shirt off and we wuse
bandage his thigh.

ARunning us off the road into
enough, 0 Zack said, shaking his
gunned us for Igomoke dneats umes.. 0 IHfe
idea of mixing with the upper class like the Narsoms, think
again. o

The fire continued to burn. | went to the edge of the
pavement near the top of the hill and searched both directions.
There were no cars heading our way.

Zad pointed to a twisted piece of wreckage some distance

from the fire. fiHow come t hat d
| felt my forehead, my shoulder and my arm. They hurt. |
was brui sed, with some cut s. il

my airbag blew 0
AThaedDsdwo
AnFor some reason, I think | u
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AYou were planning to step ou
I

mi es an hour ?0
fiDamned i f I know. dBut | t hin
without thinking.o0o | tried to w

ARGuess what.s@dathatd messtl havbhat d
come off before the car smashed
been trapped inside. o A shiver
body. ATrapped behind our airba
rain of bullets. o

All four tires of the wreck were noafire, shedding
thick, acrid smoke that made me
get away from here. 0

As | spoke, headlights appeared in the distance from
which wedd come. AHer e comes a

Alf itds more shooters, o0 Zack
volunteer to be first.o

The stakebed truck slowed a good quarteile from
us. | guessed the driver saw the flames and chose to
approach cautiously.

Zack and | crouched alongside the rock wall,
wondering if the truck bore frieddor foe.

The truck came closer and drove ontogheulder
fifty feet from us. A man stepped from the cab and
advanced through his headlights toward us. Tangles of
inky hair dangled over his brow
said.

AWe ran off the road and hit
puzzl e o0 uexpressiomrfromnthenddzzle of the
headlights.

AY®&dyour friend, you hurt, o he
voice.
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AA ITittle,o | said. AMy frien
The man wore beads around his neck. His hair was tied in
a scraggly bun behind his head. Thinking laimesident of a
| ocal puebl o, I breathed a sigh
doctor ?0
As the man spoke, the bulge of tobacco in his cheek
wobbl ed. AdAimMdt ngathef tmutck. | 61
Fe . : . thereds hospital there
i Gr e a td. | belped Zackto his feet.
The man retreated to his truck. In the cab sat a woman and
two children. | heard the bleating of sheep.
| helped Zack limp to the truck. The man stood outside,
and said something to the woman
understandThe passenger door opened and she and the two
kids got out. They began to climb into the stake bed with the

sheep.
ANo, no, 0 Zack said to the wo
You get back in the cab. o

The woman looked from Zack to the man with the beads,
who stood at the driverds side
anything. The woman again looked back at Zack.

Zack nodded. Altés okay. o

The woman nodded toward her children, who had climbed
up the side. They jumped down and scrambled into the cab.

Zack limped toward the bed of the truck.

The woman eyed the man with the beads as she slowly
stepped up and joined the kids in the cab. When she closed the
door, the man with the beads op
climbed behind the wheel.

In the meatime, | helped Zack get onto the bed and scoot
forward among the sheep.
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| sat beside him with our backs to the cab. The man
put the truck in gear and we drove onto the highway. As
we passed the burning wreckage, another wave of fear
surged through my bgd. Al dondt know how v
that, o | said. fAl guess we were
ASpeak for yourself, Junior, o
tone. Al have a bullet in the |
butt. And guess what? I 6dm sittdi
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CHAPTER 26

We rolled along the Interstate in the bed of the old stake truck,
the wind roaring and buffeting us behind the cab. The wool on
the sheep wiggled. They complained.

AHowdés the |l eg?0 | hollered.

Al donoddt Hihsi vkoi ce was lleweak . A
just creased me. 0

AJust hang on, we should be t

He | ooked at me. OfiaWhoauttd rael wet h

AKeep it under your hat until

AGui dance?0 He seemed irritat
intoarockwall, macinegunned, and youbre gc¢

guidance?0

AEppington should know someth
eighthundred number. But firdto

Zackodos jaw sl umped and his ha
dondét get you . . . 0

AMain thing is to get you pat

fi | $al. This secalled bandage on my thigh is pretty
amateur . 0

AThat 6s not a nice thing to s
l i fe.o

ADid you forget youdre the gu
the first place?0
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I didndédt answer. The sheep bl
Santa Fe showed.
Zack said, fAWhat 8dabeutwhat gonna
happened?o
AfLetd6bs keep it simple. We ran
crashed forget the truck, the two bandits and the
machinegunningg o k ay ? 0
ADamn! Whyéd we ever . : . 0
Altoéll wor k poeuwdt ,hizZacakr.mo. I Jaursit
on. o
We arrived at the hospital. The driver turned into the
entrance marked Emergency. When the truck stopped, |
shoved the sheep aside, climbed out the rear, and helped
Zack down. | shouted a quick AT
tookZackds arm. Like two arthriti
through into the E.R.
The nurse was a woman in a pale green outfit with
tight curls encased in a hair net. She glanced at us, down at
the belted bandage, and said, i
Zack mumbld about going off the road and hitting
the rock wall.
Al think it got sliced by she
She took us to a small alcove, where she frowned.
AWhew, 0 she ssmeldo Awhatds that

Al already told you, 06 Zack sa
car crash. o

AActually, o6 | said to the nur
smelling the sheep we came here

She frowned mor e. Al see, sirtr

with the pants. o
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She | ooked me over. fiLooks I
she said. fAA loupteboflBandAadatillitakee pt i C
care of that.o

Al oll be okay, A | said. HAJus
unbuckled the belt and lifted my folded shirt off the wound. |
helped Zack shed his pants. He sat back on the examining table
in his jockey briefs, stargat the bloody wound on his thigh. |
unf ol ded the shirt and deci ded
before putting it back on.

To me the nurse said, AYouol |
paperwork. o To Zack she said,
She noddedtowad me. AFol |l ow me, sir. o

ATheyodol !l take care of you, o |

there. o
| followed the nurse to her table in the lobby. She selected
a sheaf of papedsondFi omi¢evamyt
no matter how peculiar it appea
| sat davn in the empty waiting area. The nurse scurried
off.
| punched the number for Eppington. After two clicks and

a beep, a womanés voice said,
calling?bo

AMar k Eppington. o

AYour name?0 | told heme APl e
went dead.

Finall vy, Eppington answered.
ltés four in the morning. o

AYou at home?0 | said.

AYeah. Whatods up?o0

ACan anyone el se hear me?0

AYou calling on your <cell ?0
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Yeah. o

Hang up. Il 611 get right back
| obeyed. Severaleconds ticked by. My phone rang,

and Eppington said, AOkay, Bi |l |
I said, Al 6m here in a hospit

Don6t spread what |1 6m saying ar

What do you mean?o0

I mean youbve got a | eak. o

A | eak?o0

Somebody knewndwhy. Weevere her e.

t at. o

What ? Youdre goobong to have t
dondt have time to give yo
I know. Thereds a shipment

sti area. I dondt know what

What do you mean, Obig?6090

Why el se would the gang behi

Gang? Now wait a minute
AThey think webre dead alread

Khamd o

s h

w h
Ch

e | | R = L L o Qe e S L S 1
—_ -

AWhat ? Stop. Yowdéve got to ex

ANo time. When | get there, I

AWhat ? Whenwhgreé?® get :

Al 61l contact you. At the Cor

Al dondt unders®Hand. Corpus C

AYou better get there right a

A Ok ay 0 jusd calmldgwn. When will you be
there?b9

AUh . Aawhatt otdiame i s i t?0 | gl
watch. ltwasatit | e after two a.m. fAYea
go. See you there.o
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| started filling out the many treatment forms. In addition
o everything else, they wanted
istory, which | didndédt know. I
A big man with thick round shouldens & pale green outfit
came up to me. AYouodre Bill Far
of his hand with a stethoscope.
| told him | was Billy. He said he was Dr. Worl,"\®-R-L.

t
h

AMr. Montrose says he was i nj
me what happened. 0

Adondt remember much. 't was
Next thing I know webdre into a

Dr. Worl pointed to my sheaf
report has to be filled out completely, you know. It goes to the
police. 0

Al éll do the best | can. o

The doctordés nose was weirdly
mi ddl e | inebacker without a hel
wound is deadened, Il 61l cl ose i
ltés a bad tear, | i ke a punctur
likcabul | et wound. o

AnYeah, it was a really bad wr

AnAfterwards, heodol | be geod to
care instructions. | hope all i

turned and left.

It was after three a.m. when the taxi arrived. We got in,
Zackcussing the hospital gown t he
La Fonda, | went inside and glanced around. Back at the taxi, |
told Zack it was clear. He hobbled into the lobby in the gown,
and | tried to shield him from the clerk on duty. When the door
closedot he el evator, Zack said, AT

AHow do you know?o
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AHe got those cactus quills o
Al see what you mean. 0
I n our room, Zack said, AWher

the maid didndét take it. o

The bottle was on the washstand. | pour&ctwas
left into two plastic tumblers. We belted the tequila. Zack
laid back on one of the beds and fell asleep. | finished my
tequila and fell asleep in the armchair.

it

We descended over Corpus Chri st
layover at DFW, where wehanged planes. The delays had
accumulated well beyond my hogeg was now past six in the
evening.

Zack was still asleep in the next seat. | tried to
calculate where the Estrella truck would be. If it had left
Narsomds ranch ear | yrpadforhey mi gh
fourteen hours. That would put them near the Texas
Mexi co border between Big Bend
need perhaps six more hours to reach Corpus Ghristi

unl ess, of course, theyodd | eft

The announcement A...the Capt
fasterseatb e | t si gno woke Zack. ADami
having the best dream. o0 He | ook

though still in some pain from his stitchag thigh.
Once on the ground, we slowly made our way through
the terminal, Zack limping gamely. laehed the nearby
people warily, haHexpecting to see Eppington, but no
familiar face materialized. As we left the restroom, | heard
a publicaddress announcement:
AArriving passenger Mr . Farri
courtesy telephone for a messag
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The female voice on the recording directed me to pick up a
message at the o6l nformation Des
|l turned to Zack. AWhere the

Desk?o0

He shrugged. AMaybe we passed

We eventually found the Information Desk, where the
clerk asled for identification before handing me a piece of
paper, folded twice with a sticker that sealed it.

AThat 6s Eppington, o Zack said
the way. o

The paper directed us to go t
which involved another sgch.

Eppington was inside the office with a worried look on his
face. He saw Zackodés | imp, and t
pantsdé |l eg. AWhat happened to vy

Zack smiled. fAltés a damned g

Eppington di dn 6 meabeutthiatlater. i Y 0o u
Right now, youdd better follow
to the main lobby. From there we went to the parking lot. We
had to stop several times to allow Zack to catch up.

We approached a black Chevy Suburban with darkened
windows. Eppington opened a side passenger door and
motioned for us to enter. There were two men in the front seats.

As we got in, the driver turned and his stegimed glasses
slid nearly to the end of his nose.

Als it the Moors, oi c&ares3@i d, i

ASonofabitch, o6 | said, | aughi
Lorenzo and his seahate, Agent Clancy.

Eppington gestured at two nearby vehicles, a Suburban
with dark glassandaChevymsdi ze. Al 6ve brougt

218



Dangerous Parallel

just 1 n case. 0 Hearensteearte.d falhkda yt.
Now tell me what i s going on.o
Zack told about being run off the road on the
Interstate by the two men in a pickup, the car crash, and
the gunfire that came close to killing us.
Eppingtonds face was grim. AW
You mean aftethe crash, these two thugs fired machine

guns into the wreckage to finis

AHow el se did | get this souv
pointing.

Eppington glanced at the thig
hope. o

AA nick. Twenty stitches. 0

ALook, Mar kregqottdtallsabwautdthe A we 6
leakd and the gang. 0

Mar k squinted. fAHow do you fi
Al sent you an email saying C
agent code named FARO and others are planning
6somet hing bigdé near Oak Point.

Eppington nodded.

A And cgngputer showed | was in New Mexico,
right?0o

Aaiwell, uh . . . the airline f

AThe O6gangd had access to tho
possible way they could have set up the two killers to
i ntercept wus. o0

AWhat i f someo@areund ahsrevgerou p ok

you were?o0
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CHAPTER 27

Eppingtoni waisngwmati nsi de the b

ASure, Mark, o | s aiddteirrNBWe wer e
Mexi co headquarters. But we wer
sure they never spotted us. o
Zacksai d, Al Om with Billy on th
the guns were set up earlier. o
ASo you both think we have a
AExactly, o | said. AHow el se

were on to them and that we wer
Zack nodded.

Eppingtonl@ k ed worried. @Al see wha

| gave Eppington the details
boat, Carlos, Khan, and the shi
al most nothing about the actual
hundreds of millions of dollars changinghd s, 1t 6s got
big. o

ASo you think -GamedFARO,isSthel van,
Cuban contact for this man Khan

ARiIi ght . Khanés the brains. Za
is going to Oak Point, where the shrimp boat is moored. From
there, who knows?0

Eppngt ond6s eyes went to agent
Youdve gehemapiss it?o0
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Clancy pulled open a large folding map of Texas. He

consulted its index and held the map for Eppington to see.

right here, 0 he said. ALess tha
Eppingp n6s eyes narrowed and he

| ooked at Lorenzo and Clancy. i
Whoever6s | eaking knows everyth
happened since Billyds call to
Carl os has given us the slip.o
|l said, fAWhat?0
Lorenzo said, fAHeds really go

figured out we were shadowing him. He went inside a
building in downtown, knocked an aonditioning service
technician over the head, stole his uniform and walked out,
right under Monr oretties nose. He d
servicemands van. o

AMonroe?o0

AAgent Monroe, 0O Eppington sai
blame him. Carlos is good. But dammit, Billy, you should
have told us earlier. \de0

With an edge, Zack interrupte
dead for sure bdy tnoow oiuf ewaerd d ebrl

|l said, AYou might not have b
then, anyway. We knew something was up, and we had
hunches, but we didndot know eno

Eppington held his hands up,
everybody. Hang justaimnut e. 0 He pul l ed hi s

from its belt holder, and quickly punched it numerous
times.

In less than a minute he seemed to address the two
agents: fAlodve reviewed the news
Mexico crash. They all say the smoldering wreckage of a
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single vehicle on25 was reported and the State Police are

i nvestigating, but therebds o6éno
remains in the vehodorlusped® That m
knows they did not kill Billy Farris or Zack Montrose. We, the

Bureau, are nowesponsible for their safety. Is that
understood?bo0

Lorenzo and Clancy nodded.

Eppington continued: AWebve ¢
Clancy, you brief the Corpus crew. Establish a plan for Oak
Point. But warn everyone to keep base in the dark about what
webdbre doing and where we are,

AAn Oak Point plan. No base ¢
the suburban and went to the other suburban.

AWhat 6s your best guessqg Bi |l |
uh . . . 0
Jarralito, Néawt Mexmabfeeud t wea

0]

A
miles from Santa Fedatédndafyi ea
ALorenzo, 06 Eppington said, fig
figure the minimum and maxi mum
ASure, 0 Lorenzo said. He open

from his seat. He circlew the rear, opened the door, grabbed a
large briefcase, and slammed the door behind him.

Zack and | were alone with Ep
not my business, MdaoyouinteBditd | 6 m
bring Doug Howlandger in on thi

Eppington kneagld his lips with his hand and finally
spoke. Al 6ve been thinking abou
foreign aspects of this iIinvest.i
weodll just |l et him see if he ca
keep him out of our hair.o

HitH

222



Dangerous Parallel

Emilio Sanchez from the Corpus crew, Clancy, Lorenzo and
Eppington stared at the map laid out in the cargo area at the

rear of the Chevy Suburban. Lorenzo tapped it with his index
finger . @ Whetwave drasgphhedatyh aotnbes t h e
onlychokepoih wi t hi n an hourdés drive.

Zack and | watched with fascination.

ADescribe that truck agai n, B

Altés white, one of those big
two seat cab, dual wheels under the box, | think. Lettering
ont he sides says OEstrella Foods

AWe dondédt know how many peopl
Eppington said, Acould be a doz
be another vehicle accompanying it. Emilio, | want you to
take the whole Corpus créwsixd plus yourself and the
two units. Set up the intercept at the choke point.

ABilly thinks the two guys in
without a fight, but we candét d
capture, load the crew you can spare in the box and drive it
to the Oak Point rendezvous with tfieronica B.Make
sure you have the same number in the cab as they have.

We dondét want Oak Point to be s

Sanchez smiled. APrisoners wi
countyd temporarily. Voice and data links will enable a
full stealth setup when we arrive. Thelpthing i there
are a bunch of boats at the hafbaeve need a way to
identify the target boat. o

Al can draw a diagram showing
is, o0 | said. Alf youdre in the
fairly easy to spot. o

ABut 1 toes dark,go tloorbenzo sai d.
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ATrue, 0 Eppington said. ASti]l
backup. 0 Some paper was produce
showing the position of the boa
Any questions, Emilio?0o

Sanchez shook his head.

Eppington gobut and lingered by the open door of the big

vehicle. AWe candot alert anyone
traffic to a mini mum. Mai nt ai n
har bor . Good luck. o

Emilio gathered his crew next to the other Suburban. They
began lheir planning.

With Lorenzo driving and Clancy in the rear of the
Suburban that Eppington called
followed the Corpus crew out of the airport. At the highway,
they turned toward Zapala and we turned in the opposite
direction.

Thesun slipped close to the horizon and the sky dimmed. |
gave Eppington some of the detail from my prior trip to Oak
Point harbor. Clancy was busy in the rear arranging the small
armory stored there in plastic bins. He laid out weapons, belts,
sights and amunition, checking everything.

Eppington studied the Suburba
ARTake route 361, 0 he instructed
Port Aransas Coast Guard Statio

When we reached the Station, Eppington left us, bounded
up the stairs and dippeared. After a few minutes, he returned.

AOkay, |l etdés get to Oak Point. o
After taking the ferry and briefly driving inland, we
entered a |l ong causeway. Althou

different direction, | immediately recognized the environs of
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Oak Point The sparse illumination from the few
streetlights accentuated the shabbiness of the town.

At the same motel where 106d s
Eppington rented a unit and ushered Zack inside. When he
returned to the car, he | ooked
altout being |l eft out, o he said,
for an injured civilian on this operation.

Altés potentially hazardous. o

need you to identify the player
your skin. Areyouuptpar ti ci pating?o

It sounded dangerous. HAAre yo
skateboard with a missing wheel

Eppington | aughed. #Al hope we

|l said, ATurn right at that i
smal | bri dge. 0 tWidedaddhate ont o t h
twists past Tateds bar. My hast
previous visit flashed into my memory. We turned onto the
harbor road. Other than an occasional light showing
through a boat porthole, the docks seemed deserted. As we
neared th&/eronca B, a rusted sedan pulled from a
nearby shrimp processor compound and flashed by us on
its way out of the harbor area.

We drove past the&eronica B.The rusty Dodge
pickup was angle parked at the dock. Lights burned in the
deck house.

AWi th alelnntalee oaan i ts roof, 0 Ep
Athis is a distinctive vehicle.
hard to see and approach on foo

ARTheredbs a spot near the end
mi ght work, o | said, thinking o
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Lorenzo dove there, then parked in a darker area on a
gravel road that teed into the harbor road. A sign on the timber
ti mber and tin garage at the <co

We gathered at the open rear of the Suburban. Clancy
handed Lorenzo two miniature radiodl|ashlight, and a pump
shotgun in a cloth cover. Eppin
holster with a .45 automatic, which he checked. Clancy loaded
himself up with several dark jackets with white FBI lettering,
and two more shotgune mwetdh kReve
said to me, #fAitoll hel p hide th

We walked in a close group alongside the fences, shacks,
docks and finger piers. | felt the guns were hidden as well as
possible, but wondered what would happen if we encountered
someone alongtheway. Forh at el vy, we di dnot .

We walked without talking until we reached teronica
B.

As we slowed near the abandoned building next to the
boat 6s dock, Eppington spoke in
untilour eyes arefullydare d apt ed. 06 We moved i
shadows where several nets were draped over wood supports.

Eppington turned to me. AWhat
i nside that building next to th

Al dm pretty sure thereds a do
know about getting inside .

AClI amey sa@ai d, Ayou set up here
jackets and a shotgun. o0 Lorenzo
and the other to Eppington.

We left Clancy and crossed to the building. While
Eppington kept watch at the corner, | tried the door, but it
w o u | apandAs | was reporting this to Eppington, Lorenzo
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whi spered a short distance from
inside.
We went to him. He raised a rotted plywood cover
hinged from the top. The hasp and the locked padlock that
hung from it had pulled throughe wood. This revealed
an opening in the side of the building, probably for
deliveries. After lifting his leg into the opening, Lorenzo
ducked inside. Eppington and | followed.
It was very dark inside. Very dimly, | made out what
looked like a couple rosvof shelving separated by aisles.
Dirt and debris covered the floor.
We edged our way toward the side that fronted
VeronicaBbs dock. On that wall was
two-feet square, divided into four sections. None of the
four held more than a feshards of glass. Through this we
glimpsed the pilot house of the shrimp boat, less than a
dozen feet away. Most of the deck house, however, was
hidden from view.
Creaking noises from théeronicaBd s hul | rubbin
against pilings as well as sounds of agaut TV drifted to
us. | explored a corner of the interior. A fairly large crack
between two boards allowed me to view the Dodge parked
on the harbor road. Beyond, and to the side, | saw the net
repair shop where Clancy was crouched, nearly invisible,
under draped nets.
As we waited, a threguarters moon rose. It shed a
pale light that filtered inside through the many rust holes
in the corrugated metal roof. The agents removed the
covers from the shotguns, and each of us pulled on a FBI
jacket.
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Lorenzo hd struggled with the door | failed to open.
Finally he worked it quietly from the inside until it came loose
|l oose with a squeak. ANot | ocke
j ammed. O

AAs soon as we sight the truc
said to Lor emzand,usihwe ONelol d etwati he
guys inside th&/eronica Bshow themselves before we jump.

I 61 1 give the word. o He repeate
Clancy say, fAUnderstood. o
Lorenzo said, ABilly, you sta
shotgun, loadedyi t h t he safety on. o0 He
sure | understood. Altdés for yo
Hereb6s the safety, flip it off,

want you even putting this gun to your shoulder unless you
think somgbdadodyd&s Ithr wiou. You get
I told him I was not a hunter
anything with the gun anyway.
AYou dondédt have to have terri

patting the barrel. AThat 6s for
visiondl i ke me. 0

Eppington, whodéd been quiet f
AThis is the part | hate. Being
thinking some more. The thinkin
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CHAPTER 28
I stared, but coul dnot see the
time ?2 0 | sai d.
Lorenzo reffty-i edee A&i ght
| t seemed | ater . AfShoul dnodt w

now?o

Neither Eppington or Lorenzo answered.

Minutes passed. A rumble came from the direction of
Tateds bar. It grew | ouder. I d
crack between boards allowed me to view the harbor road.

Eppington said, fAWhat do you

The headlights were blinding. | barely saw a row of
yell ow |ights high above the da
a truck . . .0

AStandby, 0 prphablytoglancponshai d,
radio.

As the truck came towards us,
side, now slightly visible, looked brown. | searched for the
Estrella logo. There was none. The truck roared past.

AFal se alarm, o0 | said. AThat

i Cr a penzo sdido r

What seemed like another hour went by. The quiet
and the darkness made me drowsy, despite the growling of
my stomach. |l realized | hadnot
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ALor@whlat do you think?0 | sai
haywire?o

iDon 6t Ldremzm wajdoHis voice was calm, matter
of-fact.

Later, Eppington said, ALIi ght
looking outthe brokey | ass wi ndow. AThe cat
out in the boat. o

| noticed that the sounds of music and voices from the TV
or radio hadalso ceased. | was dejected. | began to rethink
everything. Had | got the plan wrong? Was the shipment

headed for a different | ocation
| knew. Was thé&/eronica Bscheduled to leave here and
rendezvous with the truck atafdie r ent port ? | col
sure.
The radio crackled. Clancy sa
Eppington said, fAWedre standi

Anot her half hour dragged by.
Mar k ? 0

Al dondt know, 0 Eppington sai
| became disgustetivhy were these FBI guys so matter
off act? Didnodot they realize thei

A minute later, the rumble of a truck sounded. | ducked to
the corner where | could see through the crack between boards.
First | saw headlights, then the yellownning lights, then the
cab. The truck slowed, lighting up the roadway in my view. Its

side came i nto view and | saw t
ABilly, o0 Eppidgton said. Al s
AYes, yes, thatoés it! o

Softly, Eppington Esteliattuck. A Cl an
Standby for my command. 0 A paus
adjusting something on the radio.
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AEmi |l io, 0 Eppington said, ATHh
stationed here in the building next to ¥eronica BWhy
the delay?o0
Silence.
The truck stopped, aricheard the gears grind. The
front wheels squealed as they turned. The truck began
backing toward the dock.

ACl ancy, do you read?0 Epping

ALoud and cl ear, o

AEmi |l i o Sanchez, 0 Eppington s
Eppington. Come in.o

Silence.

Thetruckit hed backwards, the dies
interrupted as the driver made steering corrections.

AShit, o Lorenzo said. ASomet h
radi o. 0O

AEmi lio, please come in, o0 Epp
now | ouder . I n a softer svoi ce,
alive on the boat. o

Lorenzo said, AOkay, Mar k. Yo

AStand by, o0 Eppington said.
The chatter of a mechanical brake sounded. The

drivero6és door swung open, and t
emerged. | strained to see who it @aswas John
Petersn!

AMark, o | said, Altdéds all wro

one of the gang! o

Eppington said, AStandby. The
paused. AFBI not on board. Repe
Standby. o

AUnderstood, 6 said Clancyobs v
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| felt around for the bartef the shotgun. It was cold, but
not as cold as my hand.

The diesel of the truck went to an idle. Peterson stepped
out onto the sand. A clatter came from the boat.

AStandby, 06 Eppington said. AW
boat. Bl ack ¢ owb dgadirfg#otthesidd.nar med
Now onto the dock. o

ANumber two and three on the
AHal f dressed. Theydre hanging

The black cowboy hat appeared on the dock. It was the
man | 6d seen driving the Dodge

Petersos hout ed, #AYou planning to

I coul dndét hear cowboy hatds
stood at the rear of the truck.

AHow many you count?0 Eppingt
had moved to the window.

AFi ve tot al if there arde two
unsure. A...and i f there were 't

Eppington d@aamnmd,ydll|l aeeyt he tr

AAffirmative. Standing by. o

t
[

ABull shit, 0o Peterson said 0
Eppington said, AHow many n
Cl ancyebssaviod,c iCanodt tell. Dor

Cowboy hat gripped a handhold on the rear of the truck
and placed a foot on the step.
Al &m not wunl oading nothing to
tired. o
AnCl ancy, you cover your side,
takethe ear and the far side. On tfF
AAffirmative, 06 Clancy said.
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AFi ve. Four. o Eppington count
grasped their guns and slipped quietly out the door.
Two. 0O
My eyes strained to see the gang react.
AOne. Zero. o
Clancy entead the scene from my left.
Eppington and Lorenzo appeared. With his .45 leveled
at cowboy hat, Eppington shoute
Hands above head! You are al/|l u
Lorenzo aimed his shotgun at Peterson.
Clancy approached the truck with Bisotgun aimed,
Sshouting, fiFreeze! Dondét move a
Peterson and cowboy hat raised their hands, slowly.
| went to the broken glass window in time to see one
man on thé/eronicaB0s deck retreat into t
lights went out.
| returnedto the crack between boards. A third man
rounded the front of the truck with his hands raised to
shoulder level.
Cl ancy shouted at him, fAHands
side. o
Lorenzo approached cowboy hat, his shotgun aimed
with one hand. i&ett oeerguhnheo eH

gestured with his other hand. i
With the three men now on the
truck, Eppington said, Al 6m age
You are under arrest. Turn around, place your hands on the
side of the truck and spread yoard s . Now! O
Lorenzo aimed his shotgun toward Weronica B.
and shouted, fAOn board the boat
Come to the rail. Now!o
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| went to the window. The only sound now was the
creaking oV e r o n i lulahagdinst éhe pilings. Lorenzo
slowly crossed the gangway onto the deck oMbamnica B.
with his shotgun aimed toward the calidnce there, he
scrambled to the cabin in a crouch. At its side, he stood up,
reached with one hand and flung the docerop
Eppington appeared o6hdémhe gan
covering you, 0 he said, his .45
Lorenzo slipped through the doorway and disappeared.
Eppington crossed onto the deck of Yferonica Bwith
his gun ready, and scrambled to the cabin. At theditlee
cabin he stood up next to the open door, listening.
| glimpsed a moving light inside the cabin that | took to be
from Lorenzodbs flashlight. Shor
From the left, | glimpsed lights moving on the harbor road.
As | turned to seeg shot came from théeronica BA second,
louder blast, followed. When | glanced back at the boat,
Eppington remained outside. #fLO
was no answer, Eppington swung into the doorway and
disappeared.
I rushed to the crackintieoar ds. The [ i ghts
were gone. Clancy held his shotgun on the men at the side of
the truck, but glanced intermittently and anxiously toward the
Veronica B.
| returned to the broken glass window. Eppington shortly
appeared at the cabin door lwhis arms around Lorenzo. They
staggered across the deck. Lor e
stomach. Eppington could barely support Lorenzo, whose
shotgun remained tucked under his arm. The two men tottered
on the gangway, scarcely moving.
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Eppington It his grip. Lorenzo slid spredeigged to
the dock. His shotgun clattered to the timber. He moaned
and sucked in his breath.
Eppington tried to |Iift Loren
coughed. Blood overflowed his lips.
| grasped the shotgun in one hand aeged through
the doorway.
A man stepped out of théeronicaB6 s cabi n

doorway with a pistol i n his ha
AJust stay where you are. o
The |ight caught Doug Howl and
couldndt believe it was hi m.
Eppington knelbeside Lorenzo, his .45 still in his
shoul der holster. He tightened
shoul der . I n a |l oud, angry voic
Howl andger. Youodl | never get aw
Howlandger edged sideways so that Eppington
remainedbeteen him and Clancy. #ADono
Clancy, 0 he yell ed, Aor your bo

Howlandger did not see me at the door of the
building. | wanted my breathing to cease, thinking it would
alert him to my presence.

Lorenzo moaned, and slumped forward. iBgjon
said something to him while glaring at Howlandger.

At the side of the truck, Clancy continued to aim his
gun at the captives, but his attention was drawn to
Eppington and Howlandger. The captives turned their
heads to see what was happening.

| lifted the shotgun to my shoulder and raised the
barrel. In what seemed like a day and a half, | searched
with my right hand for the guno
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Eppington must have seen me. His hand went toward his
holstered .45.
Howl andger sai d, 0 GavedHisy, Mar
pistol and raised his voice. A D
Another man appeared at the doorway to the cabin
doorway. Swaying, he grasped the doorframe for support.
ADammit, Howlandger, 0 he said,
front of his shirt was red withlood.
My thumb felt the shotgunbds s
moved out, aiming the shotgun at Howlandger. | opened my
mouth to tell him to drop his gun, but the man at the cabin
doorway saw me. He yelde@d, #ALoo
Howlandger whirled toard me. He aimed the pistol at
me. A shot rang out and a bright light flashed. | pulled the
trigger. The shotgundés stock bi
deafening roar. Howlandger fell backwards, screaming.
| turned slightly and pointed the shotgun toward tlze rat
the doorway. He hesitated for an instant, then ducked inside. |
di dndét realize | couldndét fire
and a casing flew out. The smell of burned gunpowder filled
the air.
Eppington was now on his feet, his .45 trained on
Howlandger. Doug lay on the deck, not moving, but his right
foot twitched. Eppington rushed
pistol from his limp hand. He quickly turned both guns toward

the captives, whodédd begun to ta
your handsonther uck, 6 he shout ed, lanc
cool . 0

Eppington glanced up at me. i
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I now realized Howlandger had fired his pistol at me,
but had missed. | could hardly believe the sequence.

Y edalh . . .l guess. 0
AJust c ov e rEppingtan saich ideguened o
and hollered at Clancy, #nGet on

He hol stered his .45, dropped D
to Lorenzo, who had crawled onto the dock and collapsed.
Howlandger was not moving. It was hard to tell if he
was breathing.
Just then, a roar came from the big diesel of the
Veronica Blt began running fast. | heard the gears. The
boat moved a couple feet away from the dock. Its lines to
the pilings went taut, then snapped and fell into the water.
The boat shudeted, and without resistance, the stern lept
upward. The/eronica B.continued to plow from the dock,
pushing a big wave ahead of its stern. It was moving fast
toward open watér in reverse!
Over the roar of the diesel, I
int o hi s r adidoQak HoiRtharber agentrdodm e r
agent down! Hurry!o
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CHAPTER 29

The small waiting area off the emergency room held only two
chairs and a vinyl couch. A clerk behind the information desk
was either absent or nonexistent. Aepisc recently used to
sterilize the room smelled worse than paint thinner.
You drove the Suburban yours
I didndt have any choice
AYessir. But itds a governmen
custody. 0 Heert uofnfeidc etro satnaontdhi n g
find out how wedre supposed to
The 6Gregb6 officer nodded and
double entrance doors.
| wondered, not only about the status of Lorenzo, but if all
this furo® the coming, going anguestioning by police and
deputies and technicians and clérkgould ever end.
AYoudre not a member of the F
i njured man here . . . who told
AFBlI Agent Mark Eppington. He
tod o
AYessital kedet ol him. 06 The off

o} B 1

notes. fiHe had suspects there,
paused. ANow this man here, 0 he
Ayoudos ay

AHeés FBI Agent Lorenzo Sanch

Howl andger . o
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AYessir. Samwcheédz. showti ng?ao
ANO. .0 0. I was

ASo how come you know Howl and
ABecause he had the d@uwn. Lor e
ARnOkay, | etds skip that. How ¢

di dndét come by ambul ance?b90
AThe ambul ance nevandcaledh owed.
from the harbor. Lorenzo was in bad shape. We figured it
would be quicker to drive him
ASo how come you didndét bring
was shot . . ?20 The officer <che
of Douglas Howlandger . . .0
Al t wansuglhgettind Loeenzo here. | ran all the
way to the Suburban. Drove back to the dock where Mark
and | barely lifted Lorenzo into the cargo space. He was

weak, bleeding. We were afraid
was, I didndt evenkKkilgtherey how t o
was this gug o

AYessir. We talked to that fe
my driverods |icense from his kn
forsuudé youdre not from here, youor
Visiting, | take it.o He paused
andreplaced the license on his knee.

ARSods | can understand, 0o he b

here to the E.R., you told nurse Tilda to send an
ambul ance to the Oak Point harb

NnYes. I knew there was
s hot . ddiMtantlyfilled with the yellow flash of
Howl andger és pistol, then the r

sweat trickle under my armpits.
AYou saw the shooting?bo9
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I di dnot want to talk about [

My stomach cramped. | narroved myeey and sai d, AC
wrap this up? |1 d6ve answered som
to find out how Lorenzo is doin
AYessir. Jud®d one more ques
The entrance door flew open, Mark Eppington entered and
strode to me. fABil |l yl!lckethachat hav e
bl oody smear d®@m it. Als Lorenzo

The officer i ntderorudptee cE.p pii hagu
right?o

AYeah, 0 Eppington said. He sa
couch. He glimpsed the Lone St a
shoulder patchyhipped out his iderfication, showed it to the
officer, and put it away. He turned to me with bloodshot eyes.
AWhat do you know?o

~

il havenot been able toodfind

The officer interrupted. Al t
pretty sure. o

Eppington mdded.

|l said, ASoon as | got here,
What about Howlandger ?0

AHeds Dtli ltlhialki.we Eppi ngton pu
|l oosen it more. AWhen | got to
already in the operating room. He was bneaj when the
EMTs arrived at the harbor, but he lost a lot of blood. He was
drifting . : : drifting in and
eyes. Al know it isndét easy, Bi
He ai med for you.oO

Al candt bellsael\skakingyheads sed, 0
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AHe didndot KWbhbwtidos wasatybe to
could barely hear him, but he said all he saw was the
shotgu he just pulled the trigger.

APardon, Eppington. 10 need to
Okay, Farris, tl It hnienekd |forvoem gyootu .
handed me my | icense. Al 6m f i xi
touch with you, if need be. 0 He

other uniformed officers.
Eppington glanced at the three and said, in a quiet

voice, Al candét bwthhimfore Doug. I
years. Always seemed okay. Maybe not as dedicated as
some, but . . .0

AHeds the I eak, o | said. Al oédm

gang found out about me and Zac

Eppington | ooked at the floor
had trouble accepting that. ews wr ong. 0

Ailtés been a hell of a night.
stretch my legs.

Eppington stood up and sai d,
were rumors. Rumors he had a tweteem mansion in
Jamaica. Somebody swore Doug had a big sailboat, too.
Butlalwaysfigu ed, maybe hedd managed

I was feeling weak, but fough
the boat?0o0

Al told the guys at the Port
Station to keep watch. ThéeronicaBwon 6t get f ar .
Clancybs takingaftentker ge of t hat
formalities. O

AFormal i ties?o

Eppington rubbed his eyes wit
late. Yeah, getting the suspects Mirandized, questioned, all
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the paperwork, | ockingtoretaremm up.
to the Oak Point dock. 0

AAgai n?o

AYeah, itdés the truck. The ha
arrived, and I 6m told theyodve s
about, but 16l find out. o He w
hall way. fiLetds $eebwbat Loveeoan

We went down the hall off the waiting room, where
Eppington found a nurse named H
Lorenzo is in there, 0 he said,
mar ked O6Surgery. 6 fiHe was shot
Mark Eppington® t he F Bdott oaika owdb ne® w h e

doing. Can you help me?0o0

She smiled. Al &6l see. o She p
waitingroomd s omeone will find you. o

We ambled back.

Eppington | ooked at me with a
know youodor edowdnddrli tchaa youbr e
Donét kid yourself, a | ot of pe
lot of questions. Some of them will be tough to answer. But the
worst questions will be those vy

He turned and looked at the night out siregle window.

AYou saved my butt. You saved a
ask for what happened, but

AWedl | have to talk about tha

AYeah, | ater, after | figure
still dondét know whapt happened

I glanced at my watch. AYou h

AA garbled radio message, aft
they were miles away. Not hing a
sigh.
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A doctor in scrubs, with a skullcap and a mask
dangling around hissamc Kk, approached. @ Mr .
Eppington said fAYes, Doc
ALorenzo Sanchez is going to
blood, but the bullet only nicked his right lung. We
removed the slug. Heds being st
next of kin?o
Eppington shookBi head. #ANo, not yet.
definitely, his family wil!/l be
The doctor turned to leave, then turned back.
AShoul dndt we do somet hing abou

Eppington didno6ét react. nAWe s
about c¢crime, Doc. 0O
Thedot or said, Al b6ve got to go

more to do. 06 He turned and hurr
As the doctor disappeared fro

your birthday, Mare I mean what 6s your sig
AOctober thirtieth. Scorpio. o
AThat 6s your aresensitvem. Scorpi o
emotional and independent. What they lack is the asbestos
butt to insulate them from the
He | aughed, then we both | aug
again.
AExcuse me, Mar k, o | said. I

where | vomited into a tak. | went to the sink, threw
some water on my face. | sat on a toilet until the feeling
passed. After some minutes, | returned to the waiting
room.
Eppington was right outside t
all right? | was about to come aha
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ABilly! ocaZaaoakdcéaémem behind Ep
knew something i

Eppington interrupted. AZack
the restroom. | told o

Zack interrupted. Al Om sittin
TV. A flock of cop cars go racing by, lights flashing, sirens
blaring. This fat broad the one who runs the pald@cshe
comes by all red in the face, s
scanner says therebés a big ruck
all . o

AWell they didn6ét have to sen
for the harbor,buvi t h t hi s | ousy | eg . .

Eppington said, Al told Zack
take. o

Zack saddreinyeahdoing all rig
Al &dm not sure, o0 | said. Altods
Eppingtonés cell phone jangl e

phone next tdis ear.
| said to ZacHer ohHowdéd you ge
Zack said, AWhen | got to the
except for the parking fees. | never saw sedgyhed many
cop cars in one spot in all my life. I tried to find you, Billy, but
nobody told me anythind.figured you were either dead or

wounded, so | hitched a ride he
you donét have bull et hol es, ne
|l gave him a weak smil e. Al 61
rest. o
Rubbing the lump made by the bandage on hghtand
glancing around, Zack said, ATHh
that . o
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About that time, Eppington lowered his phone, and

said, AThat was Clancy. He says
Guard chopper is out tracking tileronica B.The man on
watch saysthepiot reports the track 1is

boat wanders around San Antonio Bay like its helmsman
doesndét know where heds going.
boat has been dispatched. 0
AThato6ll take 6éem a while, o Z
ALet 6s finish updriveyodpagki ngt on
to the motel, Zack. Billy and | will check through the
police station, then 16l get h
some rest. Okay?o0
For a change, Zack agreed. By the time Eppington and
| completed the paperwork at the police station and
returned to the motel, a dull glow outlined the eastern
horizord it was not moreftan a half hour before sunrise.
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CHAPTER 30

I awoke to Eppingtonds knock wi
filling the motel room showed how truly shabby the place was.
Mywat ch showed al most ten o006cl o
ASorry to wake you, 0 Eppingto
for Zack. 0O
AUh . . . what?06 My brain was
He smiled. fAWe brought two un
get Zack to the Corpus airport for his flight home. Agetting
through to you?bo
AOh, vyeah, o | said, reali zing
the |l ot. Als he ready to go?o0
Eppington gestured, and | saw Zack jamming a suitcase in
the rear of a gray van parked in front of his cottage. Vapor
streamed from its exdust.
Al o6l 1 be with you as soon as
ANo rush, o Eppington said. Al
Suburban. o
| dressed quickly and left the cottage without shaving.

Zack stood at ofthe grgyas,daékinggee r 6 s d

the driver behind the wieel . |l went to him and
one lucky son of a bitch.o

AWatch your | anguage, Sonny. o0
police are everywhere.o
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Al &m sorry youbre | eaving. I
warned. O
Zack grinned and climbed into

You better get your butt back ¢
hire someone competent to crew

AOkay, o | said, #Aldll be in t
somet hing. o

AHel |l 6s bells! o He cl osed the
have to wait that | ong. 0

| waved aghe van pulled away.

At the Suburban, I told Eppin
soon as | shaved and washed up.

will be for coffee and maybeaTexass zed br eakf ast .
At The Wagon restaurant with
all four walls, Eppigton treated me to coffee, ham and
eggs, and a short stack of pancakes. It was the first real
me a | | 6d Haurchoursn t wenty
Al figured youbéd want to know
Eppington said as we drank our
light this morning, tle crew of the Coast Guard chopper
0rescuedd t h¥eromeaBHalfindllywgave g t he
himself up and they hauled him off the boat in one of those
baskets. When they got him up inside the chopper, they
saw his arm was i njurakedhit Hedd a
tourniquet to lessen the bleeding while trying to drive the
boat to escape.
ABut according to the Coast G
understand how to navigé@ee kept looking for the Gulf
of Mexico and not finding 1t. H
t h er e Getacoess frdm San Antonio Bay to the Gulf
of Mexico. o
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I chuckl ed. AYeah. The barrie
Matagorda, blocks the passage to the Gulf. You have to take
the I ntracoastal to one of the

Eppingtonnodde. fAl fi gured youdd kn.
This guy didndét. o

AWhat 6s the status of the boa

He took a sip of coffee and s
morning was that it had been de
l 6m told this deCodstaGuaadciew,n per mi
which arrived at th&eronica Bby boat, to board it.

AYouol | be dumbfounded to kno
boys found on boafil huge bundles of cadhall in twenties.
Theydébre counting it now, but th
milionsofd ol | ars on that boat. o

Minutes later, before we left the restaurant, Eppington got
a phone call . After he finished

people at Port Aransas have tentatively identified the man
driving theVeronicaBThey say hé&anCarl os
Al ol l be damned, 0 | said. A So
were on board 0
Eppington held up his hand, p
mi nut e. |l dondét want to get ahe
identified him as Carl os say he
Maybe he took some shrapnel to his arm during the boarding

operation. He c¢cl aims heébés Luis

any identification on him. oo
Alf itds Carl os, I could iden
AWe may need you to do that. o
Al f Carl os and Howl aVetbgioar wer

Bat Oak Point, it sure |l ooks 1|1
Eppington nodded. AThe arriva
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AThe shipment on board the Es
Eppington frowhegmemYeah. The
| gave him an expectant look.
AnMaybe we ought to get on wit
Eppington said, rising from his seat and pulling his wallet
from his back pocket. Al o6l cat
Before | could say anything, he headed to the cashier,
where hepaid by credit card. Once we left the restaurant

and entered the Suburban, he sa
in the restaurant, Billy. I 61 1
hospital .o

We drove through Portland to Corpus Christi, and
ramped onto South Padlsland Drive. At the Medical
Center, we parked and inquired at Emergency. We were
directed to the Intensive Care Desk, where Eppington
stood for several minutes, waiting for information.

After a brief conversation wi
arrived aftera short time at the desk, Eppington
approached me.

AHowl andger és under guard, 0 h
allowing visitors. He has survived several major surgeries
and is heavily medicated. His condition is rated as
ocritical .60 He IhbisHamds at me c a
clasped together. fADo you have
concerns?o

| thought about the shooting and events that had

occurred afterwards. Al guess n
my reactions into words. Al t hi
survives. That magiot matter to him. He might not even

know who | am, or what | did. H
conscious right now, right??59
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Eppington shrugged. AHebds hea
AYou know, itédés very hard to
ways, | think my mind doeént want to accept wl
AThat 6s probably true, 0 Eppin
mi nd not accepting. o0 He stood s

After a moment, | turned away from the desk and we
started out of the area. When we reached the elesyat
Eppington said, Al édm truly sorr
are some professionals at Headqg
He gl anced at the expression on
We didndét speak until we arri
| sai d,s MWhkat?o
| 6ve got to st ayohludre g rwlbialb

fi
anxious to get back to Florida,
i Y edadack and | have probably missed a charter or
t wo. O
AOkay. |l 611 take you back to
your gear and Irdlfll isgehet yhooumeg.eot |
AOf course you realize there ar
because youodre a witness, a par
dondt you?bo
Al suppose | do. | hope itobs
Eppington went to thddosi de of
what we can to keep it that way
| said, AThatdés not totally r

He opened the door and ducked
of everything. o

I got into the passenger seat
about the Estrella truck?0o

AnOh, yeahd Ot hHe csara.r tfieYou see,
has become sort of a jurisdictdi
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AWhat do you mean by that?o
Awell, itdés a |ittle weird. A
Texas hazmat crew arrived not long after we were overrun
by local police units. Thigzzas before anyone found the
keys to the |l ocks on the truck?qo
people poked around and ended up pasting plastic stickers
over the rear dororddiedpiidntey coul d
why, but indicated that the truck had to be sealed, pending
furt her action. o
ASo they regarded the vehicle
hazard to the environment?

AYoudd guess that to be it.o

ASeems odd. o

Al admit, Il didndot fully wunde
thing was that the I RU arrived.
IncidentRespps e Unité got there, they

Federal government had the responsibility, and they took

over from the hazmat people. 0

What the heck is their job?0

They say itbés safety and sec

That 6s not very specific. o

I 6m not wup ontthedsegbei &ede

Government. The truck is still parked where it was.

Theydre not talking to us about

where we are as of a few hours
#i#

As | entered the lobby at Key West International, Julia rushed

to me with her wonerful smile. We hugged and kissed.

Repeat.

oI e ! s ! S 1}
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Al missed you, 0 she said. dl

you, then | get two calls in a
At baggage claim, she linked her arm with mine as |

scanned for my bag. | wondered if the airlind br@nsferred

my bag when 1 6d changed pl anes

been hectic . . ., 0 | began.
ANever mind explaining. o She

good to have you home. The only
AThe only thing is . . . what

i On t h dyot said got weceatl Corpus Christi.
That s Texas. o0

|l saw my bag. ARight . . .0

Al thought you went to New Me

|l pointed, went to the carous
went to New Mexico. But then, o

you aboutitla er . 0
We headed for the parking lot.
Julia said, fiZack stopped by

the airport. He was | i mping. He
car accident. But you know Zack
RnYeah, we did have a car acci
AYoerwndt hurt, were you?bo
i No, Il 6m fine. o | grinned at
RZack also said you might hayv

for a while. He said some bad things happened, but that you
were okay. What did he mean by
AWel |l , thatés ZPrabmaby rdfeoringtoy o u . H
the food. In Texas they have what they call-Me x . 0
ASpicy?0o0
Anlf you think tacos, nachos,
salsa are spicy, yes. o
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il | i ke some of those. O

We arrived at Juliads car. i B
somegoodadd Ameri can home cooking. o
door and got behind the wheel
AAs sure as | am you are drivin
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CHAPTER 31

What remained of the roast beef on the platter between us was
now at room temperature. Two nearby disiéh bits of
steamed and sauteed vegetables looked much less appetizing
than they had an hour earlier.

| grasped the wine bottle and poured what was left into our
two glasses.

AThat 6s about it. l'tds some Kk
dirty money, drugs, ahrimp boat, a foodistributor and their
truck, a New Mexico ranch, an American bank and a bank in
Abu Dhabi. It all came to a climax with the FBI raid at Oak
Point harbor in the middle of t
to shoot the CIA guy, Doug Howlad g er . 0

ABut you didndot have a choice
Al sure thought | was going t
personahe di dndét recognize me. But
me, either. | just reacted. It all happened in a fraction of a
second. o

Al 6m so t hankifpuded Bhidrl ywionel.ulf

grateful he missed. 0
Al d&dm lucky to be here.o | sip
AThis CIA man, Howlandger, su
NfYeah. But | 6ve got to face t
make it.o
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AHe was wrong in what he did,
threatemng t o ki | | . . . the black I
AHe had his gun on Eppington,
AHe was distracted, and then

AnYeah . . . 0

AThat 6s attempted murder. o Sh
AHe6s sure to be prosecuted if

Al &6m not mw®ugbht whateheé

ABut he was wrong. O

ASur e, he was a turncoat. He
and shot at me. But even that d
penalty. | mean if he dies, tha

penalty. o
AButdyomomwbdre not part .lof the FE

seemssounfaryou being placed in that

AThey needed me, and | agreed
emptied my glass. fAUnfortunat el
di dndét account for the Estrell a

Julia rose from her chair drwent into the kitchen. |
heard the refrigerator door open and close.

She returned with a squat green bottle with a wired
top. Al candét handle popping co
the bottle to me.

| opened the bottle and poured.

ATo my her oshedaid, andwe draokv e , 0

She sai d, ABut what about the

Carlos, or Khan?o

AThat 6s a whole other story. o
AWe may not have enough champag

She smiled. ATry me. o0
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i

Arni eds but ttbecchag. Withvaecigal | o we
smoldering in his jaw and his arms folded across his middle, he
resembl ed a ®@adhe tigardeing she faze. Zdcl mb
| eaned against the wal/l of the
showing no expression as he stared out the winmiothe
opposite wall.

ATrouble is,0 Arnie said, Ay o
ofalarka game, while I d&m here witdt
these charters are ready to go.

| sat across from Arnie. I sa
but we were involvedVe coul dnét make it. o

Arnieds cigar wiggled up and
say you are involved, all/l right
the unlit end at Zack and then
involved in the charter fishing

I saidw iittéknbad to cancel . B
someti mes cancel because of the

AThat 6s another thing. The we
weat her for offshore fishing. o
cigar.

I said, ABut t hed,e drodrk&st atrlee

Arni e waved the cigar. AOf <co
ainét no dummy, am | ?0 He plung
AThat aindt the point. Thereds

and only so many moimt destédi n t he
Gment 6 see? When that boat ainot
| looked at Zack. His face registered a glazed look.

| said, Al see what you mean,
ANo you donodét, o Arnie said. H
opposite side of his jaw. AHow
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i nvest ment? You two aindét got t
bet ween ya. o

| thought about the twbhundred thousand in my
freezer. I saidpodUppipdbut have.

Zackods eyes flicked toward me
quickly resumed his stare out the window.

Arnie pulled his spirabound notebook from the
pocket in his cargo pants. His stubby fingers flipped pages.

| went to the door and openedatlet the cigar smoke
out . |l turned back out of Arnie
Zack, indicating he should do something or say something.

ASee right here, o Arnie said,
covered of scribbles. Al ainodt
chartersyougys run. And that dondt c
yanked the cigar from his jaw, and picked a piece of it
from his teeth. AAnd that donodt
on account, Zack. 0 He gave Zack

| looked expectantly at Zack.

Zack di dn 6de, exceptte breathanides
remained silent as a stone, continuing his stare out the
window on the opposite wall.

AAw screw it,o Arnie said. He
closed, slapped it against his knee, and returned it to his
pants pocket .Butiydhddtterbyigpd natf her e.
forget the Christianson charter

Zack roused himself as though from sleep. He
sauntered out the door, barely limping. | followed him.

The two of us ambled to the dock and went to wikerel
Timewas moored.
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Zack ploppediown on the cooler. The dock dog, Tripper,
took Zackébés action as a signal
wagging in slowmotion.

AYou didndt say shit in there

AYup. O

AWell ?20

AYou dondt understand. o

AWhat donot I understand?o

AYou dondéd tumaterAsrtmine has to |
waved his hand. Alf you say eve
and he goes on and on. o0 He patt
scratched below his ears. Al tos

ABut 18d& hought

ANope. O

| sat down on the otheren of t he cool er. AV
you know. 0

Tripper dropped to the dock and rolled to on his side. |
scratched his belly.

ABeli eve me, Il know. You shut
and stops. 0

ARnOkay, but what about the mon

AHedl | get hiosdupraochtenedtofacEé ac k s
me. AYou stild]l got my share of

AMi nus what you paid Arnie. B
. 0

ALIi sten, Billy. The Feds are
crooks, and we can stop worryin
al | t hat money i f we canét wuse

about this? If we put in together, we could buy a decent boat
with that money. Not a brantew boat, but one better than this
Bertram. ®©Dhen wedd be
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il donddot t hi nk

AWedbd be independehittNag wit
Zack grinned. AEvery charter fe
sound?o

ASounds terrifi@&go | said. nAB

AWe got to do it. l 6m not goi
damned Arnie fortherestof mynatutalo r n | i f e! 0

ABut r itghhetr enbosw,a | ot going on.

the FBI will round up more suspects in the next few days.
He asked me everything | knew about the gang: the people
at the ranch, people connected to the Council,
Southwestern Independent Bank and Independent

Bankshae s | nternational. Thereds g
trials. o
Al expected hedd do that. o

Tripper rolled back. Once again on his paws, he
ambled toward a spot of shade.

AHe said | should expect to t
AHel | no, Billy. You got to g
AfHe ssdaym a witness. He says |

Zack looked at the sky and slowly shook his head.
Tripper sat in the shade. His jaw opened and his
tongue curled with a big yawn. His head settled to the
dock between his front paws.
ALor enzods p#at. Andwhoknowsifhe hos
Howl andger wil | survive. o
Zack | ooked at me with narrow
you werenébét such a damned hero.
I glanced to confirm he was |
said, AThatodés no worse than pl o
A Wh &ty o mean, plotting??o
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APl otting so you can get one
and park in the handicap space.
With that, Zack threatened me with bodily harm. We
chuckled for a minute, then went to The Reef for a couple of
beers. When the Christiansdmacter came up in the
conversation, | remembered that our supply of leaders, swivels
and weights was low.
When | got home, | dragged two boxes from behind the
couch and started sorting through my collection of fishing
supplies. The phone rang. Mark Eppmgtvanted to know
how | was doing.
il think I 6m okay, o | sai d. f
ATheyore talking about evacua
hospitad probably next week. | talked to him yesterday. He
sounded good. O

AHow about . : . 0

AHowl andger 6 s thasemyéhmeyvoon. Don
him. 0 He paused. ASay Billy, ho
come up our way say tomorro® s o met i me ? 0

ASorry. | O6ve got a charter to

AHow about the day after?0

AYeah, | guess | <couldl.t dset 0s
quite a drive.o

AHey, kick down, man. Catch a
I nternational . I think thereds

Lauderdal e. o

AYou sure thatés okay?0o

AWhen you gonna get the messa
a travel voucher. Whiskegan meet you and transport you
here. o

nOkay. |l 611 see what | can pu
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ATerrific.o

AYouol | have my flight number
AWhi skey knows al l. Hedl | be th
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CHAPTER 32

As soon as | was on the ground, Whiskey was on my phone
with directions on how to find him. Despite feeling that the FBI
was starting to invade my life at an alarming rate, | was glad
for the help.

Whi skey stood near the Kkiosk
When | got close, he shielded his mouth behind his hand and
saidiwhat a knockout! o His hand d
directed me toward a tall, daHaired flight attendant in the

l ine for a news sellerds cashie
uniform.

AFort Lauderdale never | ooked

ADondét saaythisgiad

AWhy?o

AMrs. Wi skews kminded sbouttbesey nar r o
things. o

Eppington met me in the hall entrance behind the
secretary. He offered coffee, and | sat down at his desk with a
steamy cupful.

ATheydére flying Lorenagrini n t o
ARJanice andt hédgddaumgdaleranxi ous
his hands clasped behind his head.

AfHeb6s goi M otadibeabalKayy, I ho

Eppington lowered his arms and leaned forward. As usual,
his jacket was on the back of his chair andchi$s were
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unbuttoned. ADoctors wonoé6t prom
be back on duty in a couple of months. We should keep
positive thought-pointpenthed pi cked wu
began doodling on a piece of paper. In a moment he fixed

hi s eyes houghtiimotmight to télllyou bver the

phone, Billy. 0o He brought the p
AHowl andger died day before yes
| felt at a |l oss. Al donét qu
AThat 6s the way it is-5 Billy.

toof ace. 0 dHemes, t uudiye ng t o percei V¢
know you woul dnét ever want to
hand, | appreciate the fact tha
you did. And, you may have save
well . o

APl ease, 0 | sadddnédbDowdshgoht
|l m no hero. o

Al understand. But 1611 al so
pointed the end of the pen at m
When the Corpus crew didndét sho
my plan went south. You rescued

AHO come the Corpus crew didn¢
truck?o

Eppington tossed the pen onto the top of the desk.

AYouol | not believe what actual
his desk drawer, withdrew a map, and unfolded it.
AThe Estrella truck,camei t h Joh

through Victoria. Because their route from New Mexico

passes through Victoria, this was expected. But because

Victoria is a populous town of over fiffhousand, we did

not want to try to set up an in
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Eppington glanced fromthemaprtoe . Al 6 m t el | i n
out of school here. This is confidential information. You
understand?o0

|l nodded. Al wunderstand. o

Eppington tapped the map. fiHe
Victoria to Oak Point meet and
flat land with prarie grass, mesquite and cactisnilio and his
Corpus crew set up at this ideal choke point. They would
intercept the truck regardless of which road, either Route 35 or
Route 77, the truck took from Victoria to Oak Point.

AUnf ortunat el yrongRuentaeViceran mad e
and got lost. By driving a long way round through the
Powderhorn oil field here, he eventually reached Oak Point. It
took him a | ot of time because

| said, fiSo thatdos why Emilio
sawt he truck?0o

AWe never expected them to ta
to Oak Point. o Eppington folded
drawer. Al take the blame for t

ASo what was in the truck?o0

Eppington drew back. His eyes flickered, closed to open.
ABily, 1 just doné6t know. There
want to repeat them. What | do
gone. 0

He paus ed.-towitrdck,\& coenméragaljob,
arrived yesterday. It was one of those big rigs with a derrick
and three row of wheels at the rear. The driver had paperwork
from the Incident Response Unit authorizing him to tow the
unit away. o0

AThatdos the | RU, the Feder al
custody?o
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AYeah. 0 He paused again. ASo
rear end of the tek up off the ground with the derrick and
hitches it onto the rear of the wrecéethe front wheels of
the truck staying on the ground
ASo the truckbaokiwar dose? & owed
AYeah, 0 Eppington said. #fABut
get: the driver claimsh@ o esn 6t know where he

supposed to take the Estrella t
Eppington shrugged.
I frowned. AThatds pretty mys
ADamned mysterious. Now you ¢c

commercial tow truck has radios inside. The driver can be
directed from a remote locatiohwas thinking this whole
thing was very irregular, so | queried my boss. He said he
did not know anything about it,
al | |l know right now. 0
AOn a better note, 0 Eppington
sixteen people, including NarsokValsh, and the Estrella
Foods manager, Enrigéid forget his surname. Two of
the sixteen are cooperating and providing additional leads.
AWedre searching for the 6&édven
shooters who ran you and Zack off the road and tried to
kill you, but no luck so far.
AThe s e aVemrica Brécoveradgons of
money. Il t hink -fiveanilondolargd over tw
all in small bills. 0
Wow, 0 | said. fAThatdés a fort
tried to escape with it.o
He shoul d havedaistnwdi euch dee rmsa pa
the barrier islands along the ¢
l i ps curved into a sly smile. @

=)}

3t
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remedial geograptiyh e 6s i n Col eman Two f o
ACol eman two?o0
AThat 6s the high seculrlig.yo f ed
AHas he been charged with mur
AYes, felony assault with int
Lorenzo. And for conspiracy, an

aware of . o
ABut how about the murder of
Eppington pursed his lips as thougthuggling to recall
somet hing. #fAl think theyodre wor
witnesses. 0 He narrowed his eye
State Attorney contacted you?0o0

ANo. O

AwWell, it may get complicated
pl ace at aissaeof mafitime jigdEtiort between
state and federal : : . 0

AOh, no,o0 | said, fiyou mean w
going to handle it?0

Eppington smiled. dAlt partly
was at the time of the attack.

mile | imitsd and all that. | 6 m
you on it.o
AANd ydluescsausle 1 d6m both witne:

participand | should expect to be called to testify at trials on

the Oak Point raid and shooting
AThat 6s r i g hltharitieBwilllbé cpntactiige x as a

you about that. Soon, Il woul d g
| 6d thought 1l ittle about how

them, intersected. | sighed.
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Eppington | ooked at me. AYeah
pull ed back from his desk. fAHow
hall . Therebds coffee there, and
sodas. 0

We walked to the counter with its coffeemaker, foam
cups, and a nearby vending machine.

| waved my hand indicating the gridded glass of the
buil ding. AYou get tired of all/l

Eppingtdm seemed surprised. ANot
notice. O

After wedbdd satisfied our thir
wonder if | could impose on your goodwill for some more
hel p. o

We left the area and took the elevator. At a small
office with a wall of cabinets, he mtduced me to a
woman with glasses and eornrowe
Descarre, our photo analyst. Sh
process. o0 Cynthia helped me vie
mugshots, with the prospect that | might be able to spot a

participant.

After wards, | said, AThey all |
them | ooked familiar. o

Cynthia smiled and said, i We
mu ¢ h Mr. Farris.o She then | ed
called O6Marl enebés shop,d the ro

computer. Marlene workedithi me for more than forty
minutes to produce a compuiggnerated drawing of
Khan. She returned me to Epping

AHere he is,0 she said, handi
Eppington, Ayour Mr. B. I . Khan
He grinned. fAHe even | ooks gu
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| saidfimiHe @3 ydea scary guy. o

l eft, | said, fiHowdés the search
Eppington placed the tips of the fingers of both hands
together i n front of him. AAl I
havendét | ocated him.hiswWwebve tagg
abandoned apartment, and | ocked
ot her evidence. Weodre working w
authorite®t hi s sketch wil|l certainly
AWell then, | guess | shoul d
ASure. o He punched his phone.
adbout ten minutes, o0 he said intc
just one more thing, Billy. 10v

Corpus Christi will be asked to decide on manslaughter charges
against you. | think yod 0

AMansl aughter? FoPoOshooting H

AYes. But dondét worry yoursel
understand the circumstanded

ACrap! o

Eppingtondés eyes opened wide.
to stand for an indictment against you. The county prosecutor
there is just trying to make iteasyfori ms el f . 0

AHow?O

AHe wants the jury to do thei
with their decision. That way,
deci sion. At |l east thatods what

AWhat 1 f they decide to indic

AWedl |l watch t he tplookiygbad, pr ogr
we o6l | go there and insist on te

acted in a responsible manédhat you perceived a clear and
present danger and acted appropriétetpurageousky to
meet it.
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y .

AThanks again, Bil/l
vi sit was wupsetting. o
Al 6l 1l survive, | bet

So ended my cheerless day at the FBI.

269

o



Dangerous Parallel

CHAPTER 33

Zack was counting the money while | finished scrublieg!
Tme& s deck.

| said, AYou paying Arnie?o0
Zack yanked hissunglsse s down so | 6d see
narrowed at me. fADo you really

Ohoh. Change the subject. fADic
i nsurance guy?o0

ANot really. o

Old Tripper padded up to Zack, tail sweeping its arthritic
arc. Zack | ookemceaetc dimpmnyi Tchee g

to pay I nternation. o
Al nternation. Thatodos the rent
ARYeah, the company | rented t
Al buquerque. o0 He rubbed the fur
I chuckl ed. AOQur first one wi

AOr that pupsheetnoefal wb left basele the
road. o
Tripper cocked his head to one side, like he was listening

to Zack. AThe guy call ed again
hol ding it up. For more detai
AWhat 6d you say?o
Al told hgimve kiom|l dmomdée t han wl
60Some crazy driver swerved in f
the road. End of story. 60
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Tripper lost interest and headed for his layttayvn spot
on the dock. | began spraying the deck with fresh water.

Zack watched Trippe. A The i nsurance guy
kindofcar you never said. o6 | told h
dodging it to know what it was. Next he wants to know what
we were doing there that time o
hope you &0l d him what we
sai d we wer etohufentklkgeagd o u't
ost. 0 He gave me a thin sm
k to Santa Fe. o0
He didndét buy that?o
Nah. o
Maybe he thoughdd you were dr
Nope. My Dbl ood test before t
cl ean. Zack gr irealined dbrilliaiitbboat ma gi n e
captain |Iike me never gets | ost

AYeah, |l dm sure, o0 | said. AAsS
has plenty of channel mar ker bu

We laughed.

Laughs had become our insulation, now that we were busy
fishing again. Once the stitchevere out of his thigh, Zack
moved with the same ease hedd a
weather had been kind, the customers generous, the alcohol
fueled jokes thick. But residue from our adventures in New
Mexico and Texas kept intruding.

Multiple arrests werenade and charges filed
following the Oak Point shooting. The wide scope of the
arrests suggested a large conspiracy, but the government
avoided addressing the issue. Instead, they filed specific
charges against the criminals for felonies like assault,
ressting arrest, illegal entry, etc. Most of the filings were

T Q
@ O
Sttt g+ N
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in Texas, although Carlos Silvan and the man called Enrique
were charged in Florid&ut, as seems to be the rule, the more
numerous and heinous the crimes, the lopgesecutorsake

to get to cart.

The government was also silent on the role of both
Southeastern Independent Bank of Fort Lauderdale and
Bankshares I nternational (1BI)
vendors. 0

One evening after a charter |
the kitchen ad the small TV was on.

ACome on in, 0 shedwaiitd..0 N3 MHan
pointed at the TV, as a news announcer spoke:
ASpecul ation surges follo

the filing of sealed charges
against Nathan Walsh and Jules
Narsom, executives with
Southeastern Indepeéant Bank
in Fort Lauderdale. Prosecutors
declined to speak to our reporter
as to whether these charges were
related to | ast weekds pr
hearing attended by officials of
the FBI . O
The video switched to show a fifigh man, weltanned,

wearing rimess sunglasses, with a beautiful blond woman

anxiously clinging to his arm. They hurried into a building.
AShown here are the Narso
they entered the courthouse for
the hearing. Neither Walsh nor
Narsom answered reporters
guestions. O
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Al's thaomdd h&ulNiaa ssai d.
The video switched to a whiteearded man in a dark
suit standing behind several microphones. The announcer
continued:
AHowever, Walshoé6s attorne
Abraham Tiscoff of the Tiscoff
and Brondt law firm said the
charges were ridiculous, they
would be vigorously fought, and
that the executives would be
cleared of all charges.
Meanwhile, both bank executives
remain free on onpointfive
million dollars bail .o
AYeah, o | said. AThat 6s Jul es
the dark glasses, he lookedreshad aboard the yacht. She
looked as beautiful as ever, but her smile could not
disguise the worry that must have burned inside.

Julia said, fiSheds beauti ful
to all the other arrests?0o
AThey probably arde, but | don

i nformation. O
Julia turned off the TV and returned to her cooking.
AYoubre going to hawve gthd ?tbest i f
Al dm afraid so.0 | realized n
going to have to testify probably more than onéethat |
killed Douglas Howlang e r . 0

Julia |l ooked at me as i f 106d
Al éd better sit down, o she said
pulling a chair from the table.

| nodded.
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She sat down. fAlodkkwmtew hceiddn dte
...why?And why you didndét tel/l me
Only once or twice had | recalled the wrenching moments

of gunfire. This confession to Julia forced me to answer the
Owhat i f®& question: What iif |106d
touched the shotgun? Every scendrio cr eat ed i n whi
kill Howlandger fell apa@ became totally untenable. |

concluded | was just fooling mysalfno matter what other

action | imagined, | 6d have reg
trigger that night.

I | ooked at iladhiinbecaase thatwaesi d, 0
the only action available. Other good men would probably have
died if | didndt. o

Several moments of silence followed, during which Julia
just stared at me. Then she ros

|l 6m so sorry dhlmra yoluac KB.utDdnt @ts
wongdl 6 m gl ad you told me. o

Thus began a long evening during which 1 did a lot of

explaining.

#it#
One of the days we didndét have
grocery.

il 6ve got something for you, O
led me to his truck. He reached inside and pulled out a
postcards i ze mai l i ng. AJust got thi
to me.

twasacolopri nted card directed t
Montroseo at his home address.

I read it out | outhFloridaland Al | M
Caribbean. The United States Coast Guard advises that all
boaters maintain awareness of the possibility of hijackings and
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acts of piracy in the following waters: South Florida, the
Florida Keys, the Dry Tortugas, and other waters of the
Castb bean Sea. 0

We | aughed. Zack said, fADid vy
advise what you were supposed to do about a hijagking
just be aware of the possibilit

Al t hough | wasnot sure the ma
motivation, Zack later moved his pistol to a nook uritier
controls on the flying bridge dteel Time

Some days later | got a phone call from Eppington.

After asking how | was, Eppin
have an unofficial request. I w
the Dockside Raw Bar in Key West at sevamiog h't . It 0s
notbusines! 6 d just | i ke to see you.

ADoes sound sort of wunusual , o
after | 6d fReaelTimeh eHe | seladna \nwsg s e e
from your conversatiods so businessriented,

professional : : . 0
AStrange, too,0 | said, Athat
West after normal working hours
Al hope 1tds not bad news. Li
Texas grand jury. o She smil ed.
|l i ke a reward for alll the help

i May b e .imnd refiged time bright or happy
options. Instead, | envisioned unfortunate twists and dark
surprises.
#i#
Eppington stood on the dock, gazing at the pink clouds across
the Gulf.
ASorry to interrupt your drea
ABoy, this surheeries. obeauti f ul
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His bright smile hid an uneasiness that matched my own.
Accompanied by more small talk, we took one of the tables
with umbrellas. Eppington ordered a scotch and water. | had a
draught beer. We talked casually on his plane trip to Key West

andthebarters Zack and 1 6d recent |
The reason for Eppingtonds 1in
Finally, | said, AWhatos this t
He smil ed. AFirst, I wanted t

the time, the bureaucracy does a lousy job of timgthose
who help us do our job. Thatpardi$ et 6 s &y i @6s ami ¢

ASecond, I have good news. Th
voted. They returned a ANo Bill

ADoes that mean no charges?0o

AExactl y. o

AWhéwhat 6s a | oad off my mind

He | augheghkdt YyYoudbtholbe pl eased.
Third, somenesogood news. 0

AObh. o

AWedve been unable to find Kh
Heds vanished. This might mean

AExpert opinion, based on inf
him, 1 s that thdheowsy, pprhapsdiaPakistan. | e f t
Do you think Khan might have figured out who youdatbat
you played a part in these even

I thought through the maze of
knows me through the Narsoms. Candy Narsom introduced me
to him, using my ame, aboard the Narsom yacht. | remember
Khan remarked about my injured

Eppington nodded.

nAfter the Howlandger shootin
Texas newscasts . : . 0
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Eppington broke in. AYeah, bu
fortunate. As far as | know,yournam hasndét appeare
news outside of Texas in connec

This didnét strike me as part

AAnd t he name 06 H-oneksdadelger 6 ha
from the news, 0 Eppington said.

| sensed the Feds were anxiou
namedi sappear from the news. The)
that a federal agent had betrayed his allegiance. But |
di dnét choose to remind Eppingt

ARi ght after the hijacking, O

i n | ocal news here in Florida.o
Eppingpoornodded. #AYeah. 1 tdos diffi

much attention Khan paid to tha
I said, Al guess it depends

0
remembers my name and matches i
Eppingtondés face was unsmilin
t he cubes irnl ohsi sSigllvaasns,. wihGabds i 1
awaiting trial, knows you from the hijacking. We can hope
others charged in this case are not tracking names in the
news.

AROnce you are called to test.i
|l awyers will seek youringtdentity
sun. ATo be on the safe side, I

you give at upcoming trials should be presented
anonymousl y. o

The waitress approached and g
might like to try an appetizer of smoked fish sauce with
crackers . : . 0

ATharEkpp,hhgton said,dofebut | 6l I
oysters on the half shell, the crab melt, and . . . the clam
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chowder. Oh, and another one of
AHow about you, Billy?0o

| ordered the basket of shrimp in beer batter, a green salad,
and another draught.

Eppington looked out over the bhgeeen water and

grinned. Altés so beautiful .o H
more item of Dbusiness, and then
making some progress in tracing the two men who shot at you

folowi ng the car <c¢crash. But | car

And, oh yes, th&eronica Bhas been confiscatédt will be
sold off at government aucti on.
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CHAPTER 34

About two months after the shooting at Oak Point, | received

an email:

AFr om OthefSpecial o f
Agent in Charge, To Billy Farris:
As Agentin-Charge of the office
responsible for addressing
extraterritorial enforcement in
Mexico, the Caribbean, and
Central and South America, it is
my pleasure to invite you to a
small ceremony to take pa at
2:30 p.m. Tuesday, two weeks
from this date. Please plan to
arrive at 2 p.m. at Agent Mark
Eppingtonds Miramar offic

I phoned Zack. Al just got a

6 Of f i

ce of the &Special Agent in

AYeah, me t oo. S o memohyiang abou
Mi ramar . & What do you think?o0

Alt

doesndét sound threatening

AYeah. o0 he said, in a |evel t
threatening. 0O
AThey probably want to thank
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AThat 6s possible. 0 He paused.
el se. 0

i Y omead O

Zack quickly talked over me.
thinking. You going to be at vyo

AYeah, o | said. Al 6l | put the

After Zack and | talked, | agreed to phone Eppington on
his secure line.

Altoéds | eoi ts,ad dE p painndgtcohuc k| ed.
wants to honor you and Zack for your contributions to our
success.

AfMaybe you havenot heard, but
i ssued a complaint to Havana. I
strongly condemnfilure tovedigatean r eg
and detain Carlos Silvan in connection with his activities
supporting this conspiracy. 6 We
mont h. o

AYou think 161 be called as

AThatdés in the hands of the U
meantime,ase be sure to attend our
your honor. o

#it#
Eppington greeted us with the familiar smile and the loosened
tie, although he wore a sports
Key West.

NnBefore the ceremony, |l 6ve go
s prising. |l tds really wunoffici
it. We now know why you were hijacked and why Carlos
Silvan killed Vincent Pragg on

Zack said, ATo cause uUus SiXx m

280



Dangerous Parallel

Eppington | aughed. AYdah, tha

you remember when | told you th
of evidence at Khandés apartment
| nodded.
ARWe get the i mpression Khan I

di dndét have time to be sure he
There was plenty of worthless reatl, but some of it has
been useful.

Aln particular, there was a n
warns Khan that his dédscheme to
western hemisphered will come t

0 h @mifioninhundredd ol | ar biihdaed by a <c
As it turned out, that was two days before he was killed.

Aln other words, Vincent bl ac
addition to the demand for cash, the note says certain

things that make clear Vincent had learned details of the

conspiracy and was threategito inform U.S. authorities

if Khan did not pay him off.

ABanking records found in the
Khan did pay Vincent cash, but only half of what he
demanded. What Vincent didnot Kk
planning revenge.

Al n an e ma ied, Kharepdomised Wircendb d

that the second half, a quartaillion dollars, would be

forthcoming if Vincent cooperated with Carlos Silvan in

Carl osb6s need to escape by boat
anticipating receiving the full hatillion dollars,

apparentlyagreed. In his reply email to Khan, Vincent

gives specific details where the second cash payment is to

be depositedl in a certain baggage storage locker at

Miami International Airport.
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ARSo Vincent expected to recei
he and Carls, disguised as his wife, hijackgel Timend
rendezvoused with the trawler at the twefayrth parallel.

A B @ &s an intercepted message pravé&han in the
meantime ordered Carlos to kill Vincent as soon as his escape
from the U.S. was assured. Foliog the recovery of

Vincent s body at Seguro Key, w
Vincent had specified for the deposit, using a key found in
Vincentds bl ue bag. I't was empt
delivered the second quartmillion.

AAl |l we kersahat Sheafft Flasnigan found
fifty -thousand dollars, all in hundrelo | | ar bi | | s, i n

blue bag. We think that money is part of the fwondredfifty
Khan paid Vincent. But so far, no evidence for the-two
hundred thousand has surfaced.
AOdourse itds possible Vincent
away, Vincent had a partner, or Carlos stole it . . . We just
dondt know. 0O
ANot to go negative or anyt hi
Eppington with a sober [ ook, fb
plannedtokillBi | ' y and me foll owing th
Eppington squinted at Zack, b
|l said, fAVincent was a | andl u
operate a boat or navigate. He would most likely have waited
to kill us unti |l Seguro Key was
Eppingtons mi | ed and | eaned dback. p
talking so easy about being kil
his office. Al think wedd bette
We were ushered into a room full of people, some of
whom | didnoét k nesandingl&gppihgtonf t he
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stepped forward. He introduced Leonard Hiarta, Special
Agent in Charge, then a heavy gilagired man.
APl ease wel come Richard DeSca
Director from Washington. o Ever
DeScallo stationed himself in fnbof Zack and me.
Al 6m here today to thank you,
the United States, as well as the Bureau. Your assistance
was essential to the apprehension of criminals responsible
for the theft, transport and intended transfer of a quantity
of weaponsgrade uranium to a foreign power. Your action
assured that the transfer did not occur. This action may
have saved many lives that might otherwise have been lost
to the explosion of one or more atomic bombs.
AWe regret that thoeMr.pl aques I
Billy Farris and Mr. Zack Montrose do not indicate the
true nature of these awards. They do not so specify
because to do so might endanger you two gentlemen. All

the plague saysl 6 | | | diiss d&lemdr @edogni ti o
your courage and patriotism iargice to the United States
of America, our appreciation an
ARThe plaques are signed by th
by me. 0 DeScall o handed me the
then the other one to Zack. Everyone applauded.
Eppington s aiedAgentiiddemaewill | bel i e

make a few remarks. o Lots of ap
Lorenzo, looking thinner than before the Oak Point

shooting, stepped in front of Zack and me. He pushed the

steer i mmed gl asses higher on his

noted t hlagaquBe |Idiydrsotp say anyt hi

being a hero. But when you think about it . . .
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AFor one thing, Mar |l ene put h
Montan&® the shotgunnér routine on the computer. More
More than once. And he survived

Chuckles rose from the group. Marleneidzs looked like
Lorenzo had just mentioned the color of her underwear.

AWhi skey subjected Billy to t
Expressways, not to mention Miami International and that
other burg, Fort Somethingy-Ot her . 0

Wiskewski took a slow and solemn boweh waved at
me. Everybody laughed. He stepped forward and said, in mock
sol emnity, ABut more than the f
through M. B0 Wei pabttsedhdpr eff
without a skirt.o

Loud laughter followed. When it subsided, M. L. White i
his | ab coat, sai d, A fskinnegla | | y |
belly dancer . . . A

When the laughter and applause diminished, Lorenzo said,
ABut | . . . Il 6m responsi bl e fo
got hold of him, he was just a nice fellolws forehead smooth
as a cue ball, his hair a shade
joined by others. But in less than thirty short minutes in my
favorite Chevy from the car pool, just a mile or so down
Northwest FiftyFourth Street at sevenfive miles anhour
without benefit of siren or fl a

AWhat really turned his whisk
onto the FowFourOne without benefitofalett ur n  si gnal
The group laughed loudly.

AThis Farri s, hte § susnotbrjawset, ah
mature 0

As the group laughed and clapped, Lorenzo looked at me,
grinning. ABiI | |y, I want to tel
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